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Brand repositioning
The organisation has adopted a five-phased
approach to implement the new brand
architecture.
•	Phase 1: Brand health research was successfully completed,
paving the way for strategic conceptualisation of the future of the
brand.
•	Phase 2: Following the brand health study, the SA Post Office completed the brand
architecture designs.
• Phase 3: The development and design of a new branch look and feel has been finalised.
•	Phase 4: An internal brand engagement with the staff to encourage “buy in” and “taking ownership” of
the brand will be launched.
•	Phase 5: Will see the launch of the marketing and communication strategy to bring the brand to life.
The SA Post Office will use its greatest strength – its reach – to develop and maintain a strong brand both internally and externally. In the
long term, staff, customers, businesses and Government will understand what the organisation has to offer.

Industry recognition
The South African stamp mosaic of the Pretoria skyline and the Union Buildings was recognised internationally through the Guinness Book of
Records as the largest stamp mosaic in the world.
The South African Heritage Resources Agency (SAHRA) recognised the SA Post Office’s maintenance of the Post Office Museum by declaring all
items in the museum as part of the national heritage.
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Post-democratic historical overview

1996/97/98

1994/95

1995/96

This is the year of the first democratic elections

The first retail postal agency (RPA) is opened

The post office administrations of the

in South Africa and the SA Post Office issued a

in Bloemfontein in August 1995. Retail postal

former “independent homelands” (Transkei,

set of stamps with peace as a theme.

agencies are businesses that offer a postal

South Africa is readmitted to the Universal
Postal Union due to the end of apartheid. In

justify a fully fledged post office branch.

incorporated into the SA Post Office.
To celebrate the 90th birthday of former
President Nelson Mandela the SA Post Office

March 1994, “Track and Trace” is introduced.

In 1995 the Witwatersrand mail sorting

Each mail article and parcel gets a unique

activities are moved into the Witspos

bar-coded label which is scanned at each

mail centre in Ormonde, Johannesburg.

point where the article is handled. Customers

The largest mail centre in the southern

can now trace where their mail items are in the

hemisphere makes possible the elimination

postal chain.The first Postpoint, a post office

of many processes since mail processing is

2002/03

within a host business, is opened in

now done on one level.

A world

the Moreleta Park Pharmacy
1 August 1994.

by issues two miniature stamp sheets.
These items turned into immediate
collectors items

first for the SA

in Pretoria on

Post Office as South
African President Thabo Mbeki

2004/05

2003/04

The SA Post

The SA Post

Office posts the

Office launches

first operating profit in its

its “Paymaster to the

law. This was the first Act in the world

history. This was achieved without

Nation” project where recipients

to be signed into law by an electronic

any negative effect on its universal

of social grants can open a Postbank

signature. The signing was enabled using

service obligations. During this year, the SA

account. The social grant is now paid into

the SA Post Office authentication service.

Post Office also won a national award for its

the Postbank account, eliminating the need

The Act defines the SA Post Office as the

“Paymaster to the Nation” project.

to queue on payout days.

It also won the World Mail Award in

This gives grant recipients the freedom to

the security category for its campaign

withdraw their grants when it suits them at

to promote ethical conduct among

any post office branch or ATM.

its employees.

2005/06
Postbank, the SA Post Office’s banking

2006/07
Postbank improves its lead with Mzansi

division, takes the lead with Mzansi accounts.

accounts to 40% of the total market. The SA

Postbank currently has more Mzansi account

Post Office issues a miniature sheet of stamps

holders than any other bank, including the Big

to commemorate the handover of the Soccer

Four. This is attributed to Postbank’s unrivalled

World Cup from Germany to South Africa

coverage – every post office branch is a

where the next Soccer World Cup will be

Postbank and there are more than
1 400 post office branches all over South
Africa. Mzansi accounts are designed specially
for the unbanked.
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Bophuthatswana, Venda and Ciskei) are

service when postal activities are too low to

hosted in 2010.
The annual Congress of Commonwealth Postal
Administrators is held in South Africa for the
first time in history.

electronically signs the Electronic
Communication and Transaction Act into

“preferred authentication service provider”
of identification procedures necessary for the
issuing of advanced electronic signatures.
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2007/08
Phutuma Nathi, MultiChoice’s share offer, is
done using the SA Post Office as an outlet for
application. This share offer was so popular
that it was three times oversubscribed and
more than 125 000 citizens participated in
the scheme. By offering outlets in practically
every village, town and city, the SA Post
Office allowed rural South Africans to
participate in this scheme on an equal
footing with urbanites.
CTF (Certifying Top Performers) in
conjunction with Accenture names the
SA Post Office as one of the top 25 best
employers in South Africa.
SA Post Office launches Hybrid Mail
which offers secure printing of
postal items at various
sites in the
2011/12

country.

PX, one of
the subsidiaries
of the SA Post Office’s
Courier Freight Group,
successfully delivered more than
41 million items countrywide for Census
2012 – all of them on time. PX also handled
the reverse logistics.

2008/09
To celebrate the 90th birthday of former
President Nelson Mandela the SA Post Office
issued two miniature stamp sheets. These
items turned into immediate collectors’ items.
Sasol and Vodacom chose the SA Post
Office as a vehicle for their Broad-based
Black Economic Empowerment (BBBEE)
transactions.
SA Post Office launches a mobile application
for customers to track parcels or postal codes
on its mobile platform.
The Group also activates Trust Centre
Lockdown. SA Post Office Trust Centre
joins the Microsoft Root CA family. SA
Post Office TC registers on MS
Windows Browser for its
digital certificates.
2010/11
During
2010, Postbank
celebrates its
centenary as a savings
bank and quite appropriately,
legislation is promulgated that will
enable the organisation to change from a
deposit-taking institution to a fully fledged
bank. The SA Post Office consolidates its
mandate as a service delivery channel for
Government: A good example is the facility
to renew motor vehicle licences at post
offices. More than two million South Africans
used this facility during the year.

2009/10
Building on its strategic theme of becoming
Government’s preferred partner for the
delivery of services, the SA Post Office
introduced its facility for the renewal of motor
vehicle licences in the Gauteng province.
This service was so successful that it was
expanded to more post offices within seven
months of the launch. 2009 also saw the SA
Post Office deploy a strategy to reduce the
impact of its business activities on
the environment.
The company planted more than 1 000 trees
at schools in the year ended 31 March 2010
to offset carbon emissions and introduced
various energy-saving measures. Postbank
became a partner in the Climate Change
Leadership Awards. The awards recognise
individuals, communities and businesses that
are taking a leading role in the fight against
climate change.
The SA Post Office successfully handles the
applications for SA Breweries’ Zenzele share
scheme during this financial year.
SA Post Office launches the Virtual Post
Office website for customers to
renew post boxes online

During this financial year, the SA Post Office
is again chosen as an application channel
for a share scheme, this time by MTN for its
Zakhele scheme.
SA Post Office launches mobile applications
for consumers to track parcels or just look up
postal codes on its mobile platform.

and buy products
and services
online.

For more information please visit:
www.postoffice.co.za

During 2011/2012, the SA Post Office
continued to process and deliver more
than five million items each work day.
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National footprint

Mail centres
Postal agencies
Post offices

WITWATERSRAND REGION

Polokwane

NORTHERN REGION

Pretoria
Johannesburg
Mmabatho

Kimberley

Bloemfontein

CENTRAL REGION

KWAZULU-NATAL
REGION
Pietermaritzburg

LESOTHO
(Maseru)

Bisho
(King William’s Town)

EASTERN CAPE
REGION

WESTERN CAPE
REGION
Cape Town

NORTHERN REGION
3

304

389

KWAZULU-NATAL REGION
5

85

252

WITWATERSRAND REGION
4

9

274

WESTERN CAPE REGION
4

128

196

CENTRAL REGION
6

200

264

EASTERN CAPE REGION
3

145

201

For more information please visit:
www.postoffice.co.za
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Operational structure

Mail
The focus areas in Mail

Logistics

Postbank

Digital Business

Logistics is consolidating

Postbank is expected

Computer-based

Business will be new

its services to provide

to become a separate

communication is growing

addresses and better

one seamless service with

company within the SA Post

and for the SA Post Office

postal code systems,
increased automation and
more effective mailroom
operations.

increased international

Office group in the next

presence. The transport

three years. All the financial

services will be integrated

functions and payment

to form a separate
support unit.

products will be aligned
under this division to provide
more financial services to all
South Africans.

to grow, investment in a new
division focused on providing
communication products
is vital.
Postal products form part
of this offering.

Transport Services
Corporate Services
Business Support
Properties
Retail
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SA Post Office mandate and licence
Licence Agreement

Density of access points

Frequency
of collection
and delivery

Financial

Development

break-even and viability

of universal service

Quality

Customer

of service

care – min.

for mail letter

% on agreed terms†

items (95%) D2, D3 and
D4 brand*

Obligation to inform
Regulator on performance at
regular intervals

Delivery
point roll

Delivering commitment

out target – 4.9
million addresses over
three years

The Licence Agreement sets rules
for a user-orientated, high-quality,
country-wide Universal Postal
Service at affordable cost. To this
end, it establishes rules for access
to Universal Postal Services and on
quality of service.

The SA Post Office co-operates with the
Government to exchange necessary expertise
and commercial and technical information required
in respect of any councils of the Universal Postal
Union, Pan African Postal Union or the South
African Development Community, on which it or
South Africa is represented or to which it wishes to
make representations.
The SA Post Office is required to provide mail
services to and from other postal administrations in
accordance with the rules and regulations agreed
upon by the Universal Postal Union regarding the
operation of international postal services.

* Schedule 3
Performance standards for 2012 – 2014
Category
Across town – metropolitan, cities and towns
Across town – remote outlying towns – alternate delivery days (long spokes)
Between mail centres – metropolitan, cities and towns
Between mail centres – remote outlying towns – alternate delivery days (long
spokes)

2012/2013 2013/2014
D+2
D+3
D+3/D+4

D+2
D+3
D+3/D+4

D+5

D+5

Percentage standards per annum
2012/2013
2013/2014

95%
95%

†
“Minimum percentage” means the minimum percentage in respect of service performance standards.
D = Day
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Licence performance targets are agreed with the
Department of Communications (DoC) as the
shareholder and the Independent Communications
Authority of South Africa (Icasa). Compliance to
these targets is the highest priority of the SA Post
Office and is part of the key performance indicators
of the organisation.

Services at postal outlets
In terms of its licence, the SA Post Office has to
provide a number of services at all postal outlets,
including those of its agents. All facilities should
be able to receive and dispatch basic letters; sell
postage stamps; accept and deliver cash-ondelivery (Cod) items, insured parcels, ordinary
parcels, registered letters and sign-on delivery
items; and issue and payment of money orders.

Compliance with international
commitments of the Republic
The SA Post Office must comply with all
international commitments to which the
Government of South Africa has bound itself to
or may bind itself to in the future, regarding postal
services. It must also exercise its rights and powers
and perform its duties and obligations under the
licence, in a manner that is consistent with any
other international commitment to which South
Africa is a party or becomes party to.

7

Code of practice

(For the South African postal industry)

The code of practice operates in terms of the standards and guidelines
prescribed by The Independent Communications Authority of South
Africa.

Integrity and safety of mail
The SA Post Office shall undertake to:

•	Adopt preventative security measures to avoid loss of parcels and
mail items;
•	Be accountable and compensate clients for lost or damaged goods,

Objectives of the code
•	To provide guidelines that will ensure acceptable standards of
conduct by the SA Post Office and set uniform standards of service
for consumers;
•	To uphold professionalism, responsiveness, honesty, trust,
respect, excellence, quality, commitment to client satisfaction and
compliance; and
•	To promote harmonious interaction and relationships between the
SA Post Office and its clients.

where applicable;
•	Make clients aware of the various products offered that may be

Key commitments

Harmful business practice

The SA Post Office shall:
•	Treat customers with respect and dignity;
•	Display utmost courtesy and care when dealing with the aged and
disabled persons;
•	Endeavour to communicate with customers in the language of their
choice as far as it is practicable and possible;
•	Display at outlets in the public area, information pertaining to
customer complaints resolution procedures;
•	Ensure that all complaints received are recorded appropriately and
resolved in a courteous, efficient and fair manner;
•	Be responsible to its customers for a healthy, safe and secure
environment when conducting their business; and
•	Timeously communicate queueing times and other relevant
information to customers.

The SA Post Office shall not engage in the following practices:

beneficial to them, such as the registering of mail and adequate
insurance cover for valuable goods;
•	Advise clients that mail, particularly of a fragile nature, is adequately
packaged to protect the integrity of the goods; and
•	Take the necessary precautions to ensure the integrity of electronic
and postal mail.

•	Dishonesty in its dealings with its clients;
•	Unfair pricing;
•	Misrepresentation of facts in its dealings with clients; and
•	Intentionally damaging the image of other operators, the industry or
clients.

All employees of the SA Post Office are
subject to a code of practice that governs
all aspects of behaviour at work.
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Strategic intent

Shareholder expectation
The SA Post Office is committed to enabling the nation to connect effectively with the world by distributing information, goods, financial and Government services
and leveraging its broad reach and operations in a cost-effective manner, within acceptable benchmark standards. The commitment is consistent with the SA Post
Office’s shareholder expectation as set out between the SA Post Office and the Government of the Republic of South Africa.
The SA Post Office continues to give meaning to its strategic intent through the implementation of the initiatives as per the approved strategic business plan.

Strategy
Profit

Planet

People

(Economic sustainability)

(Environmental sustainability)

(Social sustainability)

Achieving top-line growth and

Focus on environmental sustainability

Provide a stable, well trained and satisfied

process efficiency

programmes while investing back into the

employee force as well as satisfied customers

• Strengthen the balance sheet

community

through a sound Corporate Governance

•	Capital investment in priority areas

•	Measurement and improvement of CO2

structure

• Postbank corporatisation
• Process efficiency

emissions

•

Improve intellectual capital

•	Paper usage and recycling

•	Abide by labour practices

•	Power (electricity)

•	Ensure decent workplaces

•	Investment in communities

•	Improve employee health

•	Corporate Social Investment (CSI)

•	Product/Service responsibility

•	Volunteerism for CSI projects by staff

•	Service quality measurement
•	Customer satisfaction index
•	Collaboration with other postal operators
including Africa support
•	Universal Postal Union (UPU)
•

Ethics

•	Governance
•
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Transformation
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Group key performance indicators
The SA Post Office continues to give meaning to its strategic intent through the implementation of the initiatives as per the approved strategic
business plan

Measurement of economic sustainability
Long-term
strategic
objective

Annual
objective

Improvement
priority

Achieve growth Improve income Group revenue growth
(financial
statement
Post Office
sustainability)
Logistics

Target
2011/12

Achievement
2011/12

Achieved/
Not achieved

5%

1.8%

Not achieved

4%

2.3%

Not achieved

7%

4.0%

Not achieved

CFG (including SSC)

7%

4.5%

Not achieved

Docex

7%

(4.0%)

Not achieved

Group operating profit

R228m

R253m

Achieved

Remarks
Decline in mail and logistics volumes,
Agency Services – loss of the grant
payout business and the lower interest
rates.

Cost containment and optimisation
measures

Post Office

R80m

R137m

Achieved

Logistics

R149m

R116m

Not achieved

CFG (including SSC)

R141m

R117m

Not achieved

Docex

R8m

-R0.9m

Not achieved

Increase cost
efficiency
management

Group staff cost % of
total cost

51%

49.8%

Achieved

Group total cost % of
total income

96%

95.7%

Achieved

Strengthen the
balance sheet

Postbank non-interest
revenue growth

R197m

R292m

Achieved

Increase in transaction and statement
fees.

Grow Postbank
depositors’ book

R394m

R273m

Not achieved

Low interest rates and reduction in
savings due to the high cost of living.

ROA

1.5%

1.5%

Achieved

ROE

6.1%

5.9%

Not achieved

Increase in equity

Total assets

R10.323b

R10.375b

Achieved

Growth mainly attributed to increase in
short-term investments.

Current ratio

1

1.3

Achieved

Growth in short-term investments.

Debtors days
Mail
Courier

17
55

17
40

Achieved
Achieved

Total Capex

R411m

R120.8m

Not achieved

Capital
investment in
priority areas

Cost containment and vacancies
not filled.

Effective debt collection management.

Delays in capital spending.
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Group key performance indicators continued
Measurement of economic sustainability (continued)
Long-term
strategic
objective
Achieving
process
efficiency

Achieved/
Not achieved

Annual
objective

Improvement
priority

Target
2011/12

Achievement
2011/12

Business
restructuring

Positioning of SA
Postbank Ltd

Licence
requirements

Achieved
Banking licence
application is in progress
and is expected to be
submitted during 2012.

Transition
programmes

The designation of
Postbank as a clearing
participant was gazetted
on 27 May 2011.
SA Post Office’s (on
behalf of Postbank)
Visa application has
been approved by Visa
International.

Stakeholder
management

Two stakeholder
engagement forums
in place – the forum
with DoC, which meets
fortnightly and the forum
that includes DoC and
National Treasury, which
meets once a month.

Remarks
The strategic advisor for Postbank
corporatisation was appointed in
December 2011 and work on the
corporatisation started in earnest in midJanuary 2012.
Governance structures have been
established in the form of the project
and steering committees. Two phases
are concurrently underway, the due
diligence phase and application to form
a bank phase. The major milestone that
is being focused on is the submission
of the banking licence applicaiton for
authorisation.

The Ministerial oversight
committee has been
formed.
Review and
implementation of
Shared Services

Review
current
processes
and SAP
optimisation

Two position papers
delivered – process
optimisation (SAP
phase 2) and
Labour brokers (time
management analysis).

Achieved

Position papers to be tabled for approval
in 2012/13. This was communicated to
the Board during the induction session.

Transport

Complete
formulation of
new transport
model

Model formulated and
consolidation was
commenced with the
national linehaul.

Not achieved

The tender process had to be restarted
due to non-competitive bid received.

Improvement
priority

Target
2011/12

Achievement
2011/12

Achieved/
Not achieved

Workplace accidents
and IODs

5% reduction
on previous
year’s actual

13.5% increase

Not achieved

Motor vehicle accidents, employees
falling and moving of heavy objects were
the main contributors.

Training expenditure
as % of group staff
budget

1.15% (R34m) 1.25% (R36m)

Achieved

R12m funded by Services SETA.

Talent management

Succession
planning
to level 4
managers

Not achieved

Planned implementation from August
2012. The current focus is on upskilling
GMs and Senior Managers on mentoring
– the mentoring must be completed
before the succession management/
talent forums are established.

Non-financial performance
Measurement of social sustainability
Long-term
strategic
objective

Annual
objective

Provide a
Decent
stable, well
workplaces
trained and
satisfied
employee force
Improve
intellectual
capital

10

Not implemented.
Completed for Exco
members as well as all
the GMs.

Remarks
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Non-financial performance (continued)
Measurement of social sustainability (continued)
Long-term
strategic
objective

Annual
objective

Labour
practices

Health

Satisfied
customers

Licence and
mandate
obligations

Improvement
priority

Target
2011/12

Achievement
2011/12

Achieved/
Not achieved

Performance
management

100% TCTC
evaluations

73.05%

Not achieved

Non-achievement mainly due to the fact
that performance ratings were not used
to determine the increases awarded to
employees in the past.
Going forward, a process has been put
in place to ensure that all performance
contracts and ratings are received and
these will be used to determine the
increases awarded to employees outside
of the Bargaining Unit. Furthermore, the
performance rating system of the SA
Post Office is currently under review to
ensure that a credible and transparent
process is followed to ensure fair
discrimination between performing and
non-performing employees.

Management of HR
liabilities
Leave liability

10% reduction 24.5% increase
on previous
years’ actuals

Not achieved

Efforts have been made to manage leave
liability by revising the current leave policy,
ensuring compliance with legislation.

Housing liability

10% reduction 72% reduction
on previous
years’ actuals

Achieved

Number of guarantees decreased from
425 to 124.

Post-retirement
medical aid cost

20% reduction 0.6% increase
on previous
years’ actuals

Not achieved

Increase in cost of member contributions
to MediPos.

Employee relations

Number of
CCMA cases

66 cases heard at
CCMA. 49 ruled in
favour of SA Post Office

Not achieved

This target was not clearly defined, hence
reported as not achieved.

Wellness programme

60%

67%

Achieved

HIV/Aids

75%

74%

Not achieved

SA Post Office makes every attempt to
request employees to undergo testing
via communication and awareness
campaigns.

Access to ICT services Achieve
targets that
will emanate
from the BU
plans to be
finalised first
quarter 2011

Final ECT Act audit
completed.

Achieved

The Trust Centre
is expected to be
accredited by the South
African Accreditation
Authority in May or
June 2012

Not achieved

Once the required software upgrades
were completed, the final ECT Act
Audit commenced in September 2011
and completed in December 2011.
Application for Accreditation was
submitted on 12 January 2012.

Address expansion

1,195,690

1,199,273

Achieved

Additional points of
presence

50

52

Achieved

92%
98%

94.40%
94.60%

Achieved
Not achieved

Delivery standard
Mail
Logistics

Remarks

Delay in cargo flights;
Non-availability of trucks.
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Group key performance indicators continued
Non-financial performance (continued)
Measurement of social sustainability (continued)
Long-term
strategic
objective

Annual
objective

Customercentricity

Governance
and
compliance

12

Ethics

Improvement
priority

Target
2011/12

Achievement
2011/12

Achieved/
Not achieved

Queue waiting time

Seven
minutes

97% of offices complied

Not achieved

97% of retail branches’ queue waiting
time are within the target of seven
minutes. The remaining 3% of the
branches exceeds the seven minute
waiting time due to the following primary
reasons:
1. System downtime
2. Re-issue of Postbank cards (high
volumes at the same time)
3. Grant payments

Develop intelligence

Define data
strategy
during first six
months

Deferred until such time
that the IT infrastructure
refresh programme is
completed

Not achieved

Due to capacity and other priority items
this was deferred until such time that the
IT infrastructure refresh programme is
completed.

Conduct
product and
customer
profitability
study by
March 2012

Product auditing and
marketing metrics
project are in progress

Not achieved

Product costing model is not finalised,
therefore affecting analysis of product
profit performance. The project is
awaiting the product costing model to be
finalised and also the marketing analyst
resource to be approved.

Ethics procedures

Quarterly
meetings
Baseline
reporting

Ethics committee
finalised. Quarterly
meetings and baseline
reporting not done

Achieved

The Ethics Committee, as originally
mandated, has been abolished as this
is to become a Board Committee. The
Social and Ethics Committee has been
established in terms of King III.
A Governance Committee, an EXCO
sub committee, has been established
to specifically address matters
pertaining to financial misconduct,
wasteful expenditure as well as irregular
expenditure. The Committee is fully
functional since March 2012.

Anonymous crime
reporting

10% increase
on previous
years’ actuals

3.5% increase

Not achieved

The performance of the Crime Buster
Hotline stagnated in the fourth quarter,
wherein only 20 reports were made.
However, the year on year comparison
shows a slight increase in the number
of reported cases. A total of 179 were
reported compared to 173 in the same
period of the previous year.

Crime and fraud

10% reduction 2.1% reduction
on previous
years’ actuals

Not achieved

Emerging threats in cyber crime will be
planned for.

Remarks
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Non-financial performance (continued)
Measurement of social sustainability (continued)
Long-term
strategic
objective

Target
2011/12

Improvement
priority

Governance

Contract management 100% visibility All available contracts
on SAP
captured on SAP

Achieved

Licence agreement

Achieved

Fulfilment of
requirements

Achievement
2011/12

Achieved/
Not achieved

Annual
objective

Annual agreed targets
are for:
• Retail outlet roll outs
• Address expansion
and
• service delivery
performance

Remarks
A review of all procurement contracts has
been undertaken.
All valid contracts have been loaded on
the SAP, however a substantial number
of procurement processes still need to be
captured on SAP.

A revision of set targets
has been requested
from the Regulator but,
in spite of this, SA Post
Office is endeavouring to
achieve

Audit issues

Transformation

70%
completion

General provisions of
the Universal Service
Obligation as per the
Licence are being met
71% completed

Achieved

Employment equity
Gender
Black female
Race
Disability

42%
29%
79%
4%

45%
35%
83%
0.44%

Achieved
Achieved
Achieved
Not achieved

BBBEE

60%

61.3%

Achieved

Number of issues reported/
tracked 94.
Number of issues resolved 67.

The target was not met because
no additional disabled people were
employed by the organisation.

Measurement of environmental sustainability
Long-term
strategic
objective

Annual
objective

Improvement
priority

Target
2011/12

Achievement
2011/12

Achieved/
Not achieved

Corporate
environmental

Environmental
sustainability

Reduce carbon
footprint

Reduce by
2.5%

2.2%

Not achieved

7.41%

Achieved

Reduce fossil fuel
consumption

Implement a
carbon offset
programme,
and offset
5% of total
emissions
Reduce total
fuel by 2.5%
Improve
overall fuel
efficiency of
fleet by 2.5%
Reduce by
3%

3.17%

Achieved

4.1%

Achieved

4.7%

Achieved

Reduce electricity
consumption

Remarks
The emissions calculated are based on
the carbon trust model which splits the
vehicles into 90% petrol and 10% diesel.
However, the number of diesel vehicles
have increased. In future SA Post Office
will use the new model that has been
designed by the CSIR.
857 trees were planted. One tree offsets
2.57 tons of CO2.

Pilot project still at Tshwane mail centre.
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Group key performance indicators continued
Measurement of environmental sustainability (continued)
Long-term
strategic
objective

Annual
objective

Improvement
priority

Target
2011/12

Reduce water
consumption

Implement an Not done
effective water
recycling
programme
Reduce our
total water
consumption
by 3%

Improve sustainability
through recycling

Partake in the
debate surrounding
sustainable
development
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Achievement
2011/12

Baseline not yet set

42% increase in usage
Reduce the
total amount
of paper used
by 5%

Achieved/
Not achieved

Remarks

Not achieved

The water patterns are being profiled
and a process put into place to ensure
credibility of data received from mail
centres.

Not achieved

Initiatives are in place in the regions to
track and log consumption to establish
the baseline.

Not achieved

547.52 tons of paper was used
compared to the previous year’s usage
of 385.47 tons. The reason for the high
usage is being investigated.
Appropriate controls will be put into place
to monitor and reduce usage.
687.46 tons of paper was recycled
against the target of 941 tons, this
equates to an under-achievement by
27%. The recycling programme in the
regions are being reviewed to ensure
accurate monitoring and reporting.
(Note: Recycling paper includes – paper
used, newspapers, cardboard, shredded
paper)

Increase
amount
of paper
recycled to
45%

27% recycled

Not achieved

Participate in
the carbon
disclosure
project

SA Post Office
participates in the
CDP project. SA Post
Office is a member of
the National Business
Initiative. South Africa is
the first BRIC country to
join the full “environment
measurement and
monitoring system”
programme of the IPC,
a global postal industry
carbon reduction
programme

Achieved
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Measurement of environmental sustainability (continued)
Long-term
strategic
objective

Annual
objective

Improvement
priority

Target
2011/12

Corporate
social

Social
investment

HIV/AIDS/poverty
alleviation

Reach 60 000 SA Post Office engaged Achieved
people
in the following formal
CSI programmes:
• e-Rural access
centres, reaching
out to some 10 000
people
Humana People
to People activities
(computer skills;
• business skills; sewing
classes and gardening
classes) reaching
out to some 40 000
people
Student to Government
programme – in
partnership with
Development Bank
of SA, Microsoft SA,
Salga and the local
Government Seta

Tree planting

6 000

Achievement
2011/12

857 trees planted in
24 schools benefiting
some 6 000 educators
and learners

Achieved/
Not achieved

Remarks

Achieved
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Financial highlights
Group Performance Highlights 2012
Percentage

2012

2011

Total assets

2.8%

10 375 567

10 097 143

Net asset value

6.2%

2 712 197

2 554 342

Postbank deposits

6.9%

4 257 864

3 984 022

Cash and investments

4.3%

7 392 811

7 088 867

Return on assets

0.3%

1.5%

1.2%

46.2%

229 623

157 074

Figures in Rand Thousand

Cash flow from operating activities

Group Financial Performance for 2012
Figures in Rand Thousand

Percentage

2012

2011

Revenue

1.8%

104 393

5 934 811

5 830 418

Expenses

(3.5%)

(191 926)

5 681 370

5 489 444

(16.4%)

(26 351)

134 008

160 359

32.6%

61 645

250 978

189 333

Taxation

(33.7%)

(23 267)

(92 271)

(69 004)

Profit after tax

31.9%

38 378

158 707

120 329

Net finance revenue
Profit before tax

up

Total assets

2.8%

278 424

10 375 567

10 097 143

Net asset value

6.2%

157 855

2 712 197

2 554 342

Cash and investments

4.3%

303 944

7 392 811

7 088 867

6.9%

273 842

4 257 864

3 984 022

46.2%

72 549

229 623

157 074

Deposits received from public
Cash flow from operating activities

16

Change

Profit margin

1.0%

4.2%

3.2%

Net profit margin

0.6%

2.7%

2.1%

Return on assets

0.3%

1.5%

1.2%
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Chairperson’s report

The fastpaced technological
environment has spawned
enormous changes in the
environment resulting in new
competition for the traditional
postal services.

Mr George Mothema Chairperson

Highlights

As

• D
 uring the year 2011/12, we
focused on key business areas
with a view to building a solid
foundation for growth and
sustainability.
• The year under review saw an
improved net profit before tax of
32.6% for the year to R251 million.
• We have enjoyed cooperative
work with the Department of
Communications and the Portfolio
Committee on Communications
in relation to the commercialisation
of Postbank.

unprecedented times. The economic situation

with

across the Eurozone has been a catalyst for a series

competitors have managed to enter the postal

of events that have seen some previously robust

space. This is obviously great for the customer as

economies reduced to “junk rating” status and

competition-based services are offered.

a

global

community,

we

are

facing

tremendous volatility as nations become frustrated
with their economic circumstances. The world in
2012 is a markedly different place to the world of
two years ago. As South Africans, we are clearly
not isolated from this, and these unprecedented
times have forced us to re-evaluate ourselves. The
challenge for organisations will clearly be how they
adjust and evolve in response to a changing world.
As a bedrock of local society, the SA Post Office
needs to ask tough questions about itself and
the Board is committed to ensuring that the
organisation remains relevant in the South African
society. Zooming into the postal sector globally,
it has been facing difficult operational times.
The fast-paced technological environment has
spawned enormous changes in the environment
resulting in new competition for the traditional
postal services.
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Additionally, the environment has been liberalising
an

increasing

pace.

With

this,

more

The global meltdown has been a turning point for
the sector as attributable to the decline in volumes
for letters, parcels and express have also resulted.
Such changes underscore the increased need for
key business attributes – strong leadership, internal
capabilities and efficiencies as well as unrivalled
market awareness.
During the year 2011/12, we focused on key
business areas with a view to building a solid
foundation for growth and sustainability – 2012/13
will see us intensify these efforts. The dawn of the
21st century has highlighted the need for increased
IT investment as a key vehicle for business
enablement and service provision.
The SA Post Office is no exception – huge
investment needs to be made to take the business
to new growth heights. We will invest vigorously

21

in our IT infrastructure over the next five years. Continued investment

The Postbank corporatisation will have a major impact on the financial

in our IT infrastructure remains a key enabler for the growth of our

services landscape of this country due to its strong business proposition

business.

of financial inclusion. We have enjoyed co-operative work with the

As part of the evolution of the SA Post Office, significant effort will
be placed on re-affirming our commitment to the vision of delivering
affordable and accessible solutions for the populace. Delivering on this
“customer promise” must underpin everything we do as an organisation
and substantial programmes and interventions will be initiated in this

Department of Communications and the Parliamentary Portfolio
Committee on Communications in relation to the commercialisation
of Postbank. Our unrivalled footprint across the country – which cuts
across urban, peri‑urban and deep rural – is a potential competitive
vehicle for Postbank.

regard. Simply stated, our customers are our reason for existence and

A note of gratitude must go out to the former Chairperson and Board,

the SA Post Office should never lose sight of this.

Exco and staff of the SA Post Office for the effort they have put in

Strong and stable leadership is a key ingredient in the delivery of this
customer promise and the success of the organisation. The Board is

over the past year. The challenge is for us to build on this and remain
relevant, agile and robust in modern-day South Africa.

committed to swiftly formalising the appointments of the Group Chief
Executive Officer, Group Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Operating
Officer to provide the organisation with the requisite strategic steer.
In the same vein, I want to express our firm commitment to addressing

Mr George Mothema

governance issues within the Group. Such efforts aim to increase our

Chairperson

business processes and our capacity to deliver services to our many
customers.
The year 2011/12 saw the reversal of the trend of the previous two
financial years with the delivering of an improved net profit before tax
of 32.6% for the year to R251 million. This was despite the continued
difficult economic times. In order to accomplish business sustainability
we need to shape the Group for changes and future business demands.
To this end, we are intensifying our efforts to achieve the diversification
of revenue streams.
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f
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Acting Group Chief Executive Officer’s report

Revenue for the year
under review remained under
pressure resulting from declining mail
volumes and continued low interest
rates.

Mr Molefe Mathibe Acting Group Chief Executive Officer

Highlights

Operationally, our focus areas during 2011/2012

posted by the Mail division. Postbank continued to

• T
 otal revenue for the year
increased by 1.8% to
R5 935 million.
• The main contributors to this were
mail revenue which increased
by 2.2% to R3 976 million
while courier services revenue
increased by 5% to R671 million.
• Strong cost controls and
continued improvement of
process efficiencies have
minimised the impact of the
trading environment on profit
before tax.
• Continued focus remains on a
strong balance sheet to serve as
the engine for future growth and
sustainability.
• Total assets for the year increased
by 2.8% to R10 376 million.

continued to be on cost containment in response

be negatively impacted by continued low interest

to the continuing economic crisis which continues

rates and posted a decline in income of 3.3% for

to affect revenue. Focus has also been placed on

the year.

income generation, customer service excellence,
human capital development and streamlining
governance processes in relation to procurement.

Highlights for the year
The Group delivered an improvement in profit
before tax of 32.6% for the year to R251 million
in spite of the continued difficult economic climate.

mainly driven by the further rollout of the renewal
of motor vehicle licences at our retail outlets across
the country.
Despite these initiatives, the Mail business remains
the largest contributor to revenue.

The profit before taxation includes an amount of

On the balance sheet, total assets grew by 2.8%

R136 million for the post-retirement fund expense

to R10 376 million with a growth of 4.3% in cash

which has reduced significantly by 56.3% from the

and investments.

prior year, demonstrating our successes in cost
containment to offset the decline in mail volumes.

The company’s largest liabilities were on the legal
front and these have been reduced extensively.

In order to shape the Group for changed and future

In the past two to three years, no legal liabilities

business demands, we continue to focus on the

were added. This was achieved through reviewing

diversification of revenue streams into logistics

and improving our procurement processes, which

and financial services to offset the decline in mail

were a large contributor to our legal liabilities. The

volumes driven by electronic substitution. The

process review also enabled our legal department

Logistics division showed an increase in revenue

to be more proactive.

of 5%, higher than the 2.2% revenue increase

24

Agency services revenue increased by 4.7%
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Further development of our human capital continued and saw the

The environment and sustainability

introduction of various further development interventions by our

In view of the challenges that our country faces in terms of energy, we

Learning Institute.

put energy efficiency measurements in place, created a base line and
adopted programmes to ensure that we improved energy consumption

The SA Post Office Act has been finalised during the year and will

in our mail centres and in our offices. The SA Post Office’s environmental

further improve Corporate Governance throughout the company.

and sustainability programmes set very ambitious targets four years

Our investment in people, technology and processes is paying off as
evidenced by the continued decrease in crime. The reduction is due

ago. Our sustainability programmes exceeded all targets in previous
year. In this financial year, most targets have been met.

to staff engagement, upgrading security and surveillance of fleet and

The past financial year was also the third year of Postbank sponsoring

mail-handling operations.

the Climate Change Leadership Awards. Through these awards, we
create an awareness of sustainability and encourage socio-economic

Operational performance was boosted by tight management of

development within South Africa. During the year under review, the

the liability in respect of medical aid contributions of some of our

Climate Change Leadership Awards saw double the number of entries

pensioners. This expense reduced by 56.3% to R136 million mainly

and the quality of the entries was exceptional.

due to the control of costs and contribution increases in the in-house
Transport is not only the second-largest contributor to our expenses, it

medical aid scheme.

is also a major contributor to carbon emissions.
The 2011/2012 period showed a reduced subsidy from Government of
41% to R180 million from R306 million in the prior year. This will further
decrease to R52 million in 2012/13 after which no further subsidy will
be received. Our planning for the 2012/2013 financial year includes
strategies to deal with the phasing-out of this subsidy.

The SA Post Office contributed to the COP17 environmental
conference through our participation in the event and in particular in
panel discussions in this regard where the SA Post Office became the
first postal operator in Africa and from the BRICS countries to sign up to
the International Post Corporation (IPC), Environmental Measurement

The company continued to achieve much in people development
programmes. I am always humbled to see development at the lower
levels within the organisation through adult basic education and the
recognition of prior learning that gives our staff recognition for the
work, expertise and experience that they have gained, skilling them
for the market.

Monitoring System (EMMS) programme.
By joining the programme, the SA Post Office has signed up to
contribute to the collective attainment of the 20% by 2020 carbon
emissions reduction target[1]. The SA Post Office has set a target to
reduce 2.5% of 2008/9 baseline emissions year-on-year and will be
able to meet the IPC’s target of 20% of baseline emissions reduction

The SA Post Office continues to equip and upskill our staff, especially in
our Consumer Services, for Postbank’s corporatisation.

by 2020.
By investing in hybrid mail, we aim to “transport” the mail electronically

The learnerships we have introduced in the organisation contribute to
one of the key mandates of our country which is youth development.

and by printing it as close as possible to the point of delivery, we will
reduce the impact on the environment as a whole.

Looking forward to 2012/2013
Infrastructure requirements

The next financial year will continue to be tough with an anticipated

Development of the IT infrastructure remains a key challenge.

decline in mail volumes and continued low interest rates coupled with a

For this reason, our investment programme in IT infrastructure will

further significant reduction in Government subsidy. With the Postbank

continue. We will invest vigorously in our IT infrastructure over the

Act in place, putting a fully-fledged retail bank together will be a major

next five years.

focus that will change the face of the Post Office.

Continued investment in our IT infrastructure remains a key enabler for

We will also put our efforts into restructuring the Post Office in order to

the growth of our business. We also need to continue investing in our

optimise on infrastructural synergies. This includes the integration of

property infrastructure to comply with the requirements of our Universal

speed services couriers into the SA Post Office logistics business unit

Service Obligation although the method of doing this will need to be

so that by the end of 2012/2013, we will have a consolidated logistics

reviewed in line with the above mentioned phasing-out of subsidy. This

business unit that can realise optimisation and distribution benefits.

will enhance accessibility to our branch infrastructure.

1

20% reduction on 2008 levels by 2020
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Acting Group Chief Executive Officer’s report continued
Most importantly, the Postbank corporatisation is going to have a
major impact on the financial services landscape of this country.
The communities in the country expect much from Postbank in
particular by promoting financial inclusion. This is the rightful place that
Postbank and the Post Office should take.
I strongly believe that mail, being the core business of the Post Office,
will not disappear. However, the way in which we do our mail business
will change fundamentally. We have begun putting programmes in
place to ensure that we adapt accordingly. One of our biggest projects
in this regard is the Postcode Review project.
The Postcode Review project will allow every citizen of this country
to have an identity through addressing. The postcode review will give
citizens an efficient address that will be globally recognised.
In 2012/2013 we will bring into commercial operation our Trust Centre
on award of accreditation from the South African Accreditation Authority.
This milestone is in line with the Electronic Communications Act and will
entrench cyber-security in the projects that we implement and projects
we execute on behalf of other entities. This will fundamentally change
the face of e-communication and transaction.
A word of sincere gratitude goes to:
• All Sapoans;
• Customers;
• The Board;
•	The Ministry and the Department of Communications;
•	The Treasury Department – without Treasury’s input and stewardship,
it would not have been possible to achieve the milestones of the
Postbank’s corporatisation process;
• The Portfolio Committee; and
• Our shareholder, the Government.

Mr Molefe Mathibe
Acting Group Chief Executive Officer
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Acting Group Chief Financial Officer’s report

Net cash generated
from operating activities was
R229.6 million, an improvement
of 46.2% over the same period
last year.

Prakash Mangrey Acting Group Chief Financial Officer

Highlights

The SA Post Office has completed its eighth

R3 976 million while courier services revenue

•	Cost optimisation minimised

year of profitability although results continue

increased by 5.1% to R671 million. Postbank

the impact of tough trading

to remain under pressure. This performance is

finance income declined by 3.3% to R268 million.

conditions

largely due to a continued focus on optimising

•	Postbank depositors’ funds grew
by 6.9%
•

Total assets grew by 2.8%

costs by streamlining operating processes to

Strong

ensure improved efficiencies whilst diversifying

improvement

cost

controls

revenue streams.

minimised the impact of the trading environment

of

and

process

the

continued

efficiencies

have

resulting in a profit before tax of R251 million.
During the current financial year, the Group
performed a detailed review of the useful lives of

Total overheads for the Group increased by 3.5%

its property, plant and equipment, investment

to R5 681 million during the year under review

property and intangible assets. This resulted in an

with the main contributors being staff expenditure,

increase in the opening net book value of property,

including payments to labour brokers, increasing by

plant and equipment and intangible assets in the

3.8% to R3 542 million and transport expenditure

2009/10 financial year of R214 million with resultant

increasing by 11.4% to R607 million.

increases in the depreciation and amortisation
charges in 2009/10 and 2010/11 of R21 million

Efforts to reduce the cost of post-retirement

and R46 million respectively. Further details can be

medical benefits have borne fruit with the total

found in note 44 of the financial statements.

expense reducing by 56.3% to R136 million, a

Revenue for the year under review remained
under pressure resulting mainly from declining
mail volumes and continued low interest rates.
Total revenue for the year increased by 1.8%

reduction of R176 million, during the year under
review. The main driver for the reduction in cost
of post-retirement medical aid benefits is the
decrease in the actuarial loss for the year.

to R5 935 million. The main contributors to this

Profit before tax has therefore shown an increase

were mail revenue which increased by 2.2% to

of 32.6% for the year to R251 million.
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Acting Group Chief Financial Officer’s report continued

Profit before tax
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Improvement in cash flow

defined contribution fund, continue to bear fruit and have resulted in a

Net cash generated from operating activities was R229.6 million,

significant reduction in potential future liabilities.

an improvement of 46.2% over the same period last year. The key
contributor to the decrease in cash and cash equivalents is the net
increase of R1 672.8 million in current investments and other financial
assets. Tight debtors’ control continues to be a highlight with a
decrease of R98 million in trade and other receivables.
Continued focus remains on a strong balance sheet to serve as the
engine for future growth and sustainability. Total assets for the year
increased by 2.8% to R10 376 million.
The ring-fencing of depositors’ funds has ensured that the investments
underpinning those funds have grown in excess of the liabilities to
depositors. The structural changes made in the balance sheet over
time, including the capping of the post-retirement medical aid liability
and the conversion of the pension fund from a defined benefit to a
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08

The build-up of reserves from the sustained period of profitability has
allowed a growing proportion of capital expenditure to be funded from
internally generated cash flows. Surplus funds have been re-invested at
prevailing interest rates thereby growing the asset base further.
To summarise, during the year under review and the preceding seven
years, strong reserves have been generated whilst at the same time
reducing severe actual and potential liability which formerly burdened
the SA Post Office’s balance sheet.
The trading environment for the entire period under review has remained
extremely challenging and has negatively impacted the growth in the
Group’s revenue.

29

Subsidy

Prospects

The SA Post Office was allocated a subsidy of R180 million for the

The Agency Services business has been severely impacted by the

2011/12 financial year and the amount carried forward from the

loss of the social grant payouts which will affect the achievement of

2010/11 financial year amounted to R238 million. Hence the total

the budgeted revenue for the new financial year. The decline in mail

subsidy available for the 2011/12 financial year was R418 million.

volumes is however, expected to continue in the new financial year and

R323 million of this subsidy has been utilised, leaving an amount of

exert further pressure on revenue.

R95 million available for future utilisation. In the recent medium-term

The economy shows signs of slow recovery as we experience a further

expenditure framework, future subsidies from Government have been

decline in revenues and pressure in operating costs. The phasing-out

reduced to R52 million in 2012/13, whereafter no further subsidies have

of funding from Government will necessitate the prudent management

been allocated to offset the Group’s universal service obligation, this will

of further investments in infrastructure and the costs of servicing the

severely impact the Group’s ability to fund its universal service costs

universal service obligations.

and continue to invest in infrastructure at the current levels. Additional
funding has been requested in the latest medium-term expenditure
framework (MTEF) process.

Capital expenditure
The capital expenditure programme will be prudent going forward due
to the current economic environment and phasing-out of the subsidy.

Mr Prakash Mangrey
Acting Group Chief Financial Officer

Future capex requirements have been re-prioritised and will focus on
areas that will generate additional revenue or improve efficiency.
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Operational overview – Mail Business

Postbox account
renewals online increased
by 9% from the previous year
and online sales of philately
products grew exponentially
within the first six months.

Highlights

The provision of addresses to first-time address

about 2.2%. Meeting the challenges of connecting

• D
 espite a decline of around 3.7%
in mail volumes, revenue grew by
2.2%.
• Mail Business rolled-out just over
1 199 273 addresses to first-time
address owners.
• Approximately 74% of these
addresses are in rural and periurban areas.
• The new Virtual Post Office
channel was launched in quarter
four of this financial year.

owners is the most prominent demonstration of

consumers is showing signs of success with

the SA Post Office’s commitment to delivering

customers enthusiastically taking up the online

on the mandate of ensuring the right of every

services offered.

citizen to be connected socially and commercially,
at an affordable cost.

in ensuring the increase in the Mail Business

Mail Business boasts 25 mail sorting centres for

operating profit. Costs were managed well despite

domestic mail and parcels including 3 international

the increase in expenditure on staff salaries, fuel

sorting centres for international mail and parcels.

prices and accommodation costs.

Between these centres, approximately 6 million
mail items are handled daily and 50 tons of parcels
are processed per annum. Mail is transported to
and from these sorting centres domestically to
7 188 delivery offices (delivery depot centres,
lobby boxes and 2 447 post office outlets). In
this way, Mail Business is a significant part of
the economic heartbeat of the country enabling
economic opportunity for citizens and businesses
in all corners of the country.
Mail Business continues to be the key revenue
generator for the SA Post Office. Revenue
contribution is currently at 73%. Despite a decline
of around 3.7% in mail volumes, revenue grew by
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Tight cost control also played a major role

Operations
In the financial year ended 31 March 2012, Mail
Business rolled out just over 1 199 273 addresses
to first-time address owners, exceeding the target
of 1 195 690 by 3 583, bringing to just over
10 million the number of households to which the
SA Post Office has provided addresses in the past
five years. Approximately 74% of these addresses
are in rural and peri-urban areas.
The provision of addresses to first-time address
owners is the most prominent demonstration of
the SA Post Office’s commitment to delivering on
the mandate of ensuring the right of every citizen
to be connected socially and commercially at
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an affordable cost. Having an address provides these citizens with

Internet-based Business

an opportunity to have mail securely delivered to their doors and, in

The new Virtual Post Office (www.virtualpostoffice.co.za) channel was

addition, it frees them to participate in the economy. Banking, trading,

successfully launched in quarter four of this financial year. Postbox

long-distance learning, having a cellphone and access to municipal

account renewals online increased by 9% from the previous year and

and emergency services, are some of the activities that can only occur

online sales of philately products grew exponentially within the first six

when you have an authentic physical address.

months with limited market awareness. The next financial year sees the

Spin-offs of these additional addresses are the growth in mail volumes
due to these communities being able to communicate with the outside
world thereby bridging the communication divide as well as opening up
new direct marketing customer segments for the direct mail industry.
We therefore plan to meet the target to roll out 3.6 million addresses

launch of more Post Office products aimed at the SMME market as well
as consumer products that would normally have been available only
at physical outlets. Investments are planned for solution development,
products and services online as well as marketing and awareness of
this channel.

between 2011 and 2013. The format for these addresses complies

Philately Programme

with national standards set by the South African Bureau of Standards

Sumbandila satellite stamp launch

(SANS 1883) and the international standards set by the Universal Postal

Stamps to commemorate the Sumbandila satellite were launched

Union (S42). South Africa is one of 16 countries that meet this UPU

on 1 April 2011 at the South African National Space Agency at

standard, once again bringing the SA Post Office close to its vision of

Hartebeesthoek near Pretoria.

being recognised amongst the leading postal operators in the world.
Amongst the 150 guests at the function was Ms Naledi Pandor,
We are also enhancing the addressing system by coupling it to an

Minister of Science and Technology and Acting President of the

advanced postcode system that will identify the origin of a letter,

country at the time.

the route it will take and its delivery point, increasing efficiency and
Stamp launch to commemorate traditional musical instruments

accuracy in the delivery of mail items.

Stamps commemorating traditional South African musical instruments

Hybrid Mail

were issued on 30 June 2011 and officially launched at the National

Hybrid Mail receives and converts electronic data at a central location

Arts Festival in Grahamstown on 3 July 2011.

and produces mail items and other electronic outputs such as emails
and SMS messages. For physical mail items, these are routed and

South Africa wins international stamp competition

produced in a decentralised production location within a mail processing

South Africa has won the seventh competition class for the

centre for delivery. The performance for 2011/12 remained challenging;

designated operators of Universal Postal Union (UPU) member

however, revenue stabilised in the third and fourth quarters after certain

countries, held during Postal Operators Council (POC) in Berne,

Government pilot projects were stopped. Capital investments were

Switzerland from 26 April to 13 May 2011.

made in new production equipment resulting in a growth in operational
staff numbers. Next year, new decentralised print sites are planned with
further investments in production equipment and solutions to bolster
revenue streams.

Our entry entitled The colourful rhythms of South African stamps
displayed 32 A4-size pages of stamps issued from 2008 to 2010
and scored 88 points. We competed against entries from 17 Postal
Administrations with Russia second (87 points), Hungary third (84
points) and Portugal fourth (74 points). Other countries that competed
included Monaco, Spain, Denmark, Romania, Brasil and Australia.

Roughly 50 tons of mail is handled
and processed at mail-sorting facilities
each year.
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Operational overview – Mail Business continued

Postmen and postwomen on foot deliver mail to 1 095 walks. A total of 5 254 walks are serviced by
bicycle and 219 walks by motorbike.

Entries were evaluated according to:

and 37 graphic designers from various businesses in Cape Town
discussed stamp design as a graphic design.

•	Originality of the presentation
•	Technical quality of the philatelic material exhibited
•	Utility
•	Postal usage
•	Philatelic interest and
•	Quality of entry
Shortlisted for BASA Awards
The Business and Arts South Africa (BASA) Awards acknowledge
businesses that are actively making a difference by sponsoring arts
and culture events throughout the country.
The Post Office has for the first time entered the competition for
our sponsorship of the Joburg 2010 International Stamp Show and
was a nominee in the category International Sponsorship Award
which is awarded for the sponsoring of an event or marketing project
showcasing South Africa to the rest of the world, and/or bringing
international arts projects to South Africa. Total SA’s sponsorship of
the BuskAid Trust took the first prize.
Post Office sponsors graphic design workshop
The Post Office sponsored one day of a week long graphic design
workshop in September 2011 arranged by the Design Indaba in Cape
Town and facilitated by renowned graphic designers Paul Sahre,
James Victore and Jan Wilker from the USA. During the day they
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The theme to be depicted as a stamp was “Love” which created
interesting discussions around the depiction of an abstract topic on a
stamp and the different interpretations of love, including designing the
stamp in such a way that the person who sees it can understand your
message without you being there to describe it.
Joint stamp issue with Indonesia
On 15 October 2011 we launched a joint stamp issue between South
Africa and Indonesia in Cape Town. The event was, amongst others,
attended by the:
•	Deputy Minister of Communications of South Africa
•	Chairperson of the Board of Directors of the South African Post
Office
•	Ambassador of Indonesia to South Africa
•	Consul General of Indonesia to South Africa
•	President Director of Indonesia Post
•	Chairperson of the Stamp Advisory Committee of the South
African Post Office
•	President of the Philatelic Federation of South Africa
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Stamp launch to commemorate the arrival of Indian indentured
workers in South Africa
Stamps to commemorate 150 years of the arrival of Indian indentured
workers in South Africa. The stamps were launched near Durban on
27 November 2011 and attendees included:
•	Minister of Arts and Culture
•	Minister of Public Service and Administration
•	Former Minister in the Presidency
•	MMEC for Arts, Culture Sport and Recreation in KZN
•	Speaker of the eThekwini Municipality
•	Daughter to Chief Albert Luthuli
•	Deputy Chair of NCOP
•	Members of the 1860 Legacy and Heritage Foundations

Faster mail delivery through more accurate
postcodes

Stamp launch for Chief Albert Luthuli
A stamp to commemorate Chief Albert Luthuli, Africa’s first Nobel
Peace Laureate, was launched at the Luthuli museum in Groutville,
KwaDukuza, KwaZuluNatal on 10 December 2011.

•	Greatly reducing the return items and hence the cost of double-

The event was a partnership between the Post Office and the Luthuli
Museum and was made unique in the sense that residents of Groutville
who could only receive their mail in the past from the post office would
also receive mail at their residential addresses from this day.

Our current four-digit postcode system is more than 30 years old (it
was first introduced on 8 October 1973 to be precise). The existing
system fails to fully meet modern requirements due to the changes in
demographics and spatial developments. There are newer technologies
that we should be using to improve delivery performance and customer
satisfaction.
There are clear benefits to the rolling out of the new postcode system.
These include:
•	Improving the accuracy of the location of addresses.
•	Creating efficiencies in the delivery process.
handling mail.
The project to roll out and implement a modern postcode system is
on track with the pilot scheduled to commence by August 2011. It is
anticipated that the full project will be completed by March 2013.
We further ensured that the addresses comply with international
UPU S42 standards. Consequently, we are amongst the 16 postal

The Post Office installed 1 500 street addresses in the area in a period
of two weeks. A post box has also been installed at the Luthuli Museum
so that people in the area can post their mail. At least six people from
the area have also benefited in this project as they were employed to
provide numbers to the houses.

operators in the world to be officially listed as compliant with the

Retired Chief Justice Sandile Ngcobo said at the function that he was
very happy that the Post Office had vindicated the humanity of people
of Groutville and restored the human dignity of this village.

to our postal services as well as customer complaints. To this end,

Design Indaba
Philatelic Services had a stand at the Design Indaba Expo at the
Cape Town International Convention Centre from 1 – 4 March 2012 to
promote the design/art work behind the stamp.

Awards and recognition

UPU S42-6 International Standard for Postal addressing and coding.

Assuring sound accountability and governance
ICASA regulates Mail Business to ensure quality of service to
customers, roll out of infrastructure to provide customers with access
Mail Business has implemented measures to ensure delivery of the
above mandate. Mail Business has put in place a number of systems
to monitor the quality of service to customers to meet and/or exceed
ICASA requirements.

Moving forward
Largely due to global economic decline, mail volumes decreased
by about 3.7% annually over the past two years.

The SA Post Office continues to be recognised through awards for
its performance.

Mail Business plans to compensate for the decline in volumes by
putting the following in place:

The South African stamp mosaic of the Pretoria skyline and the

• Rationalisation of infrastructure.

Union Buildings was recognised internationally through the Guinness

• Deriving synergies within existing networks.

Book of Records as the largest stamp mosaic in the world. The

• Interrogating the concept for delivery.

development of the mosaic by young students also helped to highlight

• Continuous focus on regulatory changes.

the importance of stamps and their role in our society as the country’s

• Continuing with lean management.

ambassadors. It is hoped that this achievement will stimulate interest

•	Continuing with alignment of volume and capacity.

in stamp collection by the youth of the country.

•	Increasing the capacity of hybrid mail solutions to give customers
an alternative channel for posting mail.

The South African Heritage Resources Agency (SAHRA) recognised
the SA Post Office’s maintenance of the Post Office Museum by

Continuous cost control and the development of new e-Commerce

declaring all items in the museum as part of the national heritage.

services and activities are essential for the continued viability of
Mail Business in the SA Post Office.
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Operational overview – Postbank

Through corporatisation,
Postbank will seek to promote
universal and affordable access to
banking services

Highlights for the year
include:
• P
 ostbank deposits grew by 6.9%
to R4 258 million,
• Net interest income was
R249 million despite historically
low interest rates.

Postbank’s preparations for corporatisation as a
separate legal entity as well as for the submission
of the application to form a bank commenced in
earnest during the year under review.

Business development
Despite the continuing economic challenges,
including the low interest rates and high prices,
Postbank customers have remained loyal in the
financial year under review. Consumers continued
to feel the effects of higher unemployment and
general price increases and, as a result, many
struggled to save. Despite this, Postbank deposits
grew year-on-year to R4.258 billion. Postbank
net interest income was R249 million, reflecting
the effects of decreased interest rates and the
statutory requirements for Postbank’s investment
portfolio to be held as highly liquid assets with a
less than 12-month maturity.

Postbank corporatisation
The effective date for the South African Postbank
Limited Act (No 9 of 2010) has been gazetted and
the corporatisation process is gaining momentum.
Corporatisation will lead to Postbank being able to
satisfy the main objectives for its formation, namely
to:

34

• C
 onduct the business of a bank that will
encourage and attract savings amongst the
people of the Republic.
• Render transactional services and lending
facilities.
• Increase financial access to the rural and lowerincome markets.
• Promote universal and affordable access
to banking services.
• Ensure that rates and charges take into account
the needs of the people in the lower-income
market.
• Ensure lending to rural and lower-income markets.
Postbank is preparing its application to form a bank,
which will allow it to apply for a banking licence
to operate within, and meet the requirements of,
the regulatory framework. Obtaining this licence
will allow Postbank to deliver financial services to
the financially-excluded by offering a fully-fledged
banking service. Postbank will ultimately offer loans
at affordable rates to its target market.
Significant progress has been made by the
SA Post Office through its Postbank division
obtaining provisional PASA membership as well
as SA Post Office, through its Postbank division,
obtaining VISA membership. These allow Postbank
to directly participate in the National Payments
System and are a prerequisite for obtaining a
banking licence.
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Operational overview – Logistics

The consolidation of
transport routes will yield
benefits in cost management and
improve efficiencies by eliminating
duplicated infrastructure

Highlights

The Group’s unrivalled postal network puts the

Group transport consolidation

• T
 he CFG Group distributed more
than 41 million items for Census
2011 forms.
• Distribution of Budget Speech
brochures.
• Distributed high school exam
papers with the necessary
measures to ensure confidentiality.
• Formated partnerships with postal
administration in other SADC
countries.

Logistics Division at a prime position to be the

The Group’s model supports a holistic management

delivery arm of Government due to its ability to

of the transport service for the mail and logistics

reach every corner of the country on a daily basis.

businesses. The consolidation of this significant

We have identified critical aspects of the business
that require urgent interventions, which will
address the operational challenges the business
currently faces and position it solidly to deliver on
its objectives.
The interventions we embarked on, commenced in
the 2010/2011 financial year and are expected to be
fully rolled out by the end of the 2013/2014 financial
year. Below is a high-level synopsis of these:
Integration of logistics business units
Constantly changing markets and economies
have seen customer expectations evolve. Today’s
logistics customer seeks not only reliable and
quality service, but sophisticated end-to-end
logistics solutions. This development requires us to
be an integrated logistics service provider hence
the strategic move to house all express courier,
freight and container units under one roof.

36

service and cost element will yield benefits in the
areas of cost management and improve efficiencies
through load and route optimisation by eliminating
duplicated infrastructure.
Fleet and container recapitalisation
Key to customer retention in the fierce logistics
market is the operator’s ability to meet the
expected delivery times. Fleet recapitalisation will
directly address service level challenges that have
affected the business in the recent past. We also
expect to leverage from container repairs in the
form of improved image (branding) and “marketing
on wheels”.
Systems upgrade
Customers are increasingly demanding synergic
functionality and sophisticated solutions when
interacting with our systems. This has resulted in a
firm focus being placed on systems development/
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upgrading to present optimally integrated systems

We have seen remarkable growth in business

solutions to the market.

with Transnet where we move locomotive and rail

Strengthen partnerships

components in containers.

As part of our objective of providing end-to-end

Future outlook

logistics solutions to our customers, we have

In the 2012/2013 financial year, our aim will be to

formed partnerships with international counterparts

recapture lost clients and grow the new business

and postal operators in the SADC countries. These

segment, especially in Government. The realisation

partnerships have widened our reach internationally

of these plans will be supported in the main by the

while increasing our domestic business through

fleet recapitalisation programme and the integration

business agreements we have concluded.

of logistics businesses which will strengthen our

2011/2012 performance highlights

value proposition in the market.

We are proud to have continued our partnership
with various Government departments in fulfilling
their mandates in the past financial year. Our
success and involvement include amongst others:
• distribution of Census 2011 forms (Stats SA);
• relocation of DoHA;
•	distribution of Budget Speech brochures
(for SARS); and
• distribution of exam papers (DoE).
Strategic engagements with other State entities
and Government departments are on-going with
the aim to increase our service offering and build
long-term partnerships. We also plan to initiate
discussions regarding logistics solutions that we
can provide nationally in fulfilling Government’s
mandate. For departments seeking a safe pipeline
solution, we can easily replicate our successful inhouse model that was used at the Department of
Home Affairs.

The Post Office fleet covered almost
45 000 000 km during the year under
review to connect more than five million
mail items daily.
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Operational overview – Retail

The Reward and
Recognition Programme
continued to acknowledge
employees and branches that
have improved operational
performance in relation to
customer service.

Highlights
• C
 urrently the 1 572 Post Office
branches conducted 95.1 million
transactions.
• These outlets provide access to
more than 8.5 million social grant
recipients.
• 2.7 million motor vehicle licences
were renewed at Post Office
outlets.
• To improve communications
within the branch network, 70%
of Branch Managers (1 100)
were equipped with personal
computers.

It is through Retail that the SA Post Office’s mission
of enabling the nation to efficiently connect with
the world by distributing information, goods,
financial and Government services is experienced
by consumers and by small-sized to mediumsized business. This social inclusion and economic
opportunity is most effectively felt by citizens in
rural and peri-urban areas of South Africa where
post office branches are most often the only way
they can efficiently connect to the world.
It is at post office branches that the SA Post
Office services reach all corners of the country.
These services include the convenience of banking,
collecting social grants and paying accounts,
confirming that these branches are hubs of
financial and Government services provision.
In the year under review, the role of Retail was best
demonstrated by the 1 572 post office branches that
conducted 95.1 million transactions, conveniently
providing access to more than 8.5 million social
grant recipients, efficiently renewing more than
2.7 million motor vehicle licences, which is a 35%
increase from last year and providing access to
banking services for a multitude of unbanked and
underserved citizens.

38

Retail aims to meet the needs and expectations
of our customers and clients by providing a quality
service, convenient and cost-effective access to
postal and financial services.

Our reach
The SA Post Office branch network is made up of
2 447 access points, 1 572 fully-fledged branches
and 875 Retail Postal Agencies. The latter are
established to improve access points where it is
not viable to construct a fully-fledged branch. Our
network is the largest and most widely distributed
network of postal and financial services access
points of any business in the country. These access
points are split almost equally between urban and
rural areas.
One mobile post office was also introduced during
the next financial year to be used as a disaster
recovery unit and be piloted for providing services
in rural areas.
The Universal Postal Unions (UPU) and
governments have put a target of 1:10 000.
This means that there must be a post office outlet
for every 10 000 people. This is the target that
the SA Post Office is endeavouring to achieve.
Owing to financial, logistics and resource issues,
it has become difficult for us to close this gap at
a quicker rate.
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The SA Post Office will be adopting a number of strategies to meet the
licence requirement targets. These will include:
• Utilising a multi-channel approach that will enable the SA Post
Office to increase its point of presence.
• Introducing a franchise business concept.
• Continuing to roll out new point of presence at a rate of 50 per year
as agreed with by the licensing authority.
To meet the numbers stated above and to improve services access
and customer experience, 13 new branches and 39 new Retail Postal
Agencies were opened this financial year. 29 branches were relocated
and/or upgraded for the same reasons.
During the year ended 31 March 2012, post office branches served
76.7 million customers. This was a 1% decrease from the previous
financial year. This could be attributed to the fact that we did not
distribute share schemes during the reporting period. Over 95.1 million
transactions were performed this year, a 4% decrease from last year.

The manuals are prepared in an ISO format in preparation for
ISO accreditation; this will result in consistently high standards of
customer service.
To improve communication within the branch network, 70% of
Branch Managers (1 100) were equipped with personal computers.
The efficiency and effectiveness of addressing consumer queries and
complaints should improve with this investment in technology.
The move to a web-based point-of-sale system continued with an
extension of the pilot to seven branches in this financial year. The webbased system provides a more efficient service and will thereby reduce
the waiting time in queues.

Reward and Recognition Programme
The Reward and Recognition Programme continued to acknowledge
staff and post office branches that have improved operational
performance and rendered excellent customer service. The goal for the

Motor vehicle licence renewals
The Motor Vehicle Licence (MVL) renewal service is one demonstration
of how the SA Post Office is enhancing its partnership with the
Government for the benefit and convenience of all citizens. In
partnership with provincial transport departments, a total of 2.7 million
licence renewals (35% improvement on last year) were processed
during the year under review, providing motorists with a convenient
and speedy service. Appreciating this partnership, the Eastern Cape
Provincial Government renewed the service contract for another
three years.

initiative is to increase our customer value proposition.
Audits continue throughout the year to ensure that a high level of
customer service is provided and staff and branches that meet the set
standards are rewarded accordingly.
The 2011/12 annual winners were announced in June 2012.
Special recognition was given to employees who received compliments
from customers through the media, emails, customer call centre as well

Due to customer demand, the MVL renewal service was extended with
an additional 110 branches in the Gauteng province and 13 branches
in the Limpopo province. During the next financial year, 50 more
branches will be rolled out in the Limpopo province. The bulk MVL was
also introduced during this financial year whereby a total number of
18 000 transactions were performed with a total revenue of R2 million.

as from the customer service rating cards provided at branches.

Enhancing operational performance and customer
service

•	446 branches now offer motor vehicle licence renewals countrywide.

Providing the best customer experience at post office branches
remains a top priority with the strategic objective of eventually meeting
and satisfying our customer needs.

•	95.1 million transactions were performed, a 3% increase on last

Retail highlights
•	76.7 million customers were served in post office branches, a 1%
decrease from the previous financial year. This could be attributed
to the fact that we did not distribute share schemes during the
financial year.
•	2.7 million motor vehicle licence renewals were performed, a 35%
increase on the previous financial year.
year.
•	More than 8.5 million grant recipients were paid during the past

Operational efficiency
Initiatives introduced this year include the review and revision of the
operations manual to improve staff knowledge and productivity.

financial year.
•	We established 52 new access points and renovated 29 branches.

The Louis Trichardt branch was also named
the Most Consistent Performing Branch.
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Corporate Governance
report

As a Government-owned
entity, the SA Post Office Group
is subject to company legislation and the
Public Finance Management Act.

Introduction
The Group is required to comply with the Protocol on Corporate
Governance in the Public Sector, the Public Finance Management
Act No 1 of 1999 (as amended), the Companies Act No 71 of 2008
(as amended) and the Postal Services Act No 124 of 1998.
The Group is committed to sound Corporate Governance principles
and is primarily guided by generally accepted Corporate Governance
practices in particular the King III report on Good Corporate Governance
plus the protocol on Corporate Governance in the Public Sector. These
practices seek to ensure that the entity’s mandate is fulfilled with due
consideration to responsible decision making, accountability, effective
and ethical leadership, as well as fairness and transparency whilst
monitoring performance and compliance with statutory requirements.

Ownership
In accordance with the Postal Services Act No 124 of 1998, ownership
of the Group is vested in the State as the sole shareholder, represented
by the Minister of Communications.

Shareholders’ Compact
The SA Post Office is a wholly owned agency of the South
African Government under the guidance of the Department of
Communications. The SA Post Office is mandated to provide postal
services according to the Postal Services Act 44 of 1985 and the
exclusive mandate Act 124 of 1998.
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The relationship between the shareholder and SA Post Office is governed
by the shareholders’ Compact in accordance with the requirements of
Section 52 of the PFMA which spells out the roles and responsibilities of
the parties and the compact is revised on an annual basis.
The relationship of the Group and the shareholder is defined and
set out in the shareholders’ Compact which, is revised annually and
which also includes the corporate plan for the entity setting out the
performance targets as agreed to between the Group and the Minister
of Communications as the shareholder representative.
The mandate of the DoC is to create a favourable ICT environment
which ensures that South Africa has the capacity to advance its socioeconomic development goals and support the renewal of Africa and
build a better world.
In support of the shareholders’ drive to positively impact on poverty
alleviation and the social wellbeing of all our people, the SA Post
Office engages in a range of support activities, such as serving as a
conduit for BEE share schemes, acting as a vehicle for the payment
of Government pension and social grants as well as undertaking an
extensive rural address expansion programme. Through Postbank,
the SA Post Office also provides accessible and affordable banking
through the Mzansi account offering.

The role and composition of the Board
The SA Post Office is a major State entity in terms of Schedule 2 of
the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and has as its accounting
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authority a Board appointed by the Minister of Communications. The
Minister of Communications in her capacity as the representative of the
State is the sole shareholder for the purposes of holding shares in the
company. The Minister of Communications is the Executive Authority
for purposes of the PFMA.
The role of the Board is explicitly supported by the statutory framework
within which the Group operates amongst which, the Post Office
4 Act No 124 of 1998, the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 and the
Public Finance Management Act No 1 of 1999 as amended are key.
The Group further endeavours to comply with the recommendations of
best practice codes on Corporate Governance like the King III report on
Good Corporate Governance.
The Board is responsible for overall guidance on the strategy, business
plans and related affairs of the Group. It is responsible for overseeing
the SA Post Office on behalf of the shareholder. In carrying out its
oversight role, it is the Board that holds management accountable for
business performance as well as achievement of the SA Post Office’s
objectives. The roles and responsibilities of the Board are defined in
the company’s Articles of Association, the Board Charter and the
shareholders’ Compact.
The SA Post Office Board is a unitary Board comprising a majority of
non-executive directors appointed by Cabinet on the recommendation
of the Minister of Communications. The Board also includes executive
directors who are appointed by Cabinet on the recommendation of
the Minister. The executive directors are responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the company.
There is within the Group operating subsidiary companies with their
own Boards comprising SA Post Office Board members and other
independent non-executive directors. The relationship between
the operating subsidiaries and SA Post Office is governed by the
shareholders’ Compact in accordance with the requirements of
Section 52 of the PFMA, which spells out the roles and responsibilities
of the parties and the compact is revised on an annual basis.
The SA Post Office Board has established committees that assist the
Board in carrying out its mandate and the roles and responsibilities of
the committees are defined in formal terms of reference approved by
the Board and which are also revised on an annual basis.

Independence of the Board
Board members are appointed by the shareholder/Minister of
Communications on renewable terms of three years provided that no
Board member shall serve more than two consecutive terms except
with the approval of the Minister. The Audit Committee regularly
meets individually with the external and internal auditors. Furthermore,
the Board, its Committees and individual directors may engage
independent counsel and advisors upon request and at the discretion
of the Board.

Delegation of authority
The Articles of Association provide for certain powers of the Board to
be delegated, consequently its powers pertaining to the day-to-day
operations of the Group have been delegated to the Group Chief
Executive Officer.
Although the Board’s ultimate accountability is to lead and manage
the Group, some of the responsibilities are delegated to executive
management. In this regard, to manage the business affairs of the

SA Post Office Group as well as the authority to delegate, the delegated
responsibilities are managed through established governance
structures at Board and Executive Committee level.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee assists the Group Chief Executive Officer in
executing the corporate plan of the entity and other duties delegated
by the Board to management. The executive directors include the
Group Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief
Operating Officer. The Managing Director: Postbank is an ex officio
member of the SA Post Office Board. All the executive directors and
the Group executives within the Group are members of the Executive
Committee, which meets weekly to discuss strategic and operational
matters. The Group Chief Executive Officer is the accounting officer for
the Group and is accountable to the Board, the Chief Financial Officer
and the Chief Operating Officer report to the Board through the Chief
Executive Officer. Decisions across the Group are taken in accordance
with the Group’s Delegation of Authority.

Risk management
The Board is ultimately responsible for the total risk management
process as well as internal controls within the Group, and therefore
has to have an understanding of the significant risks faced by the
Group. The Board also ensures that management has adequately
discharged its responsibility of designing the appropriate infrastructure
and systems, as well as controls throughout the organisation for the
integration of risk management into day-to-day activities.
A Board Risk Management Committee was established to report to
the Board on the risk management processes within the Group and
to advise the Board on the management of the main risks within the
Group. Risk management strategies and policies have been formulated
in response to the risks identified and assessed. The process of
integrating risk management into business processes and activities
at all levels is continuous and also forms part of the ongoing risk
management focus within the Group’s activities.
As part of the risk management process, risk identification and
assessment workshops are facilitated at Board and Executive
Committee as well as Business and Support Unit level. Management
strategies and action plans are implemented to address these risks.
The risk management governance structure is further reinforced by
the formation of specialist sub-committees which report to the Risk
Committee, including an Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) for
the management of treasury risks.
In order to address the risks around compliance with the PFMA a
Financial Misconduct Committee has been established as a subcommittee of the Executive Committee to monitor and oversee the
implementation of the required process to ensure that instances of
financial misconduct are minimised. A financial misconduct framework
has been adopted to assist this sub-committee in fulfilling its
responsibilities.

Internal control
Internal control is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the achievement of organisational objectives. The system
of internal control, which is embedded in all key operations, provides
reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the Group’s strategic
objectives will be achieved. The Board has the overall responsibility
for internal control. The Executive Committee, as mandated by the
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Board, has established an organisation-wide system of internal
control to manage significant risks. On-going monitoring and reporting
processes by Business Unit heads provide for high-level assessments
on the status of internal controls. The Board also receives assurances
from the Audit Committee, which derives some of the information from
regular internal and external audit reports.

Internal Audit
Group Internal Audit provides an independent and objective assurance
to the Board through the Audit Committee and Executive Committee
with regards to the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management,
governance and internal control process. The assurance mandate is
informed by the Annual Audit Plan, which is approved by the Board
Audit Committee and is aligned to the Risk Management Plan.

Committees of the Board
The SA Post Office Board has established various committees to assist
the Board in carrying out its mandate. The committees are responsible
for ensuring that the Group complies with the relevant statutes and
Codes of Good Corporate Governance and to assist the Board in
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities. The following tables below detail the
composition and attendance at the Board and committee meetings:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The SA Post Office Articles of Association provide for a maximum of
sixteen (16) directors, including the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief
Operations Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the Postbank
Managing Director provided that the majority of the directors are nonexecutive directors. The Managing Director: Postbank is in accordance
with the recently promulgated Postbank Act, ex officio member of the
SA Post Office Board. The SA Post Office Articles of Association further
allow the Board to co-opt to its Committees independent persons with
expertise relevant to the mandate of the committee.
The Board meets at pre-arranged meeting dates at least four times in a
year and at such other times as deemed necessary by the Chairperson
or the shareholder. The Board holds annual workshops at least twice a
year to review the Group’s business strategy and to conduct the Group
annual risk assessment. The Board also holds bilateral meetings on a
quarterly basis with the Minister of Communications to report on the
overall performance of the company against the targets as set out in
the corporate plan and to discuss other shareholder related matters.

BOARD COMPOSITION
Chairperson (Non-executive):
Mr G Mothema
Ms VF Mahlati

(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)

Members:
Non-executive directors
Mr MS Patel
Ms K Sicwebu
Mr NCS Bebeza
Adv LP Nobanda
Mr TC Ngcobo
Ms PE Pokane
Ms N Kela
Dr HN Manzini
Ms N Mthethwa
Ms G Simelane
Mr R Sishuba
Mr SEO Dietrich
Mr SMA Malebo
Adv V Mhlongo

(Retired 14 October 2011)
(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Retired 1 July 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)

Executive directors
Mr MJ Mathibe (Acting Group CEO)
Mr S Adam (Acting MD: Postbank)
Ms MM Lefoka (Group CEO)
Mr NJD Buick (Acting Group CEO and Group CFO)
Mr JP Wentzel (Group COO and Acting MD: Postbank)
Mr P Mangrey (Acting CFO)

(Appointed 1 June 2012)
(Retired 25 January 2012)
(Retired 30 June 2012)
(Retired 14 October 2011)
(Appointed 1 June 2012)

Independent committee members
The SA Post Office Articles of Association further allow the Board to co-opt to its committees independent persons with expertise relevant to the
mandate of the various committees. The following independent persons have been appointed to some of the committees of the Board as indicated
below:
Mr B Bothma (Independent member of the Postbank Committee)
Mr H Daniels (Independent Chairperson of the Logistics Audit Sub Committee)
Mr P Papadopulo (Independent member of the DOCEX Board)
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Attendance at sapo Board meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Name
Ms VF Mahlati (Former Chairperson)

1

02/06/2011

28/06/2011

28/07/ 2011

16/08/2011

29/09/2011

30/09/2011

3

3

3

3

3

3

Ms MM Lefoka 6

3

3

3

3

3

3

Mr NJD Buick

3

3

3

3

3

3

5

Mr JP Wentzel

2

3

3

3

3

3

5

Mr NCS Bebeza

3

3

3

3

3

3

Mr SEO Dietrich

3

3

3

5

3

5

5

Mr SMA Malebo

1

3

3

3

3

3

3

Adv V Mhlongo 1

3

3

3

3

3

5

Ms K Sicwebu

3

3

3

3

3

5

Mr TC Ngcobo

3

3

3

3

3

3

Adv LP Nobanda

5

3

3

3

3

3

Mr MS Patel

3

3

3

3

3

3

Ms PE Pokane 2

3

3

5

3

3

5

Mr S Adam

–

–

–

–

–

–

27/10/2011

25/11/2011

01/12/2011

19/01/2012

21/02/2012

Total

Ms VF Mahlati (Chairperson) 1

Name

5

3

3

3

3

10

Ms MM Lefoka

5

5

5

5

5

6

5

3

3

3

3

10

–

–

–

–

–

5

3

3

11

Mr NJD Buick

6

5

Mr JP Wentzel 2
Mr NCS Bebeza

3

3

3

3

3

5

5

3

3

6

Mr SMA Malebo 1

3

3

3

3

3

11

Adv V Mhlongo 1

3

3

3

3

3

10

Mr SEO Dietrich

Ms K Sicwebu

5

3

3

3

3

9

Mr TC Ngcobo

3

3

3

3

3

11

Adv LP Nobanda

3

3

3

3

5

9

Mr MS Patel

3

3

3

3

3

11

Ms PE Pokane 2

–

–

–

–

–

4

Mr S Adam

–

–

–

3

3

2

Legend:
3 = Present    5 = Absent with apology
1
= Retired 29 February 2012    2 = Retired 14 October 2011    3 = Retired 1 July 2012    4 = Appointed 1 March 2012    5 = Retired 30 June 2012   
6
= Retired 25 January 2012
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Committees of the Board
Audit Committee
The SA Post Office Audit Committee was established in terms of Section 51 (1) (a) (ii) of the Public Finance Management Act No 1 of 1999 (PFMA)
as amended and relevant Treasury Regulations and in accordance with Article 15.1.1 of the SA Post Office Articles of Association. As a major
public entity in terms of Schedule 2 of the PFMA, SA Post Office is required, to establish an Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is responsible
for evaluating the Group’s financial statements which will be provided to Parliament and other stakeholders, the systems of internal control which
management and the Board have established, the audit processes, the risk management framework and assesses the Group’s financial performance
against its Corporate Plan. Representatives of External and Internal Audit have direct access to the Chairperson of the committee.
The Audit Committee meets at least four times a year.
Chairperson (Non-executive):
Mr H Daniels
Mr SEO Dietrich

(Interim Chairperson – Appointed 1 July 2012)
(Retired 1 July 2012)

Members:
Ms G Simelane
Ms K Sicwebu
Mr R Sishuba
Mr SMA Malebo
Adv V Mhlongo
Mr MS Patel

(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)
(Retired 25 April 2012)

Attendance at Audit Committee meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Name

26/05/2011

14/07/2011

28/07/2011

16/11/2011

Total

Mr SEO Dietrich

1

3

5

5

3

2

Mr SMA Malebo

2

3

3

3

3

4

3

3

3

5

3

Ms K Sicwebu

3

3

3

3

4

Mr MS Patel

3

3

3

3

4

Adv V Mhlongo

2

3

Legend:
3 = Present    5 = Absent with apology
1

= Retired 1 July 2012    2 = Retired 29 February 2012    3 = Retired 25 April 2012

Risk Management Committee
The SA Post Office Risk Management Committee was established in terms of Section 51 (1) (a) (i) of the Public Finance Management Act No 1 of
1999 (PFMA) as amended. The committee monitors, evaluates and advises the Board on the adequacy of risk management processes and strategies
within the Group and recommends the approval of risk policies to the Board. It further reviews significant risks facing the company and reports these
to the Board. The scope of the Risk management Committee extends across the Group to include the subsidiary companies whose products and
processes expose the Group to Credit Risk, Liquidity Risk, Market Risk, Balance Sheet Risk and Operational Risk within the legislative and regulatory
framework that governs the SA Post Office Group. Representatives of Group Risk Management, Internal Audit, the Security and Investigations
division and all core Business Units attend all meetings of the committee.
The committee meets four times a year.

44

Chairperson (Non-executive):
Mr R Sishuba
Adv V Mhlongo

(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)

Members:
Ms K Sicwebu
Mr SEO Dietrich
Mr SMA Malebo
Adv LP Nobanda
Mr MS Patel

Appointed 25 April 2012
(Retired 1 July 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)
(Retired 25 April 2012)
(Retired 25 April 2012)

45

Attendance at Risk Management Committee meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Name

08/04/2011

26/05/2011

13/06/2011

24/08/2011

10/02/2012

Total

3

3

3

3

3

5

Mr SEO Dietrich

2

3

3

3

3

3

5

Mr SMA Malebo

1

Adv V Mhlongo

1

3

3

3

3

3

5

Adv LP Nobanda 3

3

5

3

3

5

3

Mr MS Patel 3

–

3

3

3

3

4

Legend:
3 = Present    X = Absent with apology
1

= Retired 29 February 2012    2 = Retired 1 July 2012    3 = Retired 25 April 2012

Remuneration and Performance Management Committee
The Remuneration and Performance Committee was established in accordance with Article 15.1.2 of the SA Post Office Articles of Association. The
committee reviews compensation matters, makes recommendations to the Board on appointments and remuneration as well as benchmarks salaries
for executives in accordance with the Articles of Association. The committee also ratifies the appointment and remuneration of executives at general
manager level within the approved range and approves those that are outside or above the approved range.
The committee meets four times a year.
Chairperson (Non-executive):
Mr G Mothema
Ms VF Mahlati (Remcom)

(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)

Members:
Mr TC Ngcobo
Mr G Simelane
Ms N Kela

(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)

Attendance at Remuneration and Performance Management Committee meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Name
Ms VF Mahlati

1

Mr TC Ngcobo
Mr MS Patel

2

Mr NCS Bebeza

2

20/04/2011

28/06/2011

07/09/2011

14/11/2011

08/02/2012

Total

3

3

3

5

5

3

3

3

3

3

3

5

3

3

3

3

3

5

3

3

3

3

3

5

Legend:
3 = Present    5 = Absent with apology
1

= Retired 29 February 2012    2 = Attended by Invitation

THE HUMAN RESOURCES AND TRANSFORMATION COMMITTEE
The Human Resources and Transformation Committee was established in accordance with Article 15.1.4 of the SA Post Office Articles of Association.
The committee reviews all aspects relating to human resources and transformation within the Group. It also monitors compliance with relevant
labour and employment legislative matters and recommends approval of significant human resources-related policies to the Board. This committee’s
mandate includes transformation issues.
The committee meets four times a year.
Chairperson (Non-executive):
Mr MS Patel (Interim Chairperson)
Ms N Kela

(Retired 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)

Members:
Mr NCS Bebeza
Mr TC Ngcobo
Dr NH Manzini
Ms N Mthethwa

(Retired 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)
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Attendance at Human Resources and Transformation Committee meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Name

20/04/2011

27/06/2011

07/09/2011

14/11/2011

08/02/2012

Total

3

3

3

3

3

5

Mr NCS Bebeza

3

3

3

3

3

5

Ms VF Mahlati

3

3

3

5

5

3

3

3

3

3

3

5

Mr MS Patel

1

2

Mr TC Ngcobo
Legend:
3 = Present    5 = Absent with apology
1

= Retired 25 April 2012    2 = Retired 29 February 2012   

Postbank Committee
The Postbank Committee was established with an oversight role over the Postbank to ensure that the Postbank operates within all the applicable
legislation, monitors the performance of the investment portfolio of depositors’ funds as well as ensuring that these funds are invested appropriately.
It also recommends the approval of ledger fees and bank charges to the Board. The committee meets four times a year. The Postbank Act, which
came into operation in late 2010 now provides for the establishment of a Board of Directors for the Postbank when it starts operating as a licensed
bank.
Chairperson (Non-executive):
Ms VF Mahlati
Ms PE Pokane
Ms N Mthethwa
Members:
Dr H Manzini
Mr B Bothma
Adv LP Nobanda
Mr S Adam (Acting MD: Postbank)
Ms K Sicwebu

(Appointed Interim Chairperson with effect from 15 October 2011)
(Retired 14 October 2011)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)

(Appointed 25 April 2012)

Attendance at Postbank Committee meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Name

13/10/2011

15/11/2011

08/02/2012

Total

3

3

–

–

2

Ms VF Mahlati 2

–

–

3

3

2

Mr B Bothma IND

3

3

3

3

4

Ms K Sicwebu

3

3

3

3

4

Adv LP Nobanda

3

5

3

3

3

Mr S Adam*

3

3

3

3

4

Ms PE Pokane 1

08/09/2011

Legend:
3 = Present    5 = Absent with apology
1

= Retired 14 October 2011    2 = Retired 29 February 2012

IND

= Independent member    * Executive director

Information Technology (IT Steering Committee)
This is a committee of the SAPO Board of Directors and has been established by the SAPO Board of Directors to review and provide oversight on
information technology-based issues across the SAPO Group. The IT Committee will oversee, on behalf of the SAPO Board, the execution of the
IT-related decisions across the SAPO Group within the authorities delegated to the committee by the SAPO Board. The composition of the
IT Steering Committee is made up of at least three non-executive members of the SAPO Board and two independent persons with expertise in IT.
The committee meets four times a year. The committee did not have meetings during the period under review.
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IT Steering Committee
Chairperson (Independent):
Mr N Ndhlela

(Appointed 01 July 2012)

Members:
Mr R Sishuba
Mr MS Patel
Mr TC Ngcobo

(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)

Social and Ethics Committee
The Social and Ethics Committee is a committee of the SAPO Board of Directors (Board) and has been established by the Board to assist in
ensuring that SAPO complies with the relevant statutory requirements of the Companies Act of No 71 of 2008 (the Companies Act), as amended,
in particular section 72 (4) of the Companies Act as well as the best practice recommendations in respect of the social and ethical management of
companies. This committee comprises at least three (3) non-executive members of the Board, including the Chairperson of the committee.
The committee meets four (4) times a year. The committee did not have meetings during the period under review.
Social and Ethics Committee
Chairperson:
Mr MS Patel

(Appointed 25 April 2012)

Members:
Mr NCS Bebeza
Ms G Simelane
Ms K Sicwebu

(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)

CHAIRPERSON’S COMMITTEE
The Chairperson’s Committee was established in accordance with Article 15.1.2 of the SA Post Office Articles of Association. The Chairperson’s
Committee is tasked with giving detailed attention to areas of the Board’s duties and responsibilities by way of a more comprehensive evaluation of
specific issues in relation to cross-cutting issues of the Group. The main responsibility of the Chairperson’s Committee is to enhance good Corporate
Governance within the Group and to deal with any other matters in between Board meetings. It is made up of the appointed chairpersons of all the
committees of the Board and is chaired by the Chairperson of the Board.
The committee meets four times a year.
Chairperson (Non-executive):
Mr G Mothema
Ms VF Mahlati

(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)

Members:
Mr MS Patel
Adv LP Nobanda
Ms PE Pokane
Mr SEO Dietrich
Ms MM Lefoka
Mr SMA Malebo
Adv V Mhlongo
Ms N Kela
Dr H Manzini
Ms N Mthethwa
Mr R Sishuba
Mr NCS Bebeza

(Retired 14 October 2011)
(Retired 1 July 2012)
(Retired 25 January 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)
(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)
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Attendance at Chairperson’s Committee meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Name

20/04/2011

28/06/2011

28/09/2011

16/02/2012

Total

3

3

3

3

4

3

3

3

3

4

3

3

3

5

3

3

3

3

3

4

3

3

3

3

4

3

3

3

5

3

3

3

3

–

3

Adv LP Nobanda

3

5

3

X

2

Mr NCS Bebeza

Ms VF Mahlati

1

Mr SEO Dietrich
Ms MM Lefoka

4

Mr SMA Malebo
Adv V Mhlongo

1

1

Mr MS Patel
Ms PE Pokane

2

–

–

–

3

1

Ms K Sicwebu 3

–

–

–

3

1

Mr TC Ngcobo 3

–

–

–

3

1

3

Legend:
3 = Present    5 = Absent with apology
1

= Retired 29 February 2012    2 = Retired 14 October 2012    3 = By invitation    * Executive director    4 = Retired 25 January 2012

Stamp Advisory Committee
This is an advisory committee to the Minister of Communications which has been established to advise the Minister of Communications on the
South African annual stamp issue programme and related issues. The committee is made up of specialists in philately and representatives from the
Department of Communications and a representative from the SA Post Office Board. The committee meets twice a year and on an ad-hoc basis
if required.
Stamp Advisory Committee
Chairperson (Non-executive):
Adv LP Nobanda
Members: (Independent)
Mr TM Mabaso
Ms M Martin
Mr D Wigston
Prof G Younge
Mr N Munzhelele
Attendance at the Stamp Advisory Committee meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Name
Adv LP Nobanda

3
–

Total
1

Mr TM Mabaso
Ms M Martin

3

–
1

Mr D Wigston

3

1

Prof G Younge

3

1

Legend:
3 = Present    5 = Absent with apology
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Subsidiary companies
The Courier and Freight Group
The Courier and Freight Group (CFG) is an operating subsidiary company of the SA Post Office. CFG has its own Board of Directors, which is
accountable to the SA Post Office Group, which is the sole shareholder. The company provides courier services, which range from overnight to
72-hour delivery, as well as express freight for consignment ranging from 20 kilograms up to 30 tons. The Board of Directors of CFG comprises of
executive directors appointed by the SA Post Office Group Board including independent non-executive directors with expertise in the courier and
freight industry.
Chairperson (Non-executive):
Dr H Manzini
Mr SMA Malebo

(Appointed 1 March 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)

Members:
Mr MS Patel		
Mr TC Ngcobo
Ms PE Pokane
(Retired 14 October 2011)
Mr NJD Buick
(Retired 30 June 2012)
Ms MM Lefoka
(Retired 25 January 2012)
Mr JP Wentzel
(Retired 14 October 2012)
Mr JM Mathibe (Managing Director)
Attendance at the Courier and Freight Group Board meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Name

25/05/2011

21/07/2011

30/09/2011

16/11/2011

20/02/2012

Total

3

3

3

3

3

5

Mr MS Patel

3

3

5

3

3

4

Mr SMA Malebo

1

Mr TC Ngcobo

3

3

3

3

3

5

Ms PE Pokane 2

3

3

5

–

–

2

Mr NJD Buick

3

3

3

3

5

4

3

3

3

5

5

3

5

Ms MM Lefoka 4

3

3

5

–

–

2

Mr JM Mathibe *

3

3

3

5

3

4

Ms VF Mahlati 3

–

–

3

–

–

1

Mr NCS Bebeza 3

–

–

3

–

–

1

Mr JP Wentzel

2

Legend:
3 = Present    5 = Absent with apology    * = Executive director
1
= Retired 29 February 2012    2 = Retired 14 October 2011    3 = Attended by invitation    4 = Retired 25 January 2012    5 = Retired 30 June 2012

Document Exchange Group (docex) board
The Document and Exchange Group (DOCEX) is an operating subsidiary company of the SA Post Office. DOCEX has its own Board of Directors
which is accountable to the SA Post Office Group which is the sole shareholder. The company provides a secure and expeditious delivery of
documents, letters and parcels or postal articles within the country. The Board of Directors of DOCEX comprises non-executive directors appointed
by the SA Post Office Group Board including independent non-executive directors with expertise in the courier and freight industry.
Board composition:
Chairperson (Non-executive):
Mr NCS Bebeza
Mr SMA Malebo

(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)

Members:
Mr N Dube (Acting MD)
Ms N Mthethwa
Mr R Sishuba
Mr P Papadopulo
Mr NJD Buick
Ms MM Lefoka
Mr JP Wentzel

(Appointed 1 June 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Retired 1 July 2012)
(Retired 1 June 2012)
(Retired 25 January 2012)
(Retired 14 October 2011)
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Attendance at the Document Exchange Group Board meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
25/05/2011

21/07/2011

30/09/2011

28/11/2011

20/02/2012

Total

Mr SMA Malebo 1

Name

3

3

3

3

3

5

Mr NCS Bebeza

3

3

3

3

3

5

3

3

4

Mr P Papadopulo IND

3

3

X

Mr NJD Buick

3

3

3

X

5

3

Ms MM Lefoka 1

3

3

3

5

5

3

Mr JP Wentzel

2

3

3

5

–

–

2

Mr JM Mathibe*

3

3

5

3

3

4

Mr MS Patel 4

–

–

–

–

3

1

–

–

3

–

–

1

–

–

3

–

–

1

–

–

3

–

–

1

Ms VF Mahlati

3

Mr TC Ngcobo 3
Adv LP Nobanda

3

Legend:
3 = Present    5 = Absent with apology    * = Executive director    IND = Independent member
1
= Retired 25 January 2012    2 = Retired 14 October 2011    3 = By invitation    4 = Retired 25 April 2012

Logistics Audit and Risk Sub-committee
A Logistics Audit Committee has been established as a sub-committee of the Group Audit Committee. The sub-committee acts in accordance
with the Public Finance Management Act and reports to the Group Audit Committee. It evaluates the financial statements for the DOCEX and
CFG Groups which are submitted to the Group holding Board for approval and for inclusion in the Group annual report. The composition of the
sub-committee comprises representatives from the two subsidiary Boards as well as representatives from both Internal and External Audit.
The committee meets four times a year.
Logistic Audit Committee
Chairperson (Independent):
Mr H Daniels
Members:
Mr TC Ngcobo
Ms N Mthethwa
Mr R Sishuba
Mr NCS Bebeza
Adv V Mhlongo

(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Appointed 25 April 2012)
(Retired 25 April 2012)
(Retired 29 February 2012)

Attendance at the Logistics Audit Committee meetings for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012
Name
Mr H Daniels IND

12/05/2011

07/07/2011

18/10/2011

27/01/2012

3

3

3

3

Total
4

Mr NCS Bebeza 1

3

3

3

3

4

Adv V Mhlongo 2

3

3

3

5

3

3

4

Mr TC Ngcobo

3

3

3

Legend:
3 = Present    5 = Absent with apology    IND = Independent non-executive director
1
= Retired 25 April 2012    2 = Retired 29 February 2012

Fraud and error
The SA Post Office Group operates through the retail network which processes numerous banking and non-banking financial transactions on a daily
basis, therefore presenting potential opportunities for fraud. To mitigate this risk of fraud, numerous systems of internal controls have been designed
and implemented. Furthermore, the Group also operates according to the defined and approved Fraud Prevention Plan. The Audit Committee also
assumes enhanced responsibility to consider fraud and error in financial statements.
Business conduct
The Group has a Code of Ethical Conduct, approved by the Board, which addresses amongst others, the following matters:
• Personal conduct
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• Crime prevention
• Conflict of interest
• Acceptance of gifts
Materiality and significance framework
The framework of acceptable levels of materiality and significance, applied during 2011/2012, for the purpose of the interpretation of and compliance
with the Public Finance Management Act, No 1 of 1999 (as amended) is the following:
Qualifying transactions are considered to be of an operational nature where they are concluded as part of the normal business of the SA Post Office,
and are concluded within the framework of the SA Post Office Act, its mandate and delegations of authority, as well as the agreements with the
shareholder contained in the shareholders’ Compact and Corporate Plan.
Qualifying transactions are considered to be of a strategic nature where they are not part of the normal business of the SA Post Office when they are
concluded outside the framework detailed above or when they link to national priorities.
Materiality framework
Resulting figures
for 2011/2012

Materiality framework
Material for Section 55 –
Disclosure in the 2011/2012
annual report.
• Losses due to criminal
conduct.
The following should be
disclosed irrespective of the
amounts involved:
• Irregular expenditure.
• Fruitless and wasteful
expenditure.

Significant for Section 54
– Information and approval
by the Minister of “qualifying
transactions” i.e.:
• establishment or participation
in the establishment of a
company;
• participation in a significant
partnership, trust,
unincorporated joint venture
or similar arrangement;
• acquisition or disposal of a
significant shareholding in a
company;
• acquisition or disposal of a
significant asset;
• commencement or cessation
of a significant business
activity; and
• a significant change in the
nature or extent of its interest
in a significant partnership,
trust, unincorporated
joint venture or similar
arrangement.

Quantitative
Capital expenditure:
10% of the capital expenditure
budget line item.

Depends on the related
expenditure budget
line item.

• Section 55, as identified, will evaluate
each loss due to criminal conduct, in the
context of the expense category to which it
relates to determine whether it qualifies for
disclosure in the annual report as required.
• The value of any identified fruitless or
wasteful expenditure will also be reported.
• In line with good business practice,
as well as the requirements of the
Act, the SA Post Office is committed
to the prevention, detection of and
taking appropriate action on all irregular
expenditure, fruitless and wasteful
expenditure, losses resulting from criminal
conduct and expenditure not complying with
the operational policies of the SA Post Office.
To this end the SA Post Office’s systems
and processes are designed and continually
reviewed to ensure the prevention and
detection of all such expenditure, irrespective
the size thereof.

Minimum
R100 million

• The PFMA is not intended to affect the
autonomy of the organisation, but its stated
objectives are to ensure transparency,
accountability and sound management of
revenue, expenditure, assets and liabilities
of the institutions to which the Act applies.
Therefore, the legislature could not have
intended for the public entities to report and
seek approval on matters of a daily basis.
• The business of the SA Post Office is
conducted within the framework of the
mandate, objects and powers contained
in the SA Post Office Act, as well as the
business and financial direction set out in
the Corporate Plan.
• The SA Post Office also has defined
accountability and approval structures
from the Board, as the shareholder
representative, to the Group CEO and
management.
• The responsibility for the day-to-day
management of the SA Post Office vests
in line management through a clearly
defined organisational structure and through
formally delegated authorities.

Other expenditure:
10% of the related operating
expenditure budget line item, except
for the following key cost drivers:
• 1% of staff expenses.
• 5% of transport costs.

Quantitative
Qualifying transactions of an
operational nature:
• 2.5% of total asset category.
Qualifying transactions of a strategic
nature:
• 5% of asset category.
Qualitative:
A qualifying transaction may also
be considered significant based on
considerations other than financial
when, in the opinion of the Board, it
is considered to be significant for the
application of Section 54.
The decision on which non-financial
issues may be considered at any
time requires careful judgement
at a strategic level, and should
therefore rest with the Board as
the representative body of the
shareholder.
For example, the Board may
consider a qualifying transaction
as significant when it could impact
significantly on a decision or
action by the Minister such as a
large retrenchment of less than
R100 million.

Underlying principles
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Sustainability report

Various
governance
interventions
ensure that the Post
Office Group complies with legal
requirements, respects the environment,
and manages its business in a responsible
and sustainable way.

Risk management report

are understood and that management has adequately discharged its

Introduction

well as effective control measures to continuously mitigate these risks.

The SA Post Office remains duly committed to a risk management
process that is enterprise-wide and aligned to principles of good
Corporate Governance and is in accordance with the provisions of
the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) No. 1 of 1999, King
III and other related codes of Corporate Governance. The Board
of Directors recognises risk management as an integral part of
responsible management and has therefore adopted a comprehensive
entity-wide approach to the management of risk within the SA Post
Office Group. This process is fully outlined in our Risk Management
Strategy as well as the policy which embodies the risk framework and
approach followed.
The Board is ultimately accountable for the total risk management as
well as ensuring that adequate and effective internal control measures
are deployed as part of risk mitigation strategies. It therefore has to
have an understanding of the significant and strategic risks faced by the
entity. A Board Risk Management Committee (Board sub-committee)
has been established to evaluate, monitor and report to the Board on
an on-going basis regarding the effective management of identified
strategic risks within the entity.

responsibilities of designing appropriate infrastructure and systems as

Control disclosure statement
The Board’s policy on risk management is aligned to ensure that
significant business risks, including operational risks that could give
rise to adverse material or reputational considerations, have been
adequately considered.
The Executive Committee, within its powers as mandated by the Board,
has established a Group-wide system of internal control as well as risk
management processes to manage significant Group risks which, inter
alia, include:

•	Formal operating and strategic planning processes for all businesses
within the entity

•	Annual budgeting and periodic reporting systems for all businesses
which enable the monitoring of progress against financial and
operational performance targets and evaluation of trends

•	Guidelines and limits for approval of capital expenditures and
investments

•	Policies and procedures for the management of operational risk,
financial risk and treasury operations

Furthermore, the Board also requires the Executive Management
Committee and line management to provide reasonable assurances
that the risks associated with the Group’s strategy and objectives
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•	A Code of Ethical Conduct which is applicable to all levels of
employees
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The Board is satisfied that the risk management systems and processes

•	A quarterly review of the Group Operational Risk Reports covering

that have been deployed adequately support the Board in discharging

losses, near-misses, abnormal gains/profits, reputation risks and

its responsibility for ensuring that the risks associated with the entity’s

regulatory matters including the PFMA and King Codes

•	A review of quarterly reports from Security and Investigations

diverse operations are effectively managed.

covering such matters as fraud losses, fraud prevention and

Risk management framework
The Group’s risk management framework is aimed at effectively
identifying, evaluating and managing risk exposures within acceptable
or prudent levels. The Group’s risk management policy and framework
has been formalised and aligned to Paragraph 14 of the National
Treasury Practice, Note 4 of 2009/2010 issued in terms of Section 52
of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) which defines the
organisational risk governance structures and further outlines the
authority and responsibilities of all stakeholders responsible for the
management of risks.

recoveries, anti-money laundering and physical security (this report
will also be tabled at the Board Audit Committee for information
purposes)

•	A review of half-yearly reports on the Group’s risk profile, including
the Top 10 inherent risks, the Top 10 residual risks after controls and
the associated management actions resulting from the review

•	The periodic review of risk assessments to determine material risks
to the Group and evaluating the strategy for managing those and
the appropriateness of management’s responses to those risks

•	Advising the Board on risk aspects (including its commentary on

The risk management framework, which also includes the methodology,
has been established with the objective of deploying a common and
systematic risk management operating standard in accordance with
international best practices across all operational activities within the
SA Post Office Group.

risk in the annual report)

•	Monitoring the entity’s compliance with legal obligations to which its
businesses are subject except for those obligations relating to the
preparation of accounts and integrity of financial systems which are
monitored by the Board’s Audit Committee

•	The monitoring of external developments relating to corporate

During the reporting period, the Group continued to reinforce the

accountability, including emerging and prospective risks, etc

building blocks that have been established in the previous years which
among others, includes:

Executive Committee

•	Strengthening the risk maturity within the entity at all levels by

The Executive Committee ensures that the responsibility for risk

harnessing our risk management culture

management is entrenched at all levels of management and is not

•	Deployment of risk management strategies to the rest of the

only limited to the Accounting Officer. High-level responsibilities of the

organisation in the form of operational strategies, measurable action

Group CEO include, inter alia:

plans and projects

•	Setting the tone at the top by supporting the risk management

•	Rigorous monitoring of the implementation of defined risk
management strategies. This process will also be incorporated and
managed via the performance management process in the coming
years

approach and allocating resources towards the implementation
thereof

•	Establishing the necessary structures and reporting lines within the
entity to support risk management.

•	Continuation of the phased roll out of the Risk Management
automated software across business units. This system, once fully

•	Influencing an institutional “risk awareness” culture
•	Placing the key risks at the forefront of the management agenda

operational, will serve to reduce risk exposures and increase day-

and devoting personal attention to overseeing their effective

to-day accountability within the entit

management

•	Holding management accountable for designing, implementing,

Risk governance structures
The Board has established the Group’s risk management governance
structures, roles and responsibilities, which have been detailed in the
Group’s risk management policy and framework.

monitoring and integrating risk management principles into its
day-to-day activities

•	Ensuring that a conducive control environment exists to ensure that
identified risks are proactively managed

The Board acknowledges the legislative requirements, which define
and direct the risk management responsibilities of the Board Risk
Management Committee, the executive management, management
and employees as contained in the Public Finance Management Act
(Act 1 of 1999 as amended by Act 29 of 1999 (PFMA)).

•	Providing all relevant stakeholders with the necessary assurance
that key risks are properly identified, assessed, mitigated and
monitored

•	Providing appropriate leadership and guidance to senior
management and structures responsible for various aspects of risk
management, etc

Risk Management Committee
In accordance with its charter and as mandated by the Board, the Risk

All Group executives, business unit heads and management at all levels

Management Committee is, inter alia, responsible for overseeing and

have been duly mandated and are required to develop, implement

monitoring the entity’s approved policies and procedures in relation to

and maintain a risk management plan for their respective areas of

the management and control of the following:

responsibility and accountability.

•	The review and assessment of the effectiveness of the risk
management systems to ensure that risk policies and strategies are

Group Risk Management

appropriately managed

The effective management of risk is central to the achievement of the

•	The review of the adequacy of insurance coverage

strategic objectives of the SA Post Office. In the context of applying
the Group’s Risk Management Policy and Strategy, Group Risk
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Sustainability report continued
Risk management report continued
Management is primarily tasked with the responsibility of facilitating the
deployment and embedding of risk management principles across the
Group, including all business unit activities. Group Risk Management
assists in the execution of the risk management process; accountability
for the implementation of risk management ultimately remains with
management and employees across the entity.
Group Internal Audit
The Group’s Internal Audit function is charged with the responsibility
of providing an independent and objective assurance to the Board
through the Audit Committee on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management, governance and internal control processes.
The primary scope of Internal Audit with regard to assurance includes:

•	Evaluating the reliability and integrity of information and the means
used to identify measure, classify, and report such information

•	Evaluating the systems established to ensure compliance with
policies and procedures, plans and legislation which could have a
significant impact on the Group

•	Evaluating the means of safeguarding assets and, as appropriate,
verifying the existence of such assets

•	Evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency with which resources are
employed

•	Evaluating operations or programmes to ascertain whether results
are consistent with established objectives and goals and whether
the operations or programmes are being carried out as planned

•	Monitoring and evaluating governance processes
•	Monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management processes
ALCO
The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee (ALCO) further
strengthens the risk management structure and is tasked with the
management of treasury risk. ALCO is responsible for recommending
to the Board of Directors prudent asset/liability management policies
and procedures that enable SA Post Office to achieve its main
objectives while operating in full compliance with the organisation’s
risk tolerance, the PFMA and treasury regulations. The committee’s
key responsibilities include the management of financial risks including
interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit and foreign exchange risk.
Group compliance
The effect of non-compliance has been assessed and quantified
to have an adverse impact on the organisation’s reputation as well
as unwarranted penalty fees. The Board is therefore committed
to complying in all material respects with the relevant codes,
legislative and regulatory requirements. The SA Post Office Group
fully subscribes to, and is fully committed to, complying with all the
applicable and relevant Acts, regulations, the King Codes, as well
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as codes of corporate practice. In addition, the entity performs an
annual review of the compliance universe which is not only limited
to applicable laws, but also extends to non-binding rules, policies
and codes.
The Group, to the best of its knowledge, information and belief,
complied with and continues to comply with applicable legislation
including policies, procedures and codes of governance for the period
under review.

Major risks
The key strategic risks faced by the organisation relate to the following:
•	The information and technology infrastructure
•	Sustainability

•	Business continuity management
•	Human capital management
•	Postbank corporatisation
•	Crime and fraud
•	Impact of economic contraction on costs and revenue
•	Failed internal control processes

Environmental sustainability report
The SA Post Office remains committed to combating global warming
and climate change by being an environmentally responsible company
and contributing to the environmental wellbeing of South Africa.
This commitment was demonstrated in 2008 when the Board of
Directors approved the SA Post Office Group’s Environmental Policy.
Our environmental policy has six pillars:
1. Protecting and enhancing the environment
2. Avoiding adverse effects on the environment
3. Using and managing resources efficiently
4. Considering environmental issues early
5. Contributing to sustainable outcomes by partnering with others
6. Continuous improvement of environmental performance
Environmental strategy
In 2009, the Executive Committee of the SA Post Office approved
the environmental strategy which was guided by the approved
environmental policy.
The company’s environmental strategy has five pillars which are:
1. Protecting the environment
2. Minimising impact on the environment
3. Utilising non-renewable resources in a sustainable way
4. Pursuing sustainable management practices
5.	Participating in the national debate surrounding sustainable
development
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Implementation status of the company’s plans
Goal

Action

Implementation status

Measure the company’s carbon
emissions

Carbon dioxide emissions from the company’s fleet
are tracked on a monthly basis

A carbon tracking model has been developed which
has a dashboard to track monthly carbon emissions

Identify methods to reduce the
company’s carbon emissions

Testing of the applicability of electric scooters to
deliver mail

A pilot study was undertaken in the northern region
to test the applicability of electric scooters to deliver
mail

Develop a carbon off-set programme

857 trees were procured and planted nationwide to
offset 2.5% of emissions

The actual emission for 2010/2011 was 30.34
KtCO2e and for 2011/2012, 29.67 KtCO2e, the
emissions were reduced by 0.67 KtCO2e

Baseline the company’s electricity
consumption

Monthly tracking and logging of mail centre’s energy The tracking and logging is at the final stage, 2009
data from 2009 has been conducted
will be used as a baseline year for the organisation’s
electricity consumption
Tshwane Mail Centre’s energy consumption has
been tracked and logged on a monthly basis

4.7% of energy was saved at the Tshwane Mail
Centre, the target set was exceeded by 1.7%

Smart meters to be installed at all mail centres to
validate and monitor the energy consumption of the
mail centres

A proposal is awaiting approval by management for
funding to roll out the smart metering system at the
mail centres

Identify initiatives to reduce electricity
consumption

An Energy Performance Contracting agreement
has been signed between Eskom and SA Post
Office in providing energy solutions in lighting and
showerheads in all SA Post Office buildings

The first phase of the lighting solution commenced
in April 2012 at the Tshwane Mail Centre and will
continue in all SA Post Office-owned buildings

Baseline the company’s fossil fuel
consumption

Fossil fuel consumption tracked on a monthly basis

A dashboard has been created to track fuel
consumption on a monthly basis

Introduce an effective recycling
programme for paper

There is a national service agreement to recycle
waste paper with Nampak

The recycling programme is on-going nationwide

Participate in energy efficiency

The SA Post Office signed an Energy Efficiency
Leadership accord in December 2011

SA Post Office is committed to reducing energy
consumption and the impact of our scope to the
environment

Participate in the Carbon Disclosure
Project (CDP)

The SA Post Office was commended during the
launch of CDP 2009 as one of the leading Stateowned enterprises in issues of climate change

The SA Post Office participated fully in the CDP of
2011. We sponsored the 2011 Carbon Disclosure
Project launch
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Sustainability report continued
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) performance
indicators: Environmental awareness

Water consumption

Materials

As a result, the water requirements did not significantly affect water

The SA Post Office uses a large quantity of paper for its services

resources.

and office operations. The company’s printing facilities at Hybrid Mail
Centres process considerable quantities of paper for external clients.

The SA Post Office used potable water for social purposes only.

A cost-benefit analysis was done for a rainwater harvesting system
but a more detailed analysis is required to decide whether the project

The consumption for the 2010/2011 and 2011/2012 financial years

is worth it. The water programme is under further investigation and a

was 385.47 tons and 547.52 tons respectively. The internal paper

water control system technology is being looked into to manage and

consumption has increased by 42%.

control the organisation’s water consumption.

However, in the 2010/2011 financial year, 649.34 tons were recycled.

Air pollution

For the 2011/2012 financial year, 687.46 tons of paper were recycled.

Carbon dioxide is the most critical greenhouse gas and constitutes

This means we are below target by 27% as the aim is to recycle 45%

80% of all greenhouse gases. The carbon dioxide we measure is mainly

more paper than the previous year, which means we have to recycle

from the combustion of fuel (diesel and petrol) from fleet operations.

941 tons of paper.

During the 2010/2011 financial year, SA Post Office emitted 30.34

In terms of revenue generated from the paper recycled, we generated

KtCO2e (Kilotons carbon dioxide equivalent) compared to 29.67 Kt

R227 269 and R240 610 for the 2010/2011 and 2011/2012 financial

CO2e in the 2011/2012 financial year. The aim is to reduce emissions

years respectively. The revenue of actual paper recycled for 2011/2012

by 2.5%, which means that we should not emit more than the threshold

was increased by R13 341.

of 29.58KtCO2e. The Post Office has emitted 29.67 KtCO2e. We have
achieved 2.2% reduction instead of 2.5%, 0.3% of the target could

Energy

not be met.

The SA Post Office Group has no measured total energy consumption
for 2012. The initial focus has been placed on the mail centres and we

Note: The fleet emissions do not include those for CFG and Speed

will progressively include all retail outlets and regional offices. Tracking

Services.

and logging of data is being conducted on a monthly basis. However,
the Tshwane Mail Centre’s energy consumption has been tracked and
logged on a monthly basis to control and monitor the performance to
be achieved compared to the target of a 3% reduction of the energy
usage annually.
The results of the Tshwane Mail Centre’s energy consumption is as
follows:
•	The target set for 2011/2012 was 8 498 836 KWH; the actual
energy consumed was 8 346 692 KWH. This is captured
actual bills.
•	The mail centre saved 4.7% of the energy usage, the saving
exceeded the target by 1.7%.
Initiatives to reduce indirect energy consumption and reductions
achieved
We have entered into an agreement with Eskom, which has been
signed into an Eskom Energy Performance Contracting Programme to
provide energy-efficient solutions in all SA Post Office-owned buildings.
The programme will focus on the following:
•	Lighting solutions in all the buildings which are contracted to
Congretrix Energy (Pty) Ltd to retrofit all lights with energy-efficient
lights.
•	Showerhead solutions which are contracted to Magnet which will
retrofit all buildings with energy- and water-efficient showerheads.
•	The programme is being conducted in phases. The first phase is the
retrofit at the mail centres which will be expanded to other SA Post
Office-owned buildings.
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Discharge of water into soil, groundwater and municipal waste
stream
Waste water originating from SA Post Office operations is communal in
nature – water is not used for operations. Waste water is produced only
by canteens, showers, sewers and basins. This goes directly into the
relevant municipal waste water treatment plants for treatment.
Transport
Transport is a major environmental factor for operations at the SA Post
Office because mail is forwarded mainly by road.
The company has implemented a number of initiatives to reduce its
impact on the environment. These are:
•	Replacing petrol-driven vehicles with diesel-driven ones as diesel is
more efficient.
•	Replacing two-stroke motorcycles with modern four-stroke units
which are more fuel-efficient.
•	Fitment of “Safe Stop” for heavy commercial vehicles to prevent
over-speeding, over-revving of engines and unnecessary idling of
vehicles.
The SA Post Office conducted a pilot programme for five electric
scooters in the northern region. The scooters were sourced but will
only be piloted in 2012/2013.
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SA Post Office fleet indicators
Indicator
Number of vehicles
Number of petrol-driven vehicles
Number of diesel-driven vehicles
Number of National Line Haul (NLH) vehicles (diesel)
Number of electric vehicles
Total road transport
Fuel consumption – petrol
Fuel consumption – diesel
Fuel consumption National Line Haul – diesel
Total fuel consumption
Average fuel consumption – scooters
Average fuel consumption – passenger petrol
Average fuel consumption – passenger diesel
Average fuel consumption – commercial diesel
Average fuel consumption – commercial petrol
Average fuel consumption NLH – diesel

Unit

2010/2011

2011/2012

Change
year-on-year

number
number
number
number
number
Km
L
L
L
L
l/100km
l/100km
l/100km
l/100km
l/100km
l/100km

1 452
1 084
368
66
0
42 065 588
4 171 805.6
1 978 956.4
6 000 000
6 150 762
4.82
9.19
11.93
11.34
12.95
45.45

1 410
989
469
54
5
44 752 140.7
2 764 153.7
3 051 687.01
6 595 104
5 815 840.71
4.42
7.74
11.09
11.16
12.77
46.74

42
95
101
12
5
2 686 552.7
1 407 651.9
1 072 730.6
595 104
334 921.3
0.4
1.45
0.84
0.18
0.18
1.29

Environmental protection expenditure and investments
•	R167 096.03 was spent on five E-max electric scooters – the cost includes procurement of scooters, shipping, brackets and postal boxes and
registering them with the SABS, operational costs of the pilot and the monthly maintenance fee.
•	R60 000 to plant 857 trees as a carbon-offset measure.
•	R350 000 for the Climate Change Leadership Awards.
The SA Post Office will invest in the following activities in the new financial year:
•	Rolling out automated meters to all mail centres.
•	Progressive and gradual implementation of an energy-efficiency solution at all mail centres.
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Sustainability report continued
Sustainability reporting guidelines
The 2007/08 annual report was the first to contain a sustainability report for the Group. The SA Post Office is committed to complying with all Corporate
Governance practices and will continue to strive for improvement in its practices in order to build on the organisation’s long-term sustainability. A full
GRI content index and compliance level is detailed below to assist stakeholders to easily access information directly. The boundaries have been
defined as per the table below. This is in line with the King III report on good governance.
GRI element
Reporting disclosure

Report section or sub-section (explanatory comment)

Strategy and analysis
1.1

1.2

Statement from most senior executive

Key risks and opportunities

3

Chairperson’s report (page 20)

3

Group CEO’s report (page 24)

3

CFO’s report (page 27)

5

COO’s report*

3

Risk management report (page 52)

Organisational profile
2.1

Name of organisation

3

Directors’ report (pages 93 – 97)

2.2

Primary brands

3

Post Office brand (page 2)

2.3

Operational structure

3

Business model (page 5)

3

Operational reach (page 4)

2.4

Location of headquarters

3

Directors’ report (pages 93 – 97)

3

Back cover

2.5

Number of countries where organisation operates

3

Logistics operational report (page 36)

2.6

Nature of ownership and legal form

3

Corporate Governance (page 40)

2.7

Market and sectors served

3

Sustainability report (pages 64 – 67)

2.8

Scale of organisation

3

Directors’ report (pages 93 – 97)

2.9

Significant changes during reporting period

3

Business model (page 5)

2.10

Awards received

3

Industry recognition (page 2)

Report parameters
Report profile
3.1

Reporting period

3

Auditors’ report (pages 84 – 87)

3.2

Date of most recent previous report

3

Directors’ report (pages 93 –97)

3.4

Contact point for questions regarding report or content

3

Back cover of report

Report scope and boundary
3.5

Materiality framework and identification of stakeholders

3

Sustainability report (page 51), Materiality framework

3.6

Boundaries of report

3

Sustainability report (page 64)

3.7

Basis for reporting on joint ventures, subsidiaries, leased and
outsourced operations

3

Notes to financial statements (pages 102 – 169)

3

Sustainability framework (page 64)

3

Auditor’s report (pages 84 – 87)

GRI Content Index
3.10

Table identifying the location of disclosures
Assurance

3.11

External assurance

3 Full compliance    5 No compliance   

58

∆ Partial compliance

59

GRI element
Reporting disclosure

Report section or sub-section (explanatory comment)

Governance, commitments and
engagements structures
Governance
4.1

Governance structures

3

Corporate Governance report (pages 40 – 51)

4.2

Position of Chair

3

Corporate Governance report (pages 40 – 51)

4.3

Members of governance bodies

3

Corporate Governance report (pages 40 – 51)

4.4

Mechanisms to provide recommendations to governance bodies

3

Corporate Governance report (pages 40 – 51)

4.5

Linkage between governance bodies compensation and
organisation’s performance

3

Corporate Governance (pages 40 – 51)

4.6

Avoidance of conflict of interest

3

Corporate Governance report (pages 40 – 51)

4.7

Qualifications and expertise

3

Board of Directors (pages 18 – 19)

4.8

Vision, mission, values and code of conduct statements

3

Table of contents

4.9

 overnance bodies overseeing practices regarding performance, 3
G
opportunities, compliance, code of conduct and principles

Corporate Governance report (pages 40 – 51)

4.10

Evaluating own performance at highest governance level

3

Performance highlights (page 18)

3

Group key performance indicators (pages 9 – 15)

3

Auditors’ report (pages 84 – 87)

3

Sustainability report (pages 64 – 67)

Commitment to external initiatives
4.11

Economic, environmental and social charters or policies
Stakeholder engagement

4.12

List of stakeholders

3

Sustainability report (pages 64 – 67)

4.13

Identification and selection of stakeholders

3

Sustainability report (pages 64 – 67)

4.14

Approach to stakeholder engagement

3

Sustainability report (pages 64 – 67)

Key topics and concerns

3

Sustainability report (pages 64 – 67)

4.15

Management approach and performance indicators
Economic performance indicators
Economic performance
EC1

Economic value generated and distributed

5

Value added statement

EC2

Financial implications, risk and opportunities

3

Risk management report (pages 52 – 54)

EC3

Defined benefit plan

3

Financial statements (pages 88 – 169)

EC4

Significant financial assistance received from Government

3

Directors’ report (pages 93 – 97)

Market presence
EC5

Standard entry-level wage compared to local minimum wage

3

Corporate Governance (pages 40 – 51)

EC6

Locally-based suppliers

3

Sustainability report (pages 64 – 67)

EC7

Procedures for local hiring

3

Sustainability report (pages 64 – 67)

Indirect economic impacts
EC8

Development and impact of infrastructure investment and
services for public benefit

5

COO’s report*

EC9

 nderstanding and describing significant indirect economic
U
impact and extent of impacts

5

COO’s report*

3

Sustainability report (pages 55 – 57)

3

Sustainability report (pages 55 – 57)

3

Sustainability report (pages 55 – 57)

3

Sustainability report (pages 55 – 57)

Environmental performance indicators
Materials
EN2

Percentage of material used that is recycled
Energy

EN3

Direct energy consumption by primary energy source

EN6&7 Initiatives to provide or reduce energy consumption
Water
EN8

Total water withdrawal by source

* COO position is vacant
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Sustainability report continued

GRI element
Reporting disclosure

Report section or sub-section (explanatory comment)

Compliance
3

Sustainability report (pages 55 – 57)

EN29 Significant environmental impact of transporting goods used in the 3
organisation’s operations

Sustainability report (pages 55 – 57)

EN28 Monetary value of significant fines and total number of nonmonetary sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws
and regulations
Transport

Reporting disclosure
Social performance indicators
Employment
LA1

Total workforce by employment type and region

3

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

LA2

 otal number and rate of employee turnover by age group, gender 3
T
and region

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

LA3

Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not provided to
temporary or part-time employees

3

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

Percentage of employees covered by collective bargaining
agreements

3

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

Minimum notice period as specified in collective agreements

3

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

Labour/management relations
LA4
LA5

Occupational health and safety
LA6

Percentage of total workforce represented in formal joint
management/worker health and safety committees

5

LA7

Rates of injuries, lost days and absenteeism

3

LA8

Educational, training, counselling, prevention and risk-control
programmes in place to assist employees

LA9

Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements with labour 5
unions

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

Education and training
LA10 Average hours of training per year, per employee

3

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

LA11 Programmes for skills management and lifelong learning

3

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

LA12 Employees receiving regular performance and career development 3
reviews

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

Diversity and equal opportunity
LA13 Employee equity

3

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

LA14 Ratio of basic salary of men to women by category

3

Sustainability report (pages 69 –78)

Human rights performance indicators
Investment and procurement practices
HR1

Percentage and total number of significant investment agreements 5
that include human rights clauses

HR2

 ercentage of significant suppliers and contractors that have
P
undergone screening on human rights

5

HR3

Total hours of employee training on policies and procedures
concerning aspects of human rights

5

Non-discrimination
HR4

Total number of incidents of discrimination and actions taken

5

Freedom of association and collective bargaining
HR5

Operations identified in which the right to exercise freedom of
5
association and collective bargaining may be at significant risk and
actions taken to support these rights

3 Full compliance    5 No compliance   

60

∆ Partial compliance
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GRI element

HR6

HR7

HR8

HR9

SO1

Reporting disclosure
Child labour
Policies and measures taken to eliminate child labour

Report section or sub-section (explanatory comment)
5

Human rights performance indicators continued
Forced and compulsory labour
Policies and measures taken to eliminate forced or compulsory
labour
Labour
Security practices
Percentage of security personnel trained in the organisation’s
policies or procedures concerning aspects of human rights
Indigenous rights
Total number of incidents of violations involving rights of
indigenous people and actions taken
Society performance indicators
Community
Nature, scope of programmes

5

5

5

PR2

3
Corruption
Percentage and total number of business units analysed for risks 3
related to corruption
Percentage of employees trained in the Group’s anticorruption3
policies
Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption
3
Public policy
Public policy positions and participation in public policy
3
development and lobbying
Total value of financial and in-kind contributions to political parties,
politicians and related institutions
Anti-competitive behaviour
Total number of legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour,
anti-trust, monopoly practices and their outcomes compliance
Monetary value of significant fines and total number of non3
monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws and regulations
Product responsibility performance indicators
Customer health and safety
Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations
3

PR4

Products and service labelling
Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations

SO2
SO3
SO4
SO5
SO6

SO7
SO8

PR5

PR6

PR7

PR8
PR9

Practices related to customer satisfaction including results of
surveys measuring customer satisfaction
Marketing communications
Adherence to laws, standards and voluntary codes relating to
marketing communications including advertising, promotions and
sponsorships
Total number of incidents of non-compliance with laws, standards
and voluntary codes of practice
Customer privacy
Total number of substantiated complaints regarding breaches of
customer privacy
Monetary value of significant fines for non-compliance

Sustainability report (pages 79 – 80)
Risk management report (pages 52 – 54)
Risk management report (pages 52 – 54)
Sustainability report (pages 52 – 54)
Sustainability report (pages 52 – 54)

Financial statement (pages 88 – 169)

3

Financial statements (pages 142 – 143)

3

Brand repositioning (page 2)

3

3

5
3

Financial statements (pages 88 – 169)

Towards maturity of sustainability reporting
The SA Post Office’s sustainability performance is inextricably linked to its Corporate Governance practices. We continue in our four years of
sustainability reporting with the principle of GR (3) sustainability reporting as a global trade benchmark, while also taking into account the unique
South African landscape. Therefore, no re-statements regarding sustainability were or are required.
To deliver on this commitment, the SA Post Office is embedding a culture of sustainability by integrating sustainability management into its strategies,
accounting, performance management and reporting processes.
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Sustainability report continued
Measurement framework
Build a high performance culture and
develop skills throughout the organisation

Be Government’s preferred partner for

Drive operational excellence to achieve

economic enablement within products and

top quality product services at benchmark

services offerings and in the delivery of
Government services

Engaging stakeholders for mutual growth
Strengthen the public perception of the

Contribute to the environment by

SA Post Office as a trusted brand

introducing responsible, environmentally
friendly business and social practices

Achieve customer intimacy and use this to
grow mail, logistics and financial services
business units

Accountability and governance

62
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Sound accountability and governance
As part of the SA Post Office’s strategic objectives to improve Corporate Governance, the Board of Directors adopted a holistic focus on accountability
and governance.

Board governance
Executing the fiduciary duties of directors in directing
the SA Post Office in the pursuit
of its strategic objectives and mandates.

Ethical culture
Sharing in the values and ethics by which the SA Post
Office operates by disclosing our actions to
manage the risks to which the SA Post Office is exposed.

Executive management
Executing and managing the operation of the strategic
objectives, licence targets and
social mandate in a proper and lawful way.

Enterprise risk management
Disclosing and regularly updating the SA Post Office’s
risk management framework, which informs
the risk management process and execution.

Compliance management
Acknowledging the laws, rules, licence targets and standards
governing the SA Post Office actions
and disclosing the SA Post Office’s compliance to these

Legal management
Managing the legal exposure and mitigating legal risk
to ensure sound legal governance processes.

to the shareholder and Regulator.

Assurance management
Giving assurance through the disclosure of the SA Post
Office’s internal and external environment.

Sustainability platform
Developing a sustainability framework and reporting progress on
the SA Post Office’s approach in a way that integrates sustainability
issues into the manner in which the SA Post Office operates.

Stakeholder engagement
Acknowledging the SA Post Office stakeholders
and disclosing the Group’s actions
to seek a mutually beneficial relationship.

Business intelligence
Sharing information on the SA Post Office’s business
processes in a credible and consistent way to assist in collecting and
analysing business information.

Communication and reporting
Communicating the SA Post Office’s performance in a
clear and transparent way on a monthly, quarterly and annual basis.

Transformation
Highlighting the actions required to transform the Group into
focused business units.
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Sustainability report continued
Engaging stakeholders for mutual benefit
The SA Post Office continuously seeks to engage in collaborative working relationships with its stakeholders. The Group Chief Executive Officer,
through the Executive Committee, is responsible for coordinating engagements with key stakeholders.
We identify stakeholders as any group that has a vested interest in the way the SA Post Office conducts its business or related activities. Some
parties, like our employees and the communities in which we operate, are directly and personally affected by our actions on a daily basis. Their
economic stability, livelihood, health, safety and future depend to a large extent on the success of the SA Post Office. There are other stakeholders
who may not be so directly, personally or immediately impacted, but whose stake in the SA Post Office is no less significant. These include our
suppliers, customers and the shareholder.
Sustainability
principle aimed
at creating
shareholder
value

The principal
issues identified
as material
concerns to
stakeholders

Key stakeholders
Shareholder
and Portfolio
Committee

Economic
sustainability

Financial
management

Achieving returns
greater than the
cost of capital

Marketplace
and customer
management
Operations
management
Supply
management and
BBBEE

Regulator

In the Group’s
everyday financial,
marketplace,
operational
and supply
management, the
SA Post Office
complies with
amongst others,
the Postal Act;
International
Financial Reporting
Standards;
Targets are set for Broad-Based
each KPI and are Black Economic
Empowerment Act;
contained in the
annual Corporate the Competition
Act; the Auditing
Strategic Plans
Profession Act and
various other Acts
and regulations
The shareholder
seeks an
appropriate return
on investment.
Key performance
indicators (KPIs)
have been agreed
upon with the
shareholder and
are contained in
the shareholder’s
Compact

Suppliers

Labour unions
and employees

Through improving
its operational
efficiency, the SA
Post Office seeks
to provide its
customers with a
reliable service and
to establish values
creating growth
opportunities for its
suppliers

Solid financial
performance, a
stable marketplace
and operational
efficiency create
the foundation
for a workplace
where the
Group balances
performance and
reward

The Group’s
suppliers expect
procurement
processes that are
ethical, efficient
and transparent
At the SA Post
Office, preferential
procurement
is a business
imperative
The SA Post Office
further intends to
implement sound
strategic sourcing
partnerships with
key suppliers
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Communities

Customers

Media and public

Broad-based
black economic
empowerment
purchasing is
done from local
suppliers

The SA Post
Office’s brand
value is greatly
determined by
public perception

Mutually beneficial
co-existence
depends on the
Group’s business
sustainability

The key to its
success therefore
lies firmly in its
ability to achieve
sound financial
returns, secure
its market
share, enhance
operational
efficiency
improvement
and strengthen
its supply chain
management

The SA Post
Office will engage
in enterprise
development
initiatives as a part
of its adoption of
the BBBEE Codes
of Good Practice
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Sustainability
principle aimed
at creating
shareholder
value

The principal
issues identified
as material
concerns to
stakeholders

Key stakeholders
Shareholder
and Portfolio
Committee

Social
sustainability

People
management

Creating a
workplace where
people can excel

Change,
transformation and
culture
Employment equity
Skills development
Talent management
Performance and
reward
Productivity and
efficiency
Employee relations
Employee wellness
and HIV/Aids
Employee safety

Regulator

In line with the
country’s policies,
the SA Post Office
seeks to create
an organisation
that is reflective
of the diversity of
the South African
society and which
contributes to
maximising the
human resources
potential of its
people

The SA
Post Office’s
human capital
management
is governed by
compliance with,
amongst others,
the Occupational
Health and
Safety Act; the
Compensation
for Occupational
Injuries and
Diseases Act; the
Basic Conditions of
The SA Post
Employment Act;
Office continues
the Employment
to participate
Equity Act; the
in the country’s
Labour Relations
developmental
Act; and the
initiatives such
Promotion of
as the Joint
Equality and
Initiative on Priority Prevention of Unfair
Skills Acquisition Discrimination Act
(Jipsa) and the
Accelerated and
Shared Growth
Initiative for South
Africa (Asgisa)

Suppliers

Labour unions
and employees

The SA Post
Office’s customers
are constantly
taking note of the
Group’s ability to
secure a stable
marketplace
enabled by a
suitably skilled,
motivated and
productive
workforce

The SA Post Office
is dedicated to
the training and
development of
its human capital,
thus providing
its people with
a sustainable
business and
achieving an
“employer of
choice” status

Healthy relations
between the SA
Post Office’s staff
and suppliers form
the backbone of
efficient service
delivery

The Group
constantly seeks
to establish
opportunities
for career
advancement, and
provides bursaries
and other skills
development
programmes to its
employees

Developing
accessible
infrastructure
Repositioning the
SA Post Office
brand
Establishing
good customer
relationships
Corporate social
investment

Infrastructure
development is a
major investment
area to address
accessibility to
Government
services

In infrastructure
development, the
SA Post Office
strives to
comply with
agreed Regulator
requirements

Customers

With its vast
infrastructure and
footprint, the SA
Post Office is able
to employ people
from the local
communities

The SA Post
Office values the
importance of the
investment in a
sound working
relationship with
its employees and
labour unions

Planning the
infrastructure
includes the
engagement of
the community
and provides
accessibility to
financial, mail and
logistical services
as well as access
to Government
services

Through planning
infrastructure, the
SA Post Office
seeks to involve
customers to
ensure they are
aware of a new
development and
are able to identify
this as a new
service point

Media and public

The extended
families of the
SA Post Office’s
employees are
dependent not
only on the
livelihood provided
by job security, but
also on extended
Organised labour roll-out of its
is an integral
employee wellness
component of a and HIV/Aids
well-managed
programmes
organisation
and the Group
is dedicated to
building its working
relationship based
on mutual dignity,
trust and respect

The safety of the
SA Post Office’s
employees is
of paramount
importance and
the compliance
with Occupational
Health and Safety
Act (OHSA)
management
is central to the
Enterprise Risk
Management
(ERM) framework
and capital
investment
programmes

The SA Post Office
regards acquisition
and the retention
of critical skills
as central to the
success of its
strategy execution

Caring for our
stakeholders

Communities

The investment
in infrastructure
provides the
vehicle to
grow BBBEE
participation

Creates new job
opportunities and
skills development
through which the
SA Post Office can
deliver operational
excellence

The SA Post Office
communicates
infrastructure
development
regularly to the
Parliamentary
Portfolio
Committee to
ensure public
support. The
opening of new
offices is also
communicated

International and
Africa support
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Sustainability report continued
ENGAGING STAKEHOLDERS FOR MUTUAL BENEFIT (continued)
Sustainability
principle aimed
at creating
shareholder
value

The principal
issues identified
as material
concerns to
stakeholders

Key stakeholders
Shareholder
and Portfolio
Committee

CSI

Corporate social
investment

The SA Post Office
has adopted a
Caring for the
corporate social
communities
Community impact investment (CSI)
where we operate and public health policy and will
and safety
focus on social
developmental
initiatives

Suppliers

Communities

Customers

Media and public

In its interactions
with society the
SA Post Office
seeks compliance
with relevant laws
including the
BBBEE Act

Prospective and
SA Post Office
current customers employees are
dependent on
Seek best practice job security, fair
in social conduct remuneration
when entering
and career
into a business
advancement
relationship
opportunities
to fulfil their
The economic
responsibilities to
development of the society
SA Post Office’s
suppliers as well
as the safety
management ability
are key focus areas
of the Group’s
supply chain
management

To support the
communities
impacted by
SA Post Office
operations, the
Group is improving
the integration
of CSI initiatives,
as well as rolling
out a pro-active
volunteerism
campaign

The South African
public’s perception
of the SA Post
Office, as a
good corporate
citizen, is largely
influenced by its
response to social
and universal
service obligation
issues

The South African
public’s perception
of the SA Post
Office as a good
corporate citizen is
largely influenced
by its response
to social and
universal service
obligation issues

Compliance with
all applicable
laws, rules and
standards and
adherence to
the requirements
of ICASA are
central to the
SA Post Office’s
broader Corporate
Governance and
enterprise risk
management

Continued
growth of the
Group’s market is
inextricably linked
to the needs and
expectations of its
customers

The business
has an impact on
the communities
where it operates.
The SA Post
Office strives
to demonstrate
to communities
that the Group
values principles
of sustainability
and has adopted
triple bottom line
reporting

Engaging
customers to
better understand
their unique needs
takes various
forms, which
include meetings
with the Group

The SA Post Office
interacts with
these stakeholders
through:
• Press
conferences
• Media breakfasts
• Press releases
and all other
recognised
methods

It will further
promote employee
volunteerism
projects amongst
its employees.
These will be
monitored and
reported as part
of its commitment
to triple bottom
line performance
reporting
Assuring
Board governance
accountability
and governance Executive
management
Strategy and
transformation
Ethical culture
Enterprise risk
management
Compliance
management
Business
intelligence
Sustainability
Communication
reporting
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The SA
Post Office’s
shareholder, the
Government of
the Republic of
South Africa, as
represented by
the Minister of
Communications,
requires the Board
and management
of the Group
to carry out
their duties and
responsibilities
in a manner that
is consistent
with principles of
sound Corporate
Governance
and vigilant risk
management focus

Labour unions
and employees

Regulator

Value-adding
communication
tools used in the
Group’s daily
interaction with its
people:
• Business
Performance
To suppliers,
Review
BBBEE
Forum (BPRF)
compliance, proper meetings;
governance,
• Weekly
ethical conduct
National
and contract
business
The SA Post Office management are
monitoring
seeks to maintain key concerns
meetings (NCC);
a constructive
• Take notes via
and transparent
email system –
working
Internet/intranet;
relationship with
• Newsletters;
its Regulator and
and
other Government
• Letters from the
departments
Group CEO

The South African
public credit
rating agencies
and the media
are particularly
focused on the
Group’s ability
to deliver on its
commitments
as set out in its
strategic plan
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Sustainability
principle aimed
at creating
shareholder
value

The principal
issues identified
as material
concerns to
stakeholders

Key stakeholders
Shareholder
and Portfolio
Committee

Assuring
accountability
and governance
(continued)

The Group
provides to the
shareholder,
prior to the
commencement of
each financial year,
an enterprise risk
management plan,
fraud prevention
plan, shareholder’s
compact and
materiality
framework

Regulator

Suppliers

To enhance
interaction with
the Regulator,
a Governance
Unit has been
established in the
Office of the Group
Chief Executive
Officer

Labour unions
and employees
The SA Post
Office’s employees
and organised
labour need to
be assured of the
proper governance
and ethical
management of
the business

Communities

Customers

The SA Post
Office seeks
engagement with
such communities
through, amongst
others:
• Awareness
campaigns
• Employee
volunteerism
initiatives

• Customer
satisfaction
feedback/reports
• Engagement
meetings
• Fact sheets,
pamphlets and
newsletters

An environmental
focus will instil
a culture of
accountability for
the environment
on which the
company impacts
through its
operations

The perception
of the SA Post
Office as a good
corporate citizen
is influenced by
its responsible
management of
environmental
issues

Through the
shareholder’s
Compact, the
Group and the
shareholder
Minister agree
on performance
targets. In
addition there are
quarterly, interim
and annual reports
on the Group’s
performance
Caring for our
environment

Develop a SA
Post Office
environmental
policy and
measurement
criteria

Compliance with
all legislation
relating to the
environmental
impact of the
Group’s operations
forms part of the
governance focus

The Group
strives to ensure
compliance with
all environmental
legislation which
impacts on its
operations, e.g.
the National
Environmental
Management Act

Best practice in
environmental
management
builds trust in the
Group’s business
relationships

Being an employer
of choice also
implies instilling
a culture of
accountability for
the environment
on which the
In its relationship Group impacts
with its suppliers, through its
the SA Post Office operations
can play a crucial
empowerment role
in environmental
awareness and
conduct

Media and public

The SA Post Office
interacts with
these stakeholders
through:
• One-on-one
interviews and
roadshows

The SA Post
Office shares the
communities’
responsibility for
its responsible
management of
environmental
issues
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Sustainability report continued
Developing infrastructure
Capital investment programmes are aligned to the SA Post Office strategy and procurement in line with broader policies, procedures
and the materiality framework.

Accountability and governance

Planning as per

Business case

Strategic Corporate Plan

Prevetting to ensure

ProCapex evaluation

strategic alignment

and recommendation

Governance*

EXCO
Board of Directors
Minister
Procurement Process

Capital programmes
The SA Post Office continues to invest in infrastructure for efficient service delivery, operational excellence and customer satisfaction.
The Government subsidy is supplemented with profits made and used for investment in infrastructure.
The table below shows actual and committed infrastructure expenditure.

2011/2012

R161,804,680

2010/2011

R176,599,789

Funds were used to upgrade SA Post Office buildings in line with OHSA requirements
Freehold land and buildings

and to expand the number of post office branches nationally as outlined in SA Post
Office’s mandate with Government.

R70,271,450
Machinery and equipment

Funds were used primarily for purchasing mail and parcel-handling equipment.

R53,513,100
Information technology

* In terms of materiality framework and delegation of authority framework.
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R87,297,251

R108,570,556

Funds were used for software and for upgrading the IT infrastructure.
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Creating an appeal through
employee value proposition
(EVP)

Human capital management
While our employees remain the biggest differentiator from our
competition, there is a need to describe the mix of our employee
offerings, be it through the benefits we offer, the actual workplace and
ways of working in the organisation. There is a dire need to package
our value proposition in a way that appeals to current and potential
employees. An employee value proposition is therefore an important
attractor and retainer of sought-after talent.

Workforce movements as at 31 March 2012
As reflected in the diagram below, the total number of staff for the
Group, including CFG, stood at 15 546 employees. In comparison with
the 15 917 reported in the previous financial year, the workforce has
decreased by 2.33%. This translates to 371 employees. This drop in
numbers can be attributed to the anticipated new workforce model for
the Group, due to be implemented later during 2012.

As part of the value proposition, the SA Post Office will continue to
nurture talent through appropriate talent management strategies and
will systematically improve the working environment so that everyone
experiences it as the best place to work. While the SA Post Office’s
business strategy provides the direction for its efforts, it is the people
in the company who will seal the success of the organisation. Recent
successes are the result of the outstanding commitment and focus of
employees at different levels of the organisation.

Workforce movements
2011/03/31
102

833

2012/03/31
96

295

792

223

CFG non-permanent
CFG permanent
SAPO non-permanent
SAPO permanent

14 435

14 687

Employee group
CFG permanent

2011/03/31

2012/03/31

833

792

CFG non-permanent

102

96

Sapo non-permanent

295

223

14 687

14 435

Sapo permanent
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Sustainability report continued
Human capital management continued
Employee turnover

Employment equity

The table below indicates that the percentage turnover for 2010/2011

For the SA Post Office, compliance to the Employment Equity Act is
driven by the quest to ensure equity in its entirety as well as commitment
to the broader objectives of creating a workplace that epitomises fair
labour practices, is free from discrimination and values the diversity of
the broader South African society and thus contributing significantly
to the advancement of socio-economic growth and development of
the country.

and 2011/2012 was 5.28% and 5.29% respectively.
Employee turnover rate for 2010/2011 and 2011/2012
Financial year

Turnover rate

2010/2011

5.28%

2011/2012

5.29%

While the turnover is much lower compared to the industry norm of
13%, a further analysis of this indicates the areas of concern:
The company lost a total of 29 technicians in the core areas of
Information Technology and E-Postal. While we have put in place solid

It is for these reasons that the SA Post Office aims to have a workforce
that represents the demographics of the economically active population
of South African society. The representation of designated groups (as
provided for by the Employment Equity Act) is monitored continuously.
The following indicates the status of the representation of designated
groups within the Group.

talent pipelines in the scarce and critical skills areas through our bursary,
leanership and graduate programmes, concerted efforts are required to
attract and retain the much sought-after talent in these disciplines.
The table below reflects the overall summary of the representation of designated groups as a percentage against target as at 31 March 2012.
Overall representation of designated groups as a percentage against target
Race and gender

Targets

Female representation
Representation of black females
Representation of blacks
Disability

Status at end
of March 2011

Status at end
of March 2012

45%
34%
82%
0.44%

45%
35%
83%
0.44%

42%
29%
79%
4%*

*This target of 4% has subsequently been brought in line with the National target of 2%

Total workforce profile according to race, gender and occupational levels as at 31 March 2012 (%)
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Female representation
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Representation of black females

Representation of blacks

Status at end of March 2012
Disability

71

Black employees constitute 83% of the total workforce, 45% of whom
are females. Black female representation is 35% of the total workforce.
The under-representation of females has significantly improved though
it’s still a focal point in scarce and critical areas where specialised skills
required are not readily available. The achievement of targets is an
on‑going process.
Black employees, as indicated above, encompass all designated
racial groups as per the Employment Equity Act, including Indian and
Coloured employees.
The focus should be specifically on attraction, upskilling and retention
of black female talent on C-E levels.
Learning and development
There is a multi-pronged approach to learning and development within
the SA Post Office. Founded on the basis of the skills development
legislation and its imperatives, the SA Post Office is an active member
of the Services Seta, participating in most of its functions to ensure
that we embrace the principles of skills development, education, and
training and development practices.
It is in the above vein that the SA Post Office’s Learning Institute was
established in 2004 to spearhead implementation of skills development
for the organisation. We have a proud presence and footprint in all
provinces as delivery platforms for all our learning and development
initiatives. The Learning Institute is recognised as follows:
• Accredited by the Services Seta as a training provider.
• Accredited by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants
(SAICA) as a training provider.
• Accredited as a partner of the United Kingdom recognised
qualification of the Association of Accounting Technician (AAT).
• Four postal qualifications are registered with the South African
Qualifications Authority (SAQA) on the National Qualifications
Framework (NQF) Levels 3, 4 and 5.

According to our Annual Training Report to the Services Seta, a total
of 22 278 interventions were implemented, representing a 69.7%
implementation of the Workplace Skills Plan.
Skills development
The SA Post Office values and recognises its employees as central and
key to the achievement and delivery on its Business and Social Mandate.
Thus people development is of strategic importance to the organisation
and this is evident in our focus in learning methodologies and approaches
at various levels within the organisation.
To ensure achievement of this ideal, interventions are sourced
externally or developed internally for implementation as driven by both
organisational and individual needs to address professional, vocational
and personal development of employees. The interventions encompass
functional, on-the-job training and structured learning programmes
such as learnerships, inclusive of acquisition of formal qualifications
through institutions of higher learning.
A blended learning approach is invoked in the delivery of these
interventions ranging from distance learning to classroom-based
learning, with all other technologically-based modes also in use such
as e-learning and computer-based learning to adequately cater for the
diverse needs and preferences of our workforce.
The learning interventions implemented as per our Workplace Skills
Plan for 2011/2012 include amongst others:
• Adult basic education
• Learnerships
• Graduate programmes
• Induction programme
• Personal Mastery
• Recognition of prior learning
• General vocational programmes (business focus)
• Management and leadership development programmes
• Continuous professional development programmes

The SA Post Office has a policy of
continuous training for all job levels,
from operations to managerial, to keep
employee skills at an optimum level.
Operational staff such as this mail
processor are among the beneficiaries.
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Sustainability report continued
Human capital management continued
Number of active learnerships 2011/2012
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Due to the continued and committed participation of the organisation
in implementing skills development initiatives as per legislation,
the company received over 12 million from the Services Seta as
mandatory grants due to the continued commitment in implement skills
development initiatives and compliance with the workplace skill plan and
Annual Training Report. Classes will commence from February 2013.
Our activities for the 2011/2012 financial year are outlined below:
• General

vocational

programmes

to

support

business

initiatives
These are the initiatives we contributed during the said reporting
period:
°° Financial Intelligence Centre Act training for mostly employees
within Consumer Services.
°° Financial Intermediary and Advisory Services Act at first level.

• Regulatory examinations for identified key individuals
°° Customer services learnership focusing on branch managers
°° Induction workshops for all new employees
°° Corporate Governance King III and the Public Finance
Management Act, targeting managers
°° Public workshops, seminars and conferences for staff’s
continuous development
•	Learnerships
These are structured learning programmes that afford learners
exposure to practical experience, while being provided with formal
theoretical knowledge, with a view to obtaining a recognised
qualification.
The number of active learnerships for the 2011/2012 financial year
is indicated in the graph above:
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Total

Certificate in Practical Management

•	Associate Accounting Technician – A partnership between
Associate Accounting Technicians UK and South Africa has
resulted in 10 learners obtaining an NQF Level 3 certificate. A total
of 12 learners obtained an NQF Level 4 certificate while 22 learners
successfully completed the Associate Accounting Diploma NQF
Level 5. The Post Office has achieved the most graduates for 2011
from all the employers who participated in this learnership.
•	Certificate in Practical Management – A total of 30 females
have participated in this programme. The intervention is aimed at
building the capacity of female employees within Mail Business to
prepare them for supervisory roles. In December 2011, all learners
wrote their final examination and submitted their business case to
the training provider.
•	Customer Service Learnership – This was implemented in
October 2010 and the target audience was branch managers and
chief tellers. This intervention is aimed at enhancing a customerorientated organisation. A total of 147 learners were enrolled on this
qualification. External moderation was completed in March 2012
with 122 learners achieving competency for the entire qualification,
while 24 achieved competency for skills programmes.
•	Marketing – A total of 20 learners completed this programme
in May 2011. The quality assurance body of the Services Seta
upheld the competent decision for all the learners who are currently
awaiting certification.
•	Bachelor in Business Administration – This initiative is
sponsored by the Services Seta. We have secured funding for
600 learners. The service provider has already been appointed.
Successful learners have already been informed.
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Mr Janras Kotsi, GE Mail Business,
hands over a certificate of competence
to one of 21 learners of the SA Reserve
Bank at a graduation ceremony on
22 November 2011.

South African Reserve Bank – Mail Handling Qualification
The Post Office partnered with the South African Reserve Bank with
the Post Office playing the role of a training provider. The purpose of
the project was to develop and enhance the skills of Reserve Bank Mail
Room employees. A total of 21 learners were trained and skilled in the
mail handling qualification which is at an NQF Level 3.
• Bursaries
Our bursary schemes continue to provide a pipeline for our talent
needs particularly in scarce and critical skills. In addition, the various
schemes are integrated with the company’s employment equity
programme to address the existing shortfalls in targets.
°° Bursary scheme for employees
Through this scheme, employees may further their studies in
disciplines related to their work environment. This enables such
employees to move up their career ladders through promotions,
appointments, etc.
°° Bursary programme for the youth
The company is able to provide educational financial support
for deserving young students. Such support includes affording
the students opportunities for workplace experience and where
possible, permanent employment.
°° Bursary scheme for Grade 12 learners
Deserving Grade 12 learners are awarded bursaries to pursue
their studies in various disciplines as dictated by operational
requirements. These include information technology, logistics
and industrial engineering.

Full-time studies (external high-flyers)
Numbers

Field of study

1
2
1
2
1

Auditing
Marketing
Communications
Engineering
Finance

7

Total number of full-time studies

Post-graduate studies and second qualifications (employees)
Numbers

Field of study

2
5
3
1
3
2
5
1
5
2

Business management
Human resources
IT
Finance
Transport and logistics
Legal/Law
MBL/MBA
Communications
Engineering
Supply chain management

29

Total number of full-time studies
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Sustainability report continued
Human capital management continued
Total number of graduates per business unit
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There were a total of 75 active graduates as at end of July 2012. The monthly total number of graduates fluctuates due to resignations and expiry of existing contracts
which were not extended.

Under-graduate and first qualification (employees)
Numbers

Field of study

1
1
1
6
5
1
2

Supply chain management
Finance
Human resource management
Transport and logistics
IT
Security risk management
Marketing

17

Total number of full-time studies

• Graduate programme
This programme enables the company to allow inexperienced
graduates to acquire workplace experience through structured
learning programmes and thus complete their qualifications and be
ready for placement in workplaces. To date, we have 75 graduates
on the programme in various disciplines as shown above.
• Programme focused on unemployed youth

investment
The term “digital divide” refers to the gap between people with effective
access to digital and information technology and those without. It
includes the imbalances in physical access to technology as well as
the imbalances in resources and skills needed to effectively participate
as a digital citizen. It is the unequal access by some members of
society to information and communications technology and the
unequal acquisition of related skills. In countries where technologies
are not accessible, education is suffering and uneducated people
and societies that are not benefiting from the information age cannot
be competitive in the global economy. This, in turn, leads to greater
economic downfall.
Mbongolwane Primary School is located in a deep rural area called
Mbongolwane in the Umlazi District Municipality. It is more than a
120 km drive from Durban.
A total of 18 people from Mbongolwane Primary School were trained

To continue where we left off in the 2010/2011 financial year, we

comprising 16 teachers and two additional staff members, who

were able to bring in 75 unemployed youths who were exposed

included the administrator and security guard. The training was

through the various facets of the business, depending on their fields

conducted over a period of two weeks and all were assessed and

of study. Each participant was allocated a mentor to guide them

found to be competent. The modules covered were:

through their training programmes.

• Basic computer literacy

• Digital literacy

• Internet and World-Wide Web

The SA Post Office aims to positively impact and contribute to

• Productivity programmes

the global economy by providing opportunities to previously

• Computer security and privacy

disadvantaged persons to obtain the necessary e-literacy

• Digital lifestyles

knowledge and skills to actively participate as digital citizens.
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Digital Connectivity Project as part of the corporate social

75

Educators being trained in digital literacy at
Mbongolwane Primary School.

Personal Mastery
The Personal Mastery project was implemented during September
2011. Personal Mastery is a journey of continuous personal
improvement. It goes beyond competencies and skills. It means
“approaching one’s life as a creative work, living one’s life from a
creative as opposed to a reactive viewpoint”. The assumption is that
the individual is key to the organisation’s transformation initiatives and
that the extent to which all transformational initiatives will be successful
will depend to a large degree on how such an individual “sees the world
around himself/herself”.
Personal Mastery interventions started to roll out to all levels of staff
during October 2011.

A total of 1 200 employees attended the different interventions. Learners
had the opportunity to give feedback about the session and their
experience. 78% of attendees rated the intervention “excellent”. Staff
expressed their appreciation toward the organisation for allowing them
to attend and see this as a worthwhile investment in their development.
The focus of Personal Mastery is to create the opportunity for the
individual to explore their level of self-confidence, clarity about their
personal purpose and to determine their own attitude towards work.
The diagrams on page 76 are post-programme reactions of staff
regarding the programme as well as feedback obtained from them.
Below is an indication of staff’s attitudes towards work, and their
clarity of purpose towards work before and after the Personal Mastery
intervention.
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Sustainability report continued
Human capital management continued
Attitude towards work (%)
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One of the women development
programmes completed their course by
conducting their final presentation to the
former acting Group CEO, Nick Buick, on
15 February 2012.

Formal continuous development programmes
Being a good manager requires the skills of a real leader. Great leaders
translate their experiences into heightened self-awareness and peak
performance to create organisational cultures in which talent thrives.
Great leaders who demonstrate learning agility are more inclined to
seek out new challenges, be more creative and innovative, encourage
feedback from others, self-reflect and plan what they will do as a result.
The aim of continuous management development is to prepare
managers, particularly women, to undertake current and future more
complex roles.
This is done to ensure a suitable supply of a talent pool of successors for
various levels of leaders and managers within the organisation. These
development initiatives fit in well with the organisational objectives to
drive operational excellence, building a high performance culture and
contributing to the development of skills throughout the company.

The two groups that faced the challenge to take up their leadership
roles were:
• Creating Leadership and Personal Capacity in Women group
(see picture).
• New Managers Programme, which was upgraded and included an
Action Learning Project component.
The learners presented their projects to various line managers.
A total number of 219 staff attended various management and
leadership programmes – 64.8% of the people trained were female
employees.
Building talent for greatness
• Succession management
Our philosophy in talent and succession management is depicted
below, showing a two-pronged strategy of “acquiring” and
“growing”. The two main components of this approach are the
continuous need to attract top talent and retaining the talent
we acquire.

Talent and succession management
Talent strategy
Our ‘philosophy’ and guiding principles
Attracting top talent

Acquire

or

Our strategy is:
Do both

Grow: Manage and develop

Attracting and retaining top talent
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Sustainability report continued
Human capital management continued
In its desire to build talent for greatness, the company has set up talent
management forums at executive and general manager levels to enable
managers to hold meaningful discussions about their staff for strategic
human resources purposes which include succession management,
promotion, performance management, etc.
Initial discussions between the manager and the employee entailing the
following are held:
• Making him/her aware of the high performance culture and strategy
of the SA Post Office.
• Making him/her aware of the talent forum process specifically.
• Completion of biographical details of the employees such as age,
education, etc.
• Holding face-to-face discussions in relation to the following:
º

Aspirations.

º

Performance against organisational values.

º

Qualifications, including current and future studies.

º	Reaching consensus with the ratings as per the talent

management forum.
The information above is then used as input when the discussions
are held by management during the forums. These forums have been
rolled out to general manager level and will be extended to senior
manager level during the next financial year. Resulting from these
forums, we have successors for most of the critical positions up to
general manager level.

Employee relations
The company has recognised the South African Postal Workers’ Union
(SAPWU) during this financial year. This brings to four the total number
of unions within the Group:
• The Communication Workers’ Union (CWU) – the majority union
within the Group.
•

The Banking, Insurance, Finance and Assurance Workers’ Union
(BIFAWU) in Docex.

• The South African Transport and Allied Workers’ Union in the
Courier and Freight Group (CFG).
Given the size of the organisation and the vast geographic spreads, the
company continues to adopt a combination of national and plant-level
bargaining structures.
We see the upcoming labour law amendments as a considerable
workplace transformation and are putting the necessary structures in
place to embrace this. Key to this is the preparation of managers in
managing employee relations in a “new” environment.

Executive talent acquisition
In an endeavour to meet its customer requirements and other
operational requirements and to achieve high performance in critical
areas the company was as at 31 March 2012 searching for executive
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talent at executive director, group executive and general management
levels.

Remuneration and reward
Given the need for continuous best practice in the remuneration and
rewards discipline, and the need to attract much sought-after talent,
we have initiated the process of appointing a reputable remuneration
and reward management consulting firm to assist, for a period of three
years, with all consulting work relating to remuneration and rewards
management including best practice. Interested service providers must
demonstrate expertise in all aspects of remuneration and benefits
management services including: advice; training; benchmarks; and
related activities.
Expertise is required in the following areas:
• Job evaluation and grading processes and systems.
• Benchmarking against various remuneration and benefits practices
including periodic national and/or discipline-specific salary surveys.
• Related training which includes employee relations forums,
remuneration committees, etc.
• Advising and consulting on remuneration and benefits-related
requests.
• Advising and guiding on related strategies and policies.
• Short-term and long-term incentive schemes design, re-engineering,
advice, etc.

Employee health and wellness programme
True to the adage that “healthy employees are productive employees”,
the company continues to maintain its comprehensive health and
wellness programme comprising:
• Medical surveillance
• HIV/AIDS
• Employee assistance programmes
• Temporary total disability
• Ill-health retirement
• Case management
Medical surveillance
Mail Business, which employs 45% of the total workforce of
approximately 14 660, and has consistently supported medical
surveillance activities.
HIV/AIDS focus
While our performance against target dropped by 1% to reach the
set target of 75%, we have managed to move by 4%, which is still
higher than the target which was increased by 5% from 70%. Most
importantly, we have maintained our HIV/AIDS prevalence of 6%
against the industry norm of 18%.
Disability management
A number of workshops were run by our medical experts in all
provinces to train managers and union officials in temporary disability
management with emphasis on sick leave management.
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Corporate citizenship
Caring for communities

Change Leadership Awards, Food and Trees for Africa are planting

The SA Post Office seeks to make a positive contribution to the

270 trees. Together with the 857 trees planted at schools the SA Post

people and the environment in which it operates. The corporate value

Office has offset 2 968.35 tons of the 45 000 baseline emissions of

of contributing positively to communities and to the environment

the year under review.

guides the organisation’s corporate social investment strategy and our
employees’ response to socio-economic and environmental challenges
faced by disadvantaged South Africans.

Employee volunteerism:
Volunteerism is an inspiring way to include all employees in getting
involved and reaching our corporate citizenship objectives. Staff

The corporate social investment initiatives are aimed at benefiting

are encouraged to use two working days per year to actively get

economically disadvantaged people especially women, youth and the

involved in volunteering activities that help those in need. These

disabled, with a bias towards rural and peri-urban areas. In ensuring

include participating in national initiatives such as Women’s Month,

that beneficiaries receive the maximum benefit from our investment, we

the 16 Days campaign of No Violence against Women and Children

work in partnership with communities, not for profit organisations and

Abuse and the Trees for Schools project, but the staff also donate their

like-minded organisations, to offer integrated sustainable solutions.

time and resources to activities such as feeding schemes in schools

The primary focus of our social investment initiatives is to empower

and hospices, visiting old-age homes and reading to the elderly and

people to ensure sustainable and lasting development. Our areas of

cleaning and refurbishing shelters. The year under review saw more

investment include: poverty alleviation, digital inclusion, environmental

than 1 800 staff members participate in various volunteerism activities

sustainability and HIV/AIDS. Our employee volunteerism programme

which benefited more than 33 000 people.

serves to enhance the reach and impact of our investment.

Letter writing competition:

Environmental sustainability:

Every year the SA Post Office runs an international letter writing competition

The SA Post Office shares the communities’ responsibility for the

in conjunction with the Universal Postal Union. The topic or theme of the

environment affected by its operations. It is for this reason that we

letter is jointly chosen by the Universal Postal Union and the United Nations

have partnered with Food and Trees for Africa, a registered non-

Children’s Fund. This year the topic was “Write a letter to your favourite

Governmental organisation that focuses on contributing to a healthy and

sports hero explaining why the Olympic games are important to you”. The

sustainable quality of life through greening, environmental awareness

purpose of the letter writing competition is to use the medium of writing

and education. We are in the second year of this partnership which

to contribute to the literacy goals of the country and also to enable young

consists of the following elements:

people to participate in important national and international social debates.

1)	Commitment to off-setting 5% of our carbon emissions for three

Corporate social investments:

years by planting 857 trees per year until 2012. These tree-planting

In 2009, the SA Post Office collaborated with several organisations

activities have also formed part of our employee volunteerism

and companies in three projects and partnerships that will make an

activities which not only raised awareness amongst our staff

economic and sustainable change to the lives of its beneficiaries. These

about environmental issues, but also gave them the opportunity

partnerships have continued in 2011 and have achieved significant

to contribute to environmental sustainability by planting fruit or

successes.

indigenous trees in disadvantaged schools in their regions. This
year, the Trees for Schools project has seen employees plant 885
trees at schools and community building such as clinics across the
country, benefiting more than 20 000 learners and people.

1.	Humana People to People is a registered NGO established in
1995. The Post Office has invested R593 000 into the partnership
with Humana People to People which focuses on strengthening
the economy of families in the Tubatse Municipality in Limpopo by

2)	Cosponsoring with Food and Trees for Africa, Carbon Protocol and

improving the local environment as well as boosting food security.

Primedia, the Climate Change Leadership Awards is in its second

The activities include sewing courses, garden skills training, business

year. The purpose of these awards is to acknowledge and recognise

skills and computer training as well as backyard gardens. Thus far,

South African businesses, communities and individuals who have

the number of people receiving skills training which includes sewing,

taken the lead in making a positive contribution to the environment.

business and gardening skills totals 468. The women receiving the

Since 2010, there has been a steady increase in the nominations

skills training are able to generate income from these activities thus

for the Climate Hero award, illustrating that there is now a growing

sustaining their families. The number of people directly benefiting

awareness of climate change and environmental sustainability in

from this project is in excess of 20 000. The computer training will

communities across the country. With the proceeds of the Climate

be implemented in the new financial year.
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Sustainability report continued
Corporate citizenship continued
2.	The e-Rural Access Programme is part of the Comprehensive

SA Post Office aims to assist local municipalities with the relevant

Rural Development Programme which is being implemented by the

IT skills training in order to make service delivery more efficient and

Department of Rural Development and Land Reform. The SA Post

effective. This programme has three pillars.

Office has committed R2.3 million to this project. The purpose of
this programme is to establish e-rural centres in the two pilot areas,
Riemvasmaak (Sending, Vredesvallei) and Giyani (Muyexe) with the
purpose of:
•	Creating an information society especially amongst citizens who
are the rural poor, unemployed and in need of assistance.
•	Enabling citizens to access, utilise and share information and
knowledge.
•	Providing tools such as the Internet, email, telephones, fax
machines, photocopying machines etc. free of charge to
enable rural communities to become part of a global knowledge
economy.
•	Providing and facilitating access to online government services.

1.	Student-to-government (S2G): Giving unemployed graduates
the technology skills needed to fully support Local Government.
Students are trained with technical and soft skills to perform at their
peak in the workplace, and are then given invaluable workplace
experience within municipalities. The SA Post Office has contributed
R1.1 million to this pillar. The student to Government pillar is currently
being rolled out in the Free State in seven municipalities where 18
students have been trained in advanced IT skills and placed in eight
municipalities across the Free State. Eight students in the Eastern
and Western Cape have been trained and are currently doing their
internship in four municipalities across these provinces.
2. Employee training: Local Government staff is given thorough
IT training and support through this programme. The training is

These computer centres are fully operational in all communities and

conducted by DBSA-approved trainers and various Microsoft

the community forum committee members have been trained on digital

Certified Training Partners. The training for local municipality

literacy, communication and facilitation skills. The e-centres in the

employees has been completed and to date, 1 900 municipal

Northern Cape have also been included as part of the e-skills training

employees in 12 municipalities across the Western and Eastern

programme that is being run by the Department of Communications.

Cape have been trained.

This e-skills programme ensures that communities and beneficiaries
receive the relevant and appropriate ICT skills training for their contexts.
The aim is to benefit all 12 000 residents in these communities.

3.	Support for senior officials: Senior municipal managers and other
managers attend a series of seminars on international and local best
practices that showcase how technology can absolutely improve

Skills development in Local Government

service delivery. The Seminar Series for Municipal Managers took

The Partnership for information technology training in support

place in the Eastern and Western Cape during October and November

of Local Government This partnership between the South African

in which 14 municipalities were represented and participated.

Local Government Association (SALGA), Microsoft, the Development
Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA), the Local Government Seta and the

The SA Post Office invested R1.1 million
in training young unemployed graduates.
These graduates were later placed in
internships in local municipalities across
the country.
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Information technology
In 2011/2012 it became critical for the IT support function to redefine its strategy.
IT is positioned to provide services to the entire SA Post Office Group. These services are provisioned through a defined structure and associated
IT processes aligned to ITIL, COBiT, CMMI and PMBOK. Specifically the interfaces to the SA Post Office Group are via the IT Service Desk for
operational support and the Group PMO for project-related support.
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Figure 2 IT Service structure.
The SA Post Office IT Strategy is explicitly connected to the SA Post Office Strategic Roadmap in terms of IT capabilities and plans that will evolve to
support the new SA Post Office Business Model.
The IT strategy focuses on the delivery of key elements of the SA Post Office roadmap for 2011/2012 and 2012/2013 namely:
• Postbank Corporatisation
• Deploying a multi-channel strategy
• Improving customer centricity
The IT agreed fundamental principles are:
SA Post Office principles

Benefits

Standardised, flexible and scalable solutions

• Reduce operational and acquisition costs
• Consolidate strategic partners and OEM (Original equipment
manufacturers)

Centralised shared infrastructure management and physical
consolidation

• Operational efficiencies

Tier 3 data centres for both SA Post Office and Postbank

• In line with King III recommendations

To provide the availability and recoverability of systems

• Full business continuity for SA Post Office and Postbank
• Reduce business and IT risk

Tapeless strategy to provide for data retention and availability

• Data availability and compliance thereof
• Risk management
• Integrity (assets, information and organisation)

Virtualisation strategy

• Reduced costs (space, heating, cooling)
• Increased efficiencies

Backup and DR for all systems

• Compliance and regulation in protecting data
• Confidentiality required by law in protecting commercial data

Monitoring, management and planning

• Governance (enforce policies, procedure, controls)
• Response to SLA
• Drive productivity

Table 1 IT fundamental principles.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To Parliament on South African Post Office SOC Limited
Introduction
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of the South African Post Office SOC Ltd and its subsidiaries set out on
pages 98 to 169, which comprise the consolidated and separate statement of financial position as at 31 March 2012, the consolidated and
separate statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
The accounting authority’s (directors’) responsibility for the consolidated and separate financial statements
The Board of Directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
and separate financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of Public Finance
Management Act of South Africa, Act No. 1 of 1999 (“PFMA”), and the Companies Act of South Africa, Act No. 71 of 2008 (“Companies Act”),
and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary to enable the internal control as the accounting authority
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2001) (“PAA”), the General Notice issued in terms thereof and
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the South African Post Office SOC Ltd preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the South African Post Office SOC Ltd internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the accounting authority, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated and separate financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the South
African Post Office SOC Ltd and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2012, and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act of South African
and the Companies Act of South Africa.

Emphasis of matter
We draw attention to the matters below. Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.
Restatement of prior year amounts
As disclosed in note 44 to the financial statements, the prior year figures for the year ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 have been
restated as a result of the following:
•	An exercise performed by management during the current financial year to reassess the useful lives of property, plant and equipment,
investment property and intangible assets.
•	An analysis of revenue relating to sales of airtime was performed that identified SAPO as an agent and not a principal. Therefore revenue had
to be shown on a net basis, which resulted in a reduction in both revenue and cost of sales of approximately of R87m (2011: R111m).
Material losses
As disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, a material loss to the amount of approximately R31m was incurred as a result of external
criminal and fraudulent activities at Postbank

Additional matter
We draw attention to the matter below. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
(continued)

Other reports required by the Companies Act
As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012, we have read the directors’ report, the Audit Committee’s
report and the Company Secretary’s certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports
and the audited financial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have
not identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports
and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In accordance with the PAA, and the General Notice issued in terms thereof, we report the following findings relevant to the performance against
pre-determined objectives, compliance with laws and regulations and internal control, but not for the purposes of expressing an opinion.
Predetermined objectives
We performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the information in the Group key performance indicators as
set out on pages 9 to 15 of the annual report.
The reported performance against predetermined objectives was evaluated against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability. The usefulness
of information in the annual performance report relates to whether it is presented in accordance with the National Treasury annual reporting
principles and whether the reported performance is consistent with the planned objectives. The usefulness of information further relates to
whether indicators and targets are measurable (i.e. well defined, verifiable, specific, measurable and time bound) and relevant as required by the
National Treasury Framework for managing programme performance information.
The reliability of the information in respect of the selected objectives is assessed to determine whether it adequately reflects the facts (i.e.
whether it is valid, accurate and complete).
Usefulness of information
Measurability
The National Treasury Framework for managing programme performance information (FMPPI) requires that performance targets be specific in
clearly identifying the nature and required level of performance. It also requires that indicators or measures should have clear unambiguous data
definitions so that data is collected consistently and is easy to understand and use.
•	A total of 40% of the targets relevant to all the targets were not specific in clearly identifying the nature and the required level of performance.
•	The indicators or measures relevant to all targets were not well defined in that clear, unambiguous data definitions were not available to allow
for data to be collected consistently.
These findings were similar to the prior year and could not be addressed during the current financial year as the new Shareholders Compact that
rectified these issues, was only submitted for approval towards the end of the current financial year.
Achievement of planned targets
Of the total 52 planned targets, only 29 were achieved during the year under review. This represents 44% of total planned targets that were not
achieved during the year under review. Reasons for the non-achievement are included in the report on Group key performance set out on pages
9 to 15 of the annual report.
Compliance with laws and regulations
We performed procedures to obtain evidence that the South African Post Office SOC Ltd has complied with applicable laws and regulations
regarding financial matters, financial management and other related matters.
Our findings on material non-compliance with specific matters in key applicable laws and regulations as set out in the General Notice issued in
terms of the PAA are as follows:
Expenditure management
During the current year management performed a detailed review of compliance to the procurement process, which resulted in the identification
of certain instances of non-compliance as disclosed in note 31.
Internal control
We considered internal controls relevant to our audit of the financial statements of South African Post Office SOC Ltd and compliance with
laws and regulations. We also draw your attention to the comments included in the directors’ report regarding the internal control environment.
The matters reported above and below under the fundamentals of internal controls are limited to the significant deficiencies that resulted in the
findings referred to in this report.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
(continued)

Leadership
There were numerous acting positions in the current year in key leadership positions, being acting Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer,
Chief Information Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Managing Director: Postbank, Group Executive: Supply Chain Management, Business Support
Services and Head of Properties.
Although this had not negatively impacted on the audit process, the above positions should be finalised as it may impact on the strategic future
of the South African Post Office SOC Ltd.
Financial management and performance
Extensive work is being performed at South African Post Office SOC Ltd – Procurement division to ensure that there is improvement with
contract management and to eliminate all these instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. For further details we draw your
attention to note 31 to the financial statements.

Other reports
Investigations
As reported in the statement of directors’ responsibility on page 87, an external investigation is currently underway following complaints of
alleged contract and procurement irregularities at the South African Post Office SOC Ltd.
Agreed-upon procedures engagements
The following agreed-upon procedures engagements have been performed at the request of the South African Post Office SOC Ltd:
•	Agreed-upon procedures on the license fee payable by the South African Post Office SOC Ltd to Independent Communications Authority of
South Africa (“ICASA”);
•	Agreed-upon procedures on the National Treasury public entities template for South African Post Office SOC Ltd;
•	Agreed-upon procedures on Government grants; and
•	Agreed-upon procedures for Marine Living Resource Fund on the reasonableness of revenue recorded with regards to the sale of licenses
and permits by South African Post Office SOC Ltd on their behalf.
•	Agreed-upon procedures on the return in terms of regulation 4.4 (i) and (ii) of the Short-term Insurance Act. No. 53 of 1998 to the Intermediaries
Guarantee Facility Ltd (“IGF”) for South African Post Office;
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Directors’ responsibility and approval

The directors are required by the Companies Act 71 of 2008 of South Africa, to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for
the content and integrity of the group annual financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility
to ensure that the group annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Group as at end of the financial year and the results
of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards and Public Finance
Management Act No. 1 of 1999 (PFMA), as amended.
The group annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are based upon
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.
The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by the Group and place
considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the board sets
standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable
level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the Group and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in
ensuring the Group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management
in the Group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the Group. While operating risk cannot be fully
eliminated, the Group endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied
and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.
There is currently an investigation that the Board is aware of with regard to an apparent non-compliance of certain policies and procedures of
the SAPO Group pertaining to contract and procurement matters.
The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management that the system of internal control provides
reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the group annual financial statements. However, any
system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast for the year ending 31 March 2013 and , in the light of this review and the current
financial position, they are satisfied that the Group has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future.
The group financial statements set out on page 88 to 169, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the Board
on 3 August 2012 and were signed on its behalf by:

Mr G Mothema
Chairperson of the Board

Mr MJ Mathibe
Acting Group Chief Executive Officer
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Secretary’s statement

I, Bessie Sindile Bulunga, in my capacity as the Group Company Secretary, hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the Group
has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required in terms of section 268 G (d) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008,
as amended, and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Ms BS Bulunga
Group Company Secretary
3 August 2012
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Audit Committee responsibility
to the Board and Shareholder

1.

Introduction

	SA Post Office has a constituted Audit Committee (the committee), which presently comprises the following non-executive directors:
• Mr H Daniels (Interim Chairperson with effect from 15 July 2012);
• Ms Kgabo Sicwebu – Appointed 1 March 2012;
• Mr R Sishuba – Appointed 25 April 2012; and
• Ms G Simelane – Appointed 25 April 2012.
The following changes in the composition of the committee took place during the past financial year and to the date of this report:
• Mr S Dietrich (Chairperson) – Resigned during July 2012;
• Mr SMA Malebo – Retired 29 February 2012;
• Adv V Mhlongo – Retired 29 February 2012; and
• Mr S Patel – Retired 25 April 2012.
	Mr Dietrich, the Chairperson of the committee, resigned during July 2012. Mr Daniels, the Independent Chairperson of the Logistics
Audit and Risk Committee, was appointed interim Chairperson to oversee the finalisation of the financial statements and the audit
processes for the financial year ended 31 March 2012.

2.

Background

	The committee is an independent statutory committee, as well as a committee of the South African Post Office (SOC) Limited Board (the
Board) which has been tasked with assisting the Board in respect of the duties assigned to it by the Board as set out in the SA Post Office
Audit Committee Charter and other legislation applicable to audit committees.
	The overall objective of the committee is to assist the Board in discharging its duties relating to, amongst others, the safeguarding of
assets, the operation of adequate internal controls and systems, ensuring that adequate financial accounting controls and processes
exist, reviewing shareholder information and the annual financial statements for presentation to shareholders, as well as overseeing that
statutory and regulatory requirements are met on an on-going basis.
	The committee is pleased to present its report for the financial year ended 31 March 2012. The report is presented in accordance with
the Company’s Articles of Association, the requirements of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 (the Act) as amended, as well as the
recommendations contained in the third King Report on Governance for South Africa and the King Code of Governance Principles
(King Ill) and the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) No. 1 of 1999, as amended.
	Amongst others, the committee’s operations are guided by formal detailed Terms of Reference that are in line with the provisions,
requirements and recommendations of the aforementioned documents.

3.

Duties carried out

	During the financial year ended 31 March 2012, the committee convened a number of times to discharge both its statutory obligations
and responsibilities towards the SA Post Office Board. As an overview only, and not to be regarded as an exhaustive list, the committee
carried out the following duties:
3.1 Annual financial statements
		The committee has evaluated SA Post Office Group’s consolidated annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012.
Amongst others, the committee reviewed the principles, policies and accounting practices and standards adopted in preparation
of the companies and divisions within the SA Post Office Group and commented thereon and monitored compliance with all
statutory/legal/regulatory requirements.
		The committee noted several instances of material deficiencies in internal control and recommended that these be remedied in the
ensuing financial year.
		Since the annual financial statements complied, in all material aspects, with the aforementioned and appropriate Internal and
International Financial Reporting Standards, and subject to the above, and to other related matters, the committee has approved
and recommended the annual financial statements for approval to the Board.
		The Board has subsequently approved the financial statements, which will be presented to shareholders for discussion at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting (AGM) to be held during 2012.

South African Post Office SOC Ltd (Registration number 1991/005477/06)
Integrated Annual Report 2012

South African Post Office SOC Ltd (Registration number 1991/005477/06)
Integrated Annual Report 2012

Audit Committee responsibility
to the Board and Shareholder (continued)

3.2
		
		
		
		
		

Integrated report
In addition to the annual financial statements, the committee has overseen and evaluated:
• the integrated report in line with the King III requirements;
• the sustainability report;
• the corporate governance report; and
• the directors’ report for the year ended 31 March 2012,

		and considered all factors and risks that may impact on the integrated report and ensured that the sustainability issues in the
integrated report are reliable, consistent and do not conflict with the financial information.
		Although the committee has noted that the integrated report for the financial year ended 31 March 2012 has been partially fulfilled
it has, however, recommended the integrated report for approval to the Board and for presentation to the Shareholder.
3.3 Internal audit function
		The SA Post Office internal audit functions as a division within SA Post Office and performs internal audit functions for the Group
including its subsidiaries. The committee has played an oversight role in respect of the Internal Audit Function (IAF) to ensure its
effectiveness.
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		

		
		

Amongst others, the committee:
•	approved the Internal audit mandate and ensured that the Internal Audit Mandate is an effective risk-based; function that
adheres to the IlA Standards and Code of Ethics;
•	ensured that the IAF has a risk-based audit plan that addressed the full spectrum of risks;
•	approved the internal audit plan;
•	ensured that the IAF has adopted a Board-approved internal audit charter;
•	ensured that the Chief Audit Executive reports functionally to the committee;
•	ensured that the IAF has an appropriate budget and that it is appropriately skilled and resourced;
•	obtained confirmation that an independent quality review of the IAF’s operations will be conducted in the near future and that
the IAF maintains a quality assurance and improvement programme;
•	ensured that the IAF has performed a self-assessment of its performance and effectiveness;
•	ensured that the IAF has assessed the risk management and internal control framework and the business processes and has
made a written statement in respect of the adequacy of the Company’s prevailing system of internal controls (which it rated in
all material aspects to be “acceptable”);
• reviewed the internal audit charter; and
• met regularly as required with the Internal Audit Department and the Chief Audit Executive.

		The Internal Audit Department issued many reports highlighting material deficiencies in internal control systems. These reports go
back a number of years and most of these reportable matters have not been addressed satisfactorily as yet.
		

•	The Audit Committee regards the deficiencies in the controls in a serious light and has recommended to the Board that
steps be taken to address these matters within strictly set deadlines but in any case, not later than the end of the current
financial year. The committee has further recommended that if these deficiencies continue, relevant action must be taken
against management.

3.4 External audit and related matters
		Deloitte & Touche and SizweNtsalubaGobodo Inc (the firms’) are the Company’s appointed joint external auditors. The committee
has played an oversight role in respect of the external audit process to ensure its effectiveness. Amongst others, the committee:
		
• set/approved the firms’ terms of engagement;
		
• reviewed the quality and effectiveness of the external audit process;
		
• assessed the firms’ delivery versus planned expectations;
		
• assessed the firms’ quality control procedures;
		
• reviewed the external auditors’ report to the committee and management’s responses thereto;
		
•	reviewed significant judgements and/or unadjusted differences resulting from the audit, as well as any reporting decisions
made;
		
•	satisfied itself through enquiry that the firms are independent as defined in terms of prescribed legislation and that there has
been no occurrence during the review period that has impaired this independent relationship between the Company and
the firms;
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• ensured that each of its partners and the firm are registered with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors (IRBA);
• determined the fees to be paid to the firms and ensured that the fees are fair and equitable;
•	maintained a non-audit services policy which determines the nature and extent of any non-audit services that the firms may
provide to the Company;
•	whenever possible, met separately and in confidence with the firms; and
•	through enquiry, ascertained that the firms have identified any irregularities that required reporting in terms of the Public Finance
Management Act (PFMA).

		The firms have reported a number of matters that are being addressed in terms of the PFMA.
		In the opinion of the committee, many of the above functions relating to the interaction between the Audit Committee and the
external auditors could be and should be strengthened further.
		The Audit Committee notes that the contract with the firm will be coming to an end during 2012 after the conclusion of the audit
process and the Company is in the process of appointing a new external auditor(s) for the Group, including its subsidiaries.
The Audit committee will ensure that the proper oversight role in terms of its charter is adopted and implemented with regard to
the appointment of the new external auditor(s).
3.5 Risk, management assurance and ethics
		The committee formed an integral component of the risk management framework and, amongst others, monitored financial
reporting risks, internal financial controls, fraud risks as they relate to financial reporting and IT risks as they relate to financial
reporting. The committee has played an oversight role in respect of risk, combined assurance and ethics and:
		
•	ensured the application of the management assurance model and monitored that it had appropriately and adequately addressed
the significant risks facing the Company;
		
•	reviewed the management of risk and the monitoring of compliance and the legal governance effectiveness within the Company;
		
•	ensured that close co-operation had existed throughout the review period between external and internal audit, the risk
management function, the secretariat, the legal and compliance function and other assurance providers;
		
•	monitored the application and the effectiveness of the Company’s code of conduct (ethics) and reviewed reports on the
conduct of the Company and its officials;
		
•	reviewed the Company’s process for monitoring compliance with the laws and regulations applicable to it and its compliance
with corporate governance practices, and considered the impact and implications of the aforementioned on the Company’s
operations;
		
•	considered developments in corporate governance and ensured that the principles of the PFMA and King Ill are embedded
within the Company;
		
•	fulfilled the Audit Committee function on behalf of certain subsidiaries of the Company and secured regular feedback from the
Audit Risk committees of such subsidiaries;
		
•	reviewed and assured that the committee’s terms of reference is aligned with the most recent applicable legislation and
governance codes;
		
•	reviewed the text of various reports, including the corporate governance statement, for inclusion in the integrated report, the
internal audit assurance statement and the risk management assurance;
		
•	reviewed tax reports;
		
•	reviewed related-party transactions;
		
•	reviewed the Letters of Representation and management’s responses thereto; and
		
•	assisted the Board in assessing IT governance risks, controls and its overall effectiveness.
		The committee is of the opinion that many of the above functions have material deficiencies and the committee has not sufficiently
played an effective oversight role in respect of many of the above matters. This needs to be improved in the next financial year and
the committee will strengthen its oversight role in this regard.
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3.6 Management Reports
		Recommendation 88 of King Ill requires that the report of the Audit Committee of a public entity should include comments on the
quality of the management and monthly/quarterly reports submitted under the PFMA.
		Principle 3.6 of King Ill further requires the Audit Committee to satisfy itself of the expertise, resources and experience of the
Company’s finance function and experience of the senior members of management responsible for the financial function. The
results of the review should be included in the integrated report.
		The committee notes the on-going problems with the statutory financial statements and has set up a programme to address
these matters.

4.

Conclusion on fulfilment of duties and obligations

	The committee members collectively have sufficient qualifications and experience in the fields of commerce, finance, economics, external
and internal audit processes, risk, financial, integrated and sustainability reporting, risk management, governance, compliance and law to
fulfil their obligations.
	In addition, the members have kept up to date with the latest developments in the business and audit environment. The members all bring
invaluable integrity and experience to the committee’s deliberations and make positive contributions on an on-going basis. Throughout
the review period, they remained independent of character and their judgement has not been impaired in any way.
	Given the above, the committee is of the opinion that it has appropriately addressed its key responsibilities in respect of, amongst others,
internal control, financial accounting control, stakeholder reporting and statutory and regulatory requirements.

5.

Recommendation to shareholders

	There are processes underway within the Group to, in the next financial year, appoint additional members of the committee to strengthen
other areas of expertise required by the King Ill Code with regard to the competency and skills for Audit Committee members. The Audit
Committee will make the relevant recommendations to the Board for the appointment of these additional members by the shareholder
during the AGM to be held in 2012.
	Against this background, the Board has recommended that the shareholder appoints the abovementioned independent non-executive
directors to be the members of the Company’s Audit Committee for the 2012 – 2013 financial year.

Hilmi Daniels
BCompt Hons(Unisa), (CA)SA, LLM(UCT)
Interim Chairperson of the Audit Committee
On behalf of the Audit Committee
3 August 2012
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Directors’ report

The directors present their 20th annual report, which is for the year 1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012. This report and the audited financial
statements have been prepared in compliance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the Public Finance
Management Act No 1 of 1999 as amended, and the Companies Act No 71 of 2008 of South Africa, as amended.

1.

Review of activities
Main business and operations

	The business of the company is to operate a postal service, Postbank as defined by the Post Office Act No 44 of 1958, as amended, and
the Postal Services Act No 124 of 1998, and also to provide courier and agency services.

2.

Vision
To be recognised among the leading providers of postal and related services in the world.

3.

Mission

	We will enable the nation to efficiently connect with the world by distributing information, goods, financial and government services and
leveraging our broad reach and embracing change, technology and innovation.

4.

General overview

	The business of the Group is conducted through its operating divisions and its subsidiaries.
	These divisions and subsidiaries are responsible for all the trading activities of the Group, which are conducted through the mail distribution
network as well as the infrastructure of service points available throughout the country. The main support divisions in the Group are
Human Resources, Information Technology, Property Management, Finance, Risk and Compliance, Security and Investigation Services,
Sales and Customer Services, Corporate Services, Marketing, Supply Chain Management, Internal Audit and Strategic Planning.

5.

Financial results
The financial results of the Group and company are fully disclosed on pages 9 to 98.

	Revenue (including Postbank finance income and other operating income) increased by 1.8% to R5.935 billion (2011: R5.830 billion).
The Group realised a decrease of R87.533 million in operating profit before post-retirement medical benefits to R253.441 million
(2011: R340.974 million).
	Lower mail and courier volumes resulting from prevailing economic conditions as well as lower interest income derived from lower average
interest rates during the period under review also contributed to the reduction in net profit.
	Continued stringent cost control was applied across the Group. The overhead expenses of R5.681 billion (2011: R5.489 billion) increased
by 3.5%.
Total comprehensive income increased by R40.099 million to R157.855 million (2011: R117.756 million).
	The Group received specific Government funding of R180.442 million (2011: R306.077 million) for the year. This was used to fund
initiatives that are aimed at meeting its universal service obligation. The initiatives are approved by the shareholder. Strict reporting
guidelines have been implemented to ensure that the funding is only used for these initiatives.
	The shareholder has committed itself to providing the Group with R51.964 million in funding for the 2013 financial year. However, this is
reduced to zero for the 2014 financial year. The company will therefore need to review the future extent of its universal service costs. The
universal service obligation priorities that are being carried out by the company will have to be reviewed in light of the removal of subsidy
from Government.
	In the meantime SA Post Office has included the continued requirement for this funding in its 2012 MTEF submission.
	The loss of the South African Social Services Agency (SASSA) contract will negatively impact on revenue of the company.
	The Post Office, through its Retail branches, is a vital channel for delivering Government services. This partnership has seen continued
growth in motor vehicle licence renewals whilst pay-a-bill and social pensions showed a slight decline during the year.
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Directors’ report
(continued)

5.

Financial results (continued)

	Capital expenditure for the year amounted to R120.827 million (2011: 204.419 million). Cash generated from operations was
R520.408 million (2011: R463.711 million) being an increase of R56.697 million.

6.

Directors
The directors of the company at the date of this report are as follows:
Chairperson
Mr G Mothema – Chairperson of Board
Executive
Mr MJ Mathibe (Acting Chief Executive Officer)
Mr P Mangrey (Acting Chief Financial Officer)
Mr S Adam (Acting Managing Director: Postbank)
Non-executive
Mr NCS Bebeza
Ms N Kela
Dr HN Manzini
Ms K Sicwebu
Ms N Mthethwa
Mr TC Ngcobo
Adv LP Nobanda
Mr MS Patel
Ms G Simelane
Mr R Sishuba
The directors do not hold any shares in the company or any of its subsidiaries, neither in a beneficial nor in a non-beneficial capacity.

	Emoluments paid to each director and executive reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer during the period are disclosed under
note 39.5.
Details of all the directors’ service contracts are as follows:
Name

Position

Mr S Adam
Mr NCS Bebeza
Mr NJD Buick
Mr SEO Dietrich
Ms N Kela
Ms MM Lefoka
Ms VF Mahlati
Mr SMA Malebo
Dr HN Manzini
Adv V Mhlongo
Mr G Mothema
Ms N Mthethwa
Mr TC Ngcobo
Adv LP Nobanda
Mr MS Patel
Ms PE Pokane
Ms K Sicwebu
Ms G Simelane
Mr R Sishuba
Mr JP Wentzel

Acting Managing Director: Postbank
14 October 2011
Non-Executive
1 October 2009
Acting Group Chief Executive Officer
1 December 2010
Non-Executive
1 August 2010
Non-Executive
1 March 2012
Group Chief Executive Officer
1 December 2007
Chairperson
1 March 2009
Non-Executive
1 March 2009
Non-Executive
1 March 2012
Non-Executive
1 March 2009
Chairperson
1 March 2012
Non-Executive
1 March 2012
Non-Executive
1 April 2010
Non-Executive
1 October 2009
Non-Executive
1 August 2010
Non-Executive
1 March 2009
Non-Executive
1 April 2010
Non-Executive
1 March 2012
Non-Executive
1 March 2012
Group Chief Operating Officer and Acting Managing Director: Postbank29 January 2009

* Retired
#†
Resigned

Executive Committee as at the date of this report (note 39.7)
94

Contract periods
31 March 2016
30 September 2012
30 November 2014†#
1 July 2012*
28 February 2015
25 January 2012*
29 February 2012
29 February 2012*
28 February 2015
29 February 2012*
28 February 2015
28 February 2015
31 March 2013
30 September 2012
31 July 2013
29 February 2012*
31 March 2013
28 February 2015
28 February 2015
14 October 2011*
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Name

Position

S Adam
BS Bulunga
MS Diaz
NC Dube
JS Kotsi
M Lancaster
L Lose
P Mangrey
M Mathibe
NA Mnisi
CA Phillips
MC Sebusi

Acting MD: Postbank
Group Company Secretary
GE: Human Resources
Acting MD: CFG and Docex
GE: Mail Operations
GE: Strategy and Acting CIO
GE: Corporate Affairs
Acting CFO
Acting CEO and MD: Courier Freight Group
GE: Consumer Services
Chief Audit Executive
Acting GE: Business Support

* Resigned

7.

Fruitless, wasteful and irregular expenditure

	As per the requirement of the Board, the SA Post Office has formulated a financial misconduct framework, which creates a framework to
enable management of financial misconduct activities such as fruitless and wasteful and irregular expenditure.
	A Financial Misconduct Committee has been established and mandated through the financial misconduct policy to regulate, monitor and
report on all proven fruitless, wasteful and irregular expenditure and institute management consequences that need to be carried out.
	The Financial Misconduct Committee is reviewing certain instances of potential non-compliance with laws, policies and procedures and
will report on same, if there are any, in the next reporting period.

8.

Postbank corporatisation

	During the 2010/2011 financial period, the South African Postbank Ltd Act No 9 of 2010 was signed into law providing for the establishment
of a subsidiary company to the Post Office, The South African Postbank Ltd, to which the designated assets and liabilities of the current
Postbank division will be transfered in terms of the Postbank Act. It is envisaged that the new subsidiary will operate as a fully fledged
bank and will be regulated in terms of the Banks Act. Preparations for the submission of the application to form a bank are currently
underway and are anticipated to be completed during the new financial year.

9.

Special resolutions

	No special resolutions were undertaken in the year under review.

10. Share capital
	The authorised share capital of the company is R1 billion, divided into one billion ordinary par value shares of R1 each, of which 200 939
821 have been issued to the shareholder.
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11. Subsidiaries
	Details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 41. The holding company’s interest in income earned and losses after tax incurred
by subsidaries for the period is as follows:
March 2012
Profit/(Loss)
R’000

March 2011
Profit/(Loss)
R’000

723
(47,436)
(189)
49
(36)
(135)
(25)
15,699

2,787
(9,637)
116
43
(102)
(186)
(23)
9,591

The Document Exchange (Pty) Ltd
The Courier and Freight Group (Pty) Ltd
Sapos Properties (PE) (Pty) Ltd
Sapos Properties (Rossburgh) (Pty) Ltd
Sapos Properties (Erf 145018 Cape Town) (Pty) Ltd
Sapos Properties (East Rand) (Pty) Ltd
Sapos Properties (Bloemfontein) (Pty) Ltd
Centriq Insurance Innovation (Pty) Ltd

Subordination agreements are in place for each of the following subsidiaries of the SA Post Office Ltd. In addition, the Post Office
has undertaken to provide Courier and Freight Group (Pty) Ltd with financial support as per approved corporate plan and budgets as
approved by the shareholder.
	The Courier and Freight Group (Pty) Ltd
	Sapos Properties (PE) (Pty) Ltd
	Sapos Properties (Rossburgh) (Pty) Ltd
	Sapos Properties (Erf 145018 Cape Town) (Pty) Ltd
	Sapos Properties (Bloemfontein) (Pty) Ltd

12. Events subsequent to balance sheet date
	The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year, not otherwise dealt with in the
financial statements that will have a significant effect on the results of the Group, the results of the operations or the financial position of
the Group.

13. Domicile
	The company is a public company registered in the Republic of South Africa and its registered address is:
Post Office Head Office
	350 Witch Hazel Avenue
	Highveld Extension 70
	Centurion
	0157

14. Auditors
	Deloitte & Touche and SizweNtsalubaGobodo Incorporated contract ends after the conclusion of the audit of the financial year ended
31 March 2012. The procurement process is currently underway to appoint new external auditors.

15. Post Office Group as a going concern
	The SA Post Office Group generated a net profit of R158.707 million (2011: R120.329 million) for the year. The Group has total assets of
R10.4 billion (2011: R10.1 billion) with assets exceeding liabilities by R2.7 billion (2011: R2.6 billion).
	The financial statements are prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern.
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16. Restatement of fixed assets
	The re-assessment of the fixed assets useful life was done for the financial year 2012. All fixed assets were re-assessed and the
retrospective adjustment of R141 million was restated to retained earnings and book value of assets in prior years as per the requirements
of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). At year-end the only assets carried at R1 are the assets financed through projectspecific funding in line with accounting policies for Government grants.
	The SA Post Office (SOC) Ltd has complied with International Accounting Standards “(‘IAS’)’ 16: Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 38;
Intangible Assets and IAS 40; Investment Property.

17. Internal control environment
	Directors are of the opinion based on information provided by management that adequate control frameworks are in place for most
disciplines in the Group. Nonetheless, management is aware of certain control and governance challenges that have resulted in
vulnerabilities to the Group during the current financial year. These have been highlighted by both experiences of fraud and identified non
compliance within our contract management process, as well as reports by our external and internal auditors. Directors have recognised
the residual risks identified with all these recognised weaknesses, and it has endeavoured throughout the year, to effect and implement
appropriate risk based strategies to mitigate the control weaknesses with sustainable and durable solutions, to avoid and prevent these
concerns from recurring.
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Statements of financial position
at 31 March 2012

Figures in Rand thousand
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Other financial assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Deferred tax

Current assets
Non-current assets held for sale
Other financial assets
Investments
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Taxation

Note(s)

2012

Group
Restated
2011

2
3
4
6
7
9

1,184,449
20,379
64,439
531,296
–
316,726

1,259,414
18,596
82,917
467,044
–
285,434

1,256,096
19,501
91,201
439,395
–
330,121

1,158,943
20,379
62,729
531,296
40,596
313,560

1,226,998
18,596
81,060
467,044
42,603
423,488

1,216,686
19,501
90,099
439,395
42,603
323,657

2,117,289

2,113,405

2,136,314

2,127,503

2,259,789

2,131,941

201
275,771
4,115,654
61,293
527,699
3,277,157
503

–
221,336
2,332,653
47,448
625,655
4,756,214
432

–
181,665
3,132,638
48,326
569,394
3,528,580
–

–
186,088
4,100,654
61,102
473,205
3,237,102
—

–
143,176
2,317,653
47,264
589,213
4,725,228
–

–
114,022
3,117,638
48,082
524,311
3,497,130
–

8,258,278

7,983,738

7,460,603

8,058,151

7,822,534

7,301,183

10,375,567

10,097,143

9,596,917

10,185,654

10,082,323

9,433,124

200,940
10
750,000
1,761,247

200,940
862
750,000
1,602,540

200,940
3,435
750,000
1,482,211

200,940
10
750,000
1,709,935

200,940
862
750,000
1,561,089

200,940
3,435
750,000
1,434,591

2,712,197

2,554,342

2,436,586

2,660,885

2,512,891

2,388,966

301
44,047
1,223,937
8,329

341
26,982
1,248,893
8,652

113,117
25,205
1,018,405
11,259

–
43,507
1,218,991
6,312

141,208
26,093
1,244,740
6,571

112,177
24,427
1,013,639
6,571

1,276,614

1,284,868

1,167,986

1,268,810

1,418,612

1,156,814

15
16
19
20
21

16,255
214,227
1,032,678
248,327
2,433

24,732
153,680
1,029,817
226,975
4,799

5,667
218,445
1,051,785
206,395
4,383

15,159
208,710
922,029
248,327
–

24,373
147,554
952,212
226,975
–

5,632
212,296
968,340
206,395
–

22
23
24
25
28.1

165,715
4,257,864
345,718
8,937
94,602

221,203
3,984,022
346,726
28,521
237,458

236,125
3,651,987
320,848
47,670
249,040

165,715
4,257,864
335,606
7,947
94,602

221,203
3,984,022
329,180
27,843
237,458

236,125
3,651,987
309,859
47,670
249,040

6,386,756

6,257,933

5,992,345

6,255,959

6,150,820

5,887,344

7,663,370

7,542,801

7,160,331

7,254,769

7,569,432

7,044,158

10,375,567

10,097,143

9,596,917

10,185,654

10,082,323

9,433,124

5
6
8
10
11
12
25

Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Available-for-sale reserve
Funds received from shareholder
Retained income

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax
Deferred lease liability
Employment benefit obligations
Provisions

Current liabilities
Deferred lease liability
Employment benefit obligations
Trade and other payables
Amount owing to shareholder
Outstanding insurance claims
Funds collected on behalf of third
parties
Deposits from the public
Unearned revenue
Taxation
Subsidy unutilised

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
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13
14

9
15
16
17

Restated
2010

2012

Company
Restated
2011

Restated
2010
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Statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Group
Figures in Rand thousand
Revenue
Postbank finance income
Add: Other operating income
Less: Employee benefit expenditure
Transport expenditure
Property operating leases
Vehicle operating leases
Other expenses
Consumables and inventory utilised
Postbank finance costs

Company
Restated
2012
2011

Note(s)

2012

Restated
2011

26
32
27

5,433,014
267,783
234,014

5,299,145
276,917
254,356

5,054,833
267,783
258,163

4,934,340
276,917
242,452

33

5,934,811
(3,228,309)
(606,995)
(292,664)
(82,683)
(1,305,900)
(146,210)
(18,609)

5,830,418
(3,095,374)
(544,660)
(277,145)
(68,707)
(1,332,803)
(123,055)
(47,700)

5,580,779
(3,100,968)
(432,475)
(276,635)
(82,683)
(1,277,557)
(146,210)
(18,609)

5,453,709
(2,970,422)
(413,721)
(252,371)
(68,707)
(1,228,670)
(123,055)
(47,700)

253,441
(136,471)

340,974
(312,000)

245,642
(136,519)

349,063
(312,000)

Operating profit before post-retirement medical benefits
Less: Post-retirement medical benefits
Operating profit before finance costs
Finance income
Finance costs

28
32
33

116,970
166,407
(32,399)

28,974
193,045
(32,686)

109,123
158,205
(30,293)

37,063
185,020
(31,588)

Profit before taxation
Taxation expense

34

250,978
(92,271)

189,333
(69,004)

237,035
(88,189)

190,495
(63,997)

158,707

120,329

148,846

126,498

(852)

(2,573)

(852)

(2,573)

157,855

117,756

147,994

123,925

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income (net of tax):
Fair value adjustment assets-available-for-sale reserve
Total comprehensive income

42
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Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Total
reserves

Retained
income

Total
equity

Notes

Share
capital

44

200,940
–

3,435
–

750,000
–

753,435
–

1,301,579
180,632

2,255,954
180,632

200,940

3,435

750,000

753,435

1,482,211

2,436,586

–
–
–

(2,573)
–
–

–
–
–

(2,573)
–
–

120,329
155,322
(34,993)

117,756
155,322
(34,993)

Balance at 1 April 2011 restated
Total comprehensive income for the year

200,940
–

862
(852)

750,000
–

750,862
(852)

1,602,540
158,707

2,554,342
157,855

Balance at 31 March 2012

200,940

10

750,000

750,010

1,761,247

2,712,197

13

42

14

44

200,940
–

3,435
–

750,000
–

753,435
–

1,258,737
175,854

2,213,112
175,854

44

200,940
–
–
–

3,435
(2,573)
–
–

750,000
–
–
–

753,435
(2,573)
–
–

1,434,591
126,498
160,235
(33,737)

2,388,966
123,925
160,235
(33,737)

Balance at 1 April 2011 restated
Total comprehensive income for the year

200,940
–

862
(852)

750,000
–

750,862
(852)

1,561,089
148,846

2,512,891
147,994

Balance at 31 March 2012

200,940

10

750,000

750,010

1,709,935

2,660,885

13

42

14

Figures in Rand thousand
Group
Opening balance as previously reported –
1 April 2010
Prior year adjustments
Balance at 1 April 2010 as restated
Total comprehensive income for the year
2011 restated
Profit for the year as previously reported
Prior year adjustment

44

Note(s)
Company
Opening balance as previously reported –
1 April 2010
Prior year adjustments
Balance at 1 April 2010 restated
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year as previously reported
Prior year adjustment

Note(s)

100

Funds
received
from
shareholder

Availablefor-sale
reserve

44

44
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Statements of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March 2012

Group

Company
Restated
2012
2011

2012

Restated
2011

5,607,949
(5,087,541)

5,350,606
(4,886,895)

5,258,306
(4,761,790)

4,975,331
(4,524,009)

520,408
59,872
3,333
(1,895)
(142,936)
(209,159)

463,711
63,464
3,000
(1,099)
(155,725)
(216,277)

496,516
57,562
3,333
(63)
(139,043)
(203,928)

451,322
55,771
3,000
(1)
(154,615)
(210,441)

229,623

157,074

214,377

145,036

2
2
3
4
4
6

(86,610)
2,952
(3)
(19,282)
315
(64,252)

(161,269)
15,265
–
(25,428)
–
(27,649)

(86,037)
2,596
(3)
(19,228)
316
(64,252)

(154,956)
9,747
–
(24,256)
–
(27,649)

8

(1,672,786)

949,188

(1,666,880)

959,723

(1,839,666)

750,107

(1,833,488)

762,609

Cash flows from financing activities
Subsidy received
Universal Service Obligation (USO costs)

180,442
(323,298)

306,077
(317,659)

180,442
(323,298)

306,077
(317,659)

Net cash from financing activities

(142,856)

(11,582)

(142,856)

(11,582)

Figures in Rand thousand

Note(s)

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Dividends received
Finance costs
Tax paid
Employee obligations paid

35

Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of investment properties
Purchase of other intangible assets
Sale of other intangible assets
Increase in non-current investment and financial assets
(Increase)/decrease
in
current
investments
and
financial assets
Net cash (to)/from investing activities

Net increase in deposits from the public
Total cash movement for the year
Cash at the beginning of the year

23

273,842
(1,479,057)
4,756,214

332,035
1,227,634
3,528,580

273,842
(1,488,125)
4,725,228

332,035
1,228,098
3,497,130

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

12

3,277,157

4,756,214

3,237,103

4,725,228
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Notes to the Group financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2012

1.

Presentation of financial statements

	The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below. The accounting
policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the annual financial statements.
1.1 Basis of preparation
		The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) including
International Accounting Standards (IAS) and Interpretations.
		The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities
are carried at their fair value: available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments)
measured at fair value through profit and loss.
		The preparation of the annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
		Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates
with a significant risk of material adjustment are discussed in note 1.19.
		The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future years
if the revision affects both current and future years.
1.2 Basis of consolidation
		
Subsidiaries
		Subsidiaries are those entities in which the Group, directly or indirectly, has an interest of more than one half of the voting rights
or otherwise has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The existence
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.
		The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of
exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any
minority interest.
		The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the
difference is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income.
		Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which effective control is transferred to the Group and consolidation ceases from
the date of disposal or the date on which control ceases. All inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised surpluses and
deficits on transactions between Group entities have been eliminated. Accounting policies have been applied consistently by
Group entities.
1.3 Foreign currencies
		
Functional and presentation currency
		Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in South African Rand,
which is the functional currency of the parent company.
		
Transactions and balances
		Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction
date (spot rate). At reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates prevailing at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the statements of comprehensive income. Nonmonetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction.
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1.

Presentation of financial statements (continued)

1.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
		
Group entities
		The results and financial position of all Group entities (whose functional currency is not the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency of the Group are translated into the Group presentation
currency as follows:
		
•	Assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date.
		
•	Income and expenses are translated at exchange rates approximating to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions.
		
•	All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity (foreign currency translation reserve).
		The results and financial position of all Group entities (whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
		
•	All amounts (i.e. assets, liabilities, equity items, income and expenses, including comparatives) are translated at the rates of
exchange ruling at the reporting date.
		
•	Comparative amounts are not restated if they have been translated into the Group’s presentation currency in previous
financial years.
		On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of borrowings that are deemed to be part of the net investment
in foreign operations are taken to other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold, exchange differences that were
recorded in equity are recognised in the statements of comprehensive income as part of the gain or loss on sale.
		Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity in the Group financial statements and translated at the exchange rate at reporting date.
1.4 Goodwill
		Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets
acquired at the date of acquisition of subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures.
		Goodwill is initially recognised at cost and is subsequently carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit
may be impaired. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
		Negative goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised directly as a capital item in the statement of comprehensive income.
1.5 Property, plant and equipment
		Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment includes all costs that are incurred in order to bring the asset into a
location and condition necessary to enable it to operate as intended by management and includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, and the initial estimate, where applicable, of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which
it is located.
		Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of
property, plant and equipment and are depreciated separately.
		Subsequent expenditure relating to an item or part of an item of property, plant and equipment is capitalised when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the part that is replaced is derecognised in accordance with the principles set out below. Costs of repairs and
maintenance are recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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for the year ended 31 March 2012

1.

Presentation of financial statements (continued)

1.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
		Depreciation is charged to the statements of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each
part of an item of property, plant and equipment from when it is available to operate as intended by management. The estimated
useful lives are as follows:
		
		
		
		
		
		
		

Item
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Plant, machinery and equipment
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Data processing equipment

Years
30 – 100
1–3
3 – 20
3 – 12
3 – 20
3–8

		Land is not depreciated. Leasehold improvements on premises occupied under operating leases are written off over the expected
useful lives, or where shorter, the term of the lease.
		Assets held under finance lease are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets, or where
shorter, the term of the relevant lease. Estimates of useful lives, residual values and method of depreciation are reviewed annually
and any changes are accounted for prospectively as a change in the accounting estimate.
		The estimated useful lives, residual values and amortisation methods are reviewed at each year-end with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
		The carrying amount of an item or part of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be derecognised at the earlier of the date
of disposal or the date when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses on derecognition of
items of property, plant and equipment are included in the statements of comprehensive income. The gain or loss is the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.
1.6 Investment properties
		Investment properties are properties held for the purpose of earning rental income or for capital appreciation or both, and are initially
recorded at cost or deemed cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, and are accounted for in line with the policy on property, plant and equipment
(refer accounting policy note 1.5).
		Depreciation is charged to the statements of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives on the
same basis as owned assets or where there is a shorter term of the relevant lease.
1.7 Leases
		
The Group is the lessee
		Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
		Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the leased term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the
Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Assets acquired in terms of finance leases are capitalised at the lower of
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease and depreciated over the estimated useful
life of the asset on the same basis as owned assets, or where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Minimum lease payments are apportioned
between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the liability.
		Where leases contain both land and building components, each component is considered separately for classification purposes.
At inception of the lease, the minimum lease payments are allocated to the components in proportion to the relative fair values of
the leasehold interests in the land and buildings element of the lease. If this cannot be measured reliably, then the lease is classified
as a finance lease, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases, in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease.
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Presentation of Financial Statements (continued)

1.7 Leases (continued)
		
The Group is the lessee (continued)
		Rental expense under operating leases is recognised in the statements of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.
		Lease incentives received are recognised in the statements of comprehensive income as an integral part of the total lease expense.
		
The Group is the lessor
		Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the statements of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income.
1.8
		
		
		

Intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when:
•	it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
•	the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

		Intangible assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other subsequent expenditure is expensed as incurred.
		The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either definite or indefinite. Amortisation is charged to the statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.
		Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at each reporting date. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. There were no intangible assets with an indefinite useful life at year-end.
		The estimated useful lives, residual values and amortisation methods are reviewed at each year-end, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
		Amortisation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the asset
as follows:
		
		
		
		

Item
Licences
Software – mainframe
Software – personal computer

Useful life
1–3
2–8
1–3

1.9 Financial instruments
		
Financial assets
		Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date and trade day being the day when all risks and rewards associated
with the investment are transferred and where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the instrument within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus
transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at
fair value.
		Financial assets have been classified by the Group into the following specified categories: Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss (FVTPL), held to maturity financial assets, available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
		
Effective interest method
		The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of the financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts, including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts through
the expected life of the financial asset or where appropriate a shorter period. Income is recognised on the effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial assets designated as at FVTPL.
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Presentation of financial statements (continued)

1.9 Financial instruments (continued)
		Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
		A financial asset is classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or designated as such upon initial
recognition. Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any resulting gains or losses recognised in profit and loss.
The net gain or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
		A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
		
•	it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future;
		
•	it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit taking; or
		
•	it is a derivative that is not designated and it is not effective as a hedging instrument, i.e. hedge accounting is not being applied.
		The Group may designate any financial assets at FVTPL in line with the Group’s investment strategy and Asset and Liability (ALCO)
policy. This would first be approved at the Group’s ALCO committee meeting as per the Group’s treasury policy requirements.
		The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts (FECs) and customer foreign currency accounts (CFCs) to manage its
exposure to foreign exchange risk. Both foreign exchange contracts and customer foreign currency accounts have been classified
as held for trading. Both are initially recognised at fair value at the date a contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured
to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
		A foreign exchange forward contract is presented as a non-current asset or non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the
instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Foreign exchange forward
contracts are presented as current assets or current liabilities if the remaining maturity of the instrument is less than 12 months and
it is expected to be realised or settled within 12 months.
		The CFC foreign currency assets have been designated as fair value throught profit and loss (FVTPL) and are revalued to Rand
currency monthly. The resulting gains or losses from monthly revaluations are recognised in profit and loss. CFC assets are also
presented as current assets as the foreign currency is held in overnight callable deposits.
		
Held to maturity financial assets
		Held to maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the
Group has the intent and ability to hold to maturity. Held to maturity instruments are measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, less any impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis. The Group’s cash on hand and cash in
the bank equivalents and short-term deposits (i.e. fixed and callable deposits) are included in the held to maturity category.
		
Loans and receivables
		Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. Interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate except for short-term receivables where the recognition of interest
would be immaterial.
		
Available for sale financial assets
		Financial assets are classified as available for sale where the intention with regard to the instrument and its origination does not fall
within the ambit of other financial asset classifications. Available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with fair value
gains and losses recognised directly in other comprehensive income as the available for sale equity revaluation reserve. Interest
is calculated using the effective interest method. Where the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the available for sale reserve is included in profit or loss for the period. Bonds,
Negotiable certificates of deposits (“NCDs”) and equity investments held by the Group are classified under available for sale
financial assets.
		Dividends on available for sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive dividends is
established. Financial assets may be designated as available for sale in accordance with the Group asset and liability management
(ALM) investment strategy.
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Presentation of financial statements (continued)

1.9 Financial instruments (continued)
		
Impairment of financial asset
		Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), are assessed for indications of impairment during the
reporting period and at each reporting date in line with the Group’s treasury policy. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have been impacted.
		For unlisted shares classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost
is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
		For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:
		
•	significant financial difficulty of the issuer; or
		
•	default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
		
•	it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
		For certain categories of financial assets such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period of 60 days as well as observable changes in the national or local economic conditions that correlate with
a default on receivables.
		For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
		The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. The Group’s policy on the impairment of trade and other receivables is outlined in note 11.
		With the exception of available for sale equity instruments, if, in subsequent periods, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date of the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
		In respect of available for sale equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised through profit or loss are not reversed
through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised directly in equity.
		
Derecognition of financial assets
		The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
		
Equity instruments
		An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
		
Financial liabilities issued by the Group
		Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
		The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the
expected life of the financial liability or a shorter period.
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1.9 Financial instruments (continued)
		
Derecognition of financial liabilities
		The Group derecognises financial liabilities when and only when the Group obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
		
Offset
		Where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists for recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and there is an intention to
settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously, or to settle on a net basis, all related financial effects are offset. Otherwise it
is not allowed.
		
Loans to (from) Group companies
		These include loans to holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and are recognised
initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs.
		Subsequently these loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss
recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts.
		On loans receivable an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that it is impaired.
The impairment is measured as the difference between the investment’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.
		Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the investment’s recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.
		

Loans to (from) Group companies are classified as loans and receivables.

		
		

Loans to shareholders, directors, managers and employees
These financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus direct transaction costs.

		Subsequently these loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss
recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts.
		On loans receivable, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. The
impairment is measured as the difference between the investment’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.
		Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the investment’s recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.
		
Trade and other receivables
		Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Other trade receivables are subsequently designated as fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
with any resulting gains and losses recognised in profit and loss. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.
		Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default
or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The
allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.
		The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against
operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive income.
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1.9 Financial instruments (continued)
		
Trade and other payables
		Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method. Other trade payables are subsequently designated as fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) with any resulting
gains and losses recognised in profit and loss.
		
Cash and cash equivalents
		Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These are initially
recorded at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
		
Bank overdraft and borrowings
		Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of
borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.
		Other financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method.
1.10 Inventories
		Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted-average method. The cost
of inventory includes all expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition.
The cost of finished goods comprise raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads, but excludes
interest paid. Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated selling
expenses.
1.11 Impairment of non-financial assets
		The carrying values of the Group’s assets other than inventory and deferred taxation assets are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying value of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
		For goodwill, intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the
recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.
		The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
		Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis.
		A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount increases as a result of a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount if related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying value that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. The reversal is recognised
in the statements of comprehensive income. After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future years to allocate
the asset’s revised carrying value, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. Impairment losses in
respect of goodwill are not reversed.
1.12 Employee benefits
		
Short-term employee benefits
		The cost of all short-term employee benefits are recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service.
The provisions for employee entitlements to salaries, performance bonuses and annual leave, represents the amounts which the
Group has a present obligation to pay as a result of the employees’ service provided. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that
defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such
as age, years of service and compensation.
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1.12 Employee benefits (continued)
		
Pension obligations
		Group companies operate various pension schemes. The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
		
Defined benefit plans
		Defined benefit schemes are funded through payments to trustee-administered funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations.
		The liability recognised in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the
reporting date less the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past
service costs. An actuarial valuation is performed at every reporting period using the projected unit credit method. The present
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of
Government securities which have terms of maturity approximating the terms of the related liability.
		Cumulative actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in excess of the
greater of:
		
• 10% of the value of plan assets; or
		
• 10% of the defined benefit obligations.
		are recognised in income over the employee’s expected average remaining working lives.
		Past service costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.
To the extent that the benefits are already vested, past service costs are recognised immediately.
		
Defined contribution plans
		A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. Contributions are recognised as an expense as incurred.
		
Other post-employment benefit obligations
		
• Healthcare benefits
			The entitlement to post-retirement healthcare benefits is based on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age for
employees retiring up to June 2005. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments, and changes in actuarial
assumptions, are charged or credited to the statements of comprehensive income over the expected average remaining
working lives of the relevant employees to the extent that they exceed the 10% corridor. These obligations are valued at every
reporting period by independent qualified actuaries.
			The expected cost of these benefits for past service is recognised immediately.
		
• Other long-term benefits
			The Group has other long-term benefits that accrue to employees and certain pensioners. These consist of telephone and long
service awards. The telephone awards are only awarded to pensioners who had retired before June 2005. The Group’s net
obligation in this regard is the amount of future benefit that employees or pensioners have earned in return for their service in
the prior periods. The obligation is valued every period by independent qualified actuaries. Any unrecognised actuarial gains/
losses and past service costs are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
		
Other employment benefits
		
• Leave accrual
			Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to reporting date. The Post Office leave liability is
accounted for as a long-term benefit as a significant portion that has vested will most probably not be utilised or encashed within
12 months of year-end. The annual leave obligations are valued at every reporting period by independent qualified actuaries.
Any unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past service costs are recognised immediately. For other Group companies, the
leave liability is accounted for as a short-term benefit and is also actuarially valued.
1.13 Provisions
		The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
financial reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Provisions are recognised when
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made.
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1.13 Provisions (continued)
		Where the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation.
1.14 Decommissioning
		The provision relates to the decommission costs that are expected to be incurred upon termination or conclusion of lease
agreements.
1.15 Revenue recognition
		Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from the sale of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.
		Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the statements of comprehensive income when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the statements of comprehensive
income when the service has been rendered.
		Revenue earned from the provision of services over a fixed period, such as post box rental, are earned in the statements of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the service.
		Presentation – Gross vs Nett: Where the company’s role in a transaction is that of a principal, revenue is recognised on a gross
basis. This requires revenue to comprise the gross value of the transactions billed to customers after trade discounts. Where
the company’s role in a transaction is that of an agent, revenue is recognised on a net basis, with revenue representing the
margin earned.
		Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal amount outstanding and the effective rate over the
period to maturity.
		When a receivable is recognised, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its present value for significant receivables or
receivables with extended payment terms. The present value represents the estimated future cash flows discounted at original
effective interest rates. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as interest income over the period.
		Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.
1.16 Taxation
		
Current tax assets and liabilities
		Current tax on the profit or loss for the period comprise current and deferred tax. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expenses that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. Income tax is recognised in the statements of
comprehensive income except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in
equity.
		Current taxation comprises tax payable calculated on the basis of the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustments of the tax payable for the previous period.
		
Deferred tax assets and liabilities
		Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
		Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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1.16 Taxation (continued)
		
Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued)
		The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
		Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.
1.17 Government grants
		Grants from the Government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all covenants. These are included in subsidies received in advance until they are utilised.
		Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them to the related costs on a systematic
basis. Government grants relating to assets are recognised as a reduction of the cost of the asset acquired.
		Government grants received as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support with no future related costs are recognised as income in the period in which they become receivable.
1.18 Insurance contracts
		The Group issues short-term insurance contracts that protect the Group’s customers against the risk of loss or damage.
These contracts transfer significant insurance risk. As a general guideline, the Group defines significant insurance risk as the
possibility of having to pay benefits, on the occurrence of an insured event, that are at least 10% more than the benefits payable if
the insured event did not occur.
		For all these contracts, premiums are recognised as revenue (earned premiums) proportionally over the period of coverage.
The portion of premium received on in-force contracts that relates to unexpired risks at the reporting date is reported as the
unearned premium liability which is included under other payables.
		Claims and loss adjustment expenses are charged to the statements of comprehensive income as incurred based on the estimated
liability for compensations owed to contract holders. They include direct and indirect claims settlement costs and arise from events
that have occurred up to the reporting date even if they have not yet been reported to the Group. The Group does not discount its
liabilities for unpaid claims other than for disability claims. Liabilities for unpaid claims are estimated based on past experience.
1.19 Judgments and estimates
		The following are the critical judgments and estimates that the directors have made in the process of applying the entities’
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
		
• Unearned revenue – note 24.
		
• Useful lives of property, plant and equipment – note 1.5.
		
• Useful lives of intangible assets – note 1.8.
		
• Useful lives of investment properties – note 3.
		
• Provision for decommissioning – note 17.
		
• Employment benefit obligations – note 16.
		
•	Deferred tax assets – deferred taxation assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the taxable income will be
available in the future against which these can be utilised. The raising of deferred tax assets is a process that is based on certain
assumptions about the ability of the entity to generate future profits in order to utilise the future tax benefits.
		
• Provision for bad debts – note 11.
		
• Impairment on loans and investments in subsidiaries – note 41.
		
• Provision for inventory write-down – note 10.

112

113

Notes to the Group financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2012 (continued)

1.

Presentation of financial statements (continued)

1.19 Judgments and estimates (continued)
		
Contingent liabilities
		Management applies its judgment to the fact of patterns and advice it receives from its attorneys, advocates and other advisors
in assessing if an obligation is probable, more likely than not, or remote. This judgment application is used to determine if the
obligation is recognised as a liability or disclosed as a contingent liability.
		
Onerous contracts
		A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are lower
than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract.
		
Impairment of trade and other receivables
		The impairment of trade and other receivables is based on a combination of specifically identified doubtful debtors and providing
for older debtors.
1.20 Borrowing costs
		Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
		To the extent that variable rate borrowings are used to finance a qualifying asset and are hedged in an effective cash flow hedge of
interest rate risk, the effective portion of the derivative is deferred in equity and released to profit or loss when the qualifying asset
impacts profit or loss. To the extent that fixed rate borrowings are used to finance a qualifying asset and are hedged in an effective
fair value hedge of interest rate risk, the capitalised borrowing costs reflect the hedged interest rate.
		Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
		All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
1.21 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
		Fruitless expenditure means expenditure, which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been
exercised.
		All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statements of comprehensive
income in the period that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense,
and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statements of comprehensive income.
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2.

Property, plant and equipment

2012

Accumulated
Cost depreciation

Figures in Rand thousand
Group
Freehold land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Data processing equipment
Leasehold improvements
Total
Company
Freehold land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Data processing equipment
Leasehold improvements
Total

Carrying
value

2011
Restated
accumuRestated
lated
cost depreciation

Restated
carrying
value

Restated
carrying
value

991,693
466,974
66,648
33,194
374,567
331,773

(171,564)
(322,328)
(36,049)
(27,027)
(273,726)
(249,706)

820,129
144,646
30,599
6,167
100,841
82,067

971,374
517,777
67,180
47,036
407,462
319,190

(141,829)
(356,559)
(33,777)
(37,985)
(282,456)
(217,999)

829,545
161,218
33,403
9,051
125,006
101,191

943,291
497,955
50,271
45,143
386,185
301,047

(111,831)
(340,048)
(30,725)
(35,382)
(263,210)
(186,600)

831,460
157,907
19,546
9,761
122,975
114,447

2,264,849

(1,080,400)

1,184,449

2,330,019

(1,070,605)

1,259,414

2,223,892

(967,796)

1,256,096

981,278
435,527
63,102
2,146
354,662
330,995

(169,698)
(296,950)
(32,752)
(1,749)
(258,427)
(249,191)

811,580
138,577
30,350
397
96,235
81,804

960,958
485,821
63,457
3,109
381,784
318,763

(140,166)
(332,834)
(30,386)
(2,427)
(263,509)
(217,572)

820,792
152,987
33,071
682
118,275
101,191

932,875
462,907
46,548
2,989
362,364
300,620

(110,363)
(319,337)
(27,513)
(2,139)
(246,074)
(186,191)

822,512
143,570
19,035
850
116,290
114,429

2,167,710

(1,008,767)

1,158,943

2,213,892

(986,894)

1,226,998

2,108,303

(891,617)

1,216,686

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2012
Opening
Figures in Rand thousand
balance
Additions
Freehold land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Data processing equipment
Leasehold improvements

Freehold land and buildings
buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Data processing equipment
Leasehold improvements

Transfers Depreciation

Carrying
value

22,870
17,610
2,999
13
24,740
18,378

(9)
(1,858)
(299)
(194)
(386)
(194)

(2,181)
(213)
(822)
(202)
(841)
2,066

(30,096)
(32,111)
(4,682)
(2,501)
(47,678)
(39,374)

820,129
144,646
30,599
6,167
100,841
82,067

1,259,414

86,610

(2,940)

(2,193)

(156,442)

1,184,449

Disposals

Transfers

Restated
depreciation

Restated
carrying
value

831,460

28,398

(226)

43

(30,130)

829,545

157,907
19,546
9,761
122,975
114,447

37,131
17,339
4,115
46,606
27,680

(3,585)
(45)
(266)
(425)
(5)

(43)
–
–
–
–

(30,192)
(3,437)
(4,559)
(44,150)
(40,931)

161,218
33,403
9,051
125,006
101,191

1,256,096

161,269

(4,552)

–

(153,399)

1,259,414

Disposals

Transfers

Restated
depreciation

Restated
carrying
value

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2010
Restated
opening
Figures in Rand thousand
balance
Additions
Freehold land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Data processing equipment
Leasehold improvements
Assets under construction
Leased – data processing equipment

Disposals

829,545
161,218
33,403
9,051
125,006
101,191

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2011
Restated
opening
Figures in Rand thousand
balance
Additions

114

2010
Restated
accumulated
Cost depreciation

800,053
183,481
20,609
14,360
180,111
133,895
10,537
6

54,876
12,623
4,313
–
286
27,552
–
–

(1,126)
(2,354)
(312)
(621)
(670)
(1,077)
–
–

5,552
92
–
–
(10,075)
(5,588)
(10,537)
–

(27,895)
(35,935)
(5,064)
(3,978)
(46,677)
(40,335)
–
(6)

831,460
157,907
19,546
9,761
122,975
114,447
–
–

1,343,052

99,650

(6,160)

(20,556)

(159,890)

1,256,096
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2.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2012
Opening
Figures in Rand thousand
balance
Additions

Disposals

Transfers Depreciation

Carrying
value

820,792
152,987
33,071
682
118,275
101,191

22,870
17,579
2,999
13
24,549
18,027

(9)
(1,728)
(298)
(8)
(347)
(194)

(2,181)
(213)
(822)
–
(508)
2,066

(29,892)
(30,048)
(4,600)
(290)
(45,734)
(39,286)

811,580
138,577
30,350
397
96,235
81,804

1,226,998

86,037

(2,584)

(1,658)

(149,850)

1,158,943

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2011
Restated
opening
Figures in Rand thousand
balance
Additions

Disposals

Transfers

Freehold land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Data processing equipment
Leasehold improvements

Freehold land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Data processing equipment
Leasehold improvements

822,512
143,570
19,035
850
116,290
114,429

28,398
36,685
17,338
121
44,734
27,680

(226)
(47)
(45)
–
(425)
(5)

43
(43)
–
–
–
–

(29,935)
(27,178)
(3,257)
(289)
(42,324)
(40,913)

820,792
152,987
33,071
682
118,275
101,191

1,216,686

154,956

(748)

–

(143,896)

1,226,998

Disposals

Transfers

Restated
depreciation

Restated
carrying
value

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Company – 2010
Restated
opening
Figures in Rand thousand
balance
Additions
Freehold land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Data processing equipment
Leasehold improvements
Assets under construction
Leased – data processing equipment

Restated
Restated
depreciation carrying value

790,910
165,212
19,902
1,163
171,891
132,625
10,537
6

54,876
12,276
4,313
–
–
27,552
–
–

(1,126)
(1,175)
(300)
(32)
(614)
(18)
–
–

5,552
92
–
–
(10,075)
(5,588)
(10,537)
–

(27,700)
(32,835)
(4,880)
(281)
(44,912)
(40,142)
–
(6)

822,512
143,570
19,035
850
116,290
114,429
–
–

1,292,246

99,017

(3,265)

(20,556)

(150,756)

1,216,686

A register of land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered offices of each company in the Group.
No fixed assets in the Group were impaired during the financial year under review.
	The policies adopted for property, plant and equipment are consistent with the prior period. Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to
have an indefinite life.
	The municipal valuation of freehold land and buildings is R1.1 billion (2011: R1 billion, 2010: R1 billion). Mail centres and hubs have been
valued at depreciated replacement cost and all other fixed property are reflected at municipality values. According to SA Post Office policy,
the valuations are done at three-year intervals.
	Freehold land and buildings as well as significant components to the buildings are stated at the carrying value thereof. The useful life of
each building, except for any reclassification thereof to non-current assets held for sale, is deemed to equate its economic useful life, as
management has taken a decision not to sell these buildings.
Refer to note 44 for details of prior year restatement on assets.
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2.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

	The following assets that are financed through project specific funding are recorded in the asset register and included therein at R1 in
accordance with the accounting policy for Government grants. If these assets had been recorded at cost and depreciated over their
useful lives, their book value would be as follows:
2012
Accumulated
Cost depreciation

Figures in Rand thousand

3.

2011
Accumulated
Cost depreciation

Carrying
value

2010
Accumulated
Cost depreciation

Carrying
value

Carrying
value

Group and company
Freehold land and buildings
Plant and machinery
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Data processing equipment
Leasehold improvements
Assets under construction

87,483
103,679
596
490
396,677
286,514
–

(12,144)
(33,766)
(596)
(490)
(341,836)
(270,611)
–

75,339
69,913
–
–
54,841
15,903
–

85,950
44,703
596
490
404,352
280,693
14,394

(9,046)
(24,779)
(596)
(490)
(297,719)
(233,556)
–

76,904
19,924
–
–
106,633
47,137
14,394

79,288
44,703
628
490
404,747
273,158
–

(6,044)
(20,315)
(577)
(490)
(244,760)
(181,464)
–

73,244
24,388
51
–
159,987
91,694
–

Total

875,439

(659,443)

215,996

831,178

(566,186)

264,992

803,014

(453,650)

349,364

Investment properties
2012

Figures in Rand thousand

Accumulated
Cost depreciation

2011
Restated
accumuRestated
lated
cost depreciation

Carrying
value

2010
Restated
accumuRestated
lated
cost depreciation

Restated
carrying
value

Restated
carrying
value

Group
Freehold land and buildings

23,759

(3,380)

20,379

21,105

(2,509)

18,596

21,611

(2,110)

19,501

Company
Freehold land and buildings

23,759

(3,380)

20,379

21,105

(2,509)

18,596

21,611

(2,110)

19,501

Reconciliation of investment properties – Group – 2012
Figures in Rand thousand
Freehold land and buildings

Opening
balance

Additions

18,596

3

2,296

(516)

20,379

Restated
opening
balance

Utilisation
of subsidy

Restated
depreciation

Restated
carrying
value

19,501

(505)

(400)

18,596

Restated
carrying
value
19,501

Transfers Depreciation

Carrying
value

Reconciliation of investment properties – Group – 2011

Figures in Rand thousand
Freehold land and buildings
Reconciliation of investment properties – Group – 2010

Figures in Rand thousand
Freehold land and buildings

116

Opening
balance

Additions

Disposals

Transfers

Restated
depreciation

18,541

1,867

(512)

49

(444)
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3.

Investment properties (continued)
Reconciliation of investment properties – Company – 2012
Figures in Rand thousand

Opening
Balance

Additions

18,596

3

2,296

(516)

20,379

Restated
opening
Balance

Utilisation
of subsidy

Restated
depreciation

Restated
carrying
value

19,501

(505)

(400)

18,596

Restated
carrying
value
19,501

Freehold land and buildings

Transfers Depreciation

Carrying
value

Reconciliation of investment properties – Company – 2011

Figures in Rand thousand
Freehold land and buildings
Reconciliation of investment properties – Company – 2010

Figures in Rand thousand
Freehold land and buildings

Restated
opening
balance

Additions

Disposals

Transfers

Restated
depreciation

18,541

1,867

(512)

49

(444)

	A register containing the information required by Regulation 25 (3) of Companies Regulations 2011 is available for inspection at the
registered office of the company.
	Depreciation is charged to the statements of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part
of the item of investment property from when it is available to operate as intended by management.
	The estimated useful lives are as follows: Investment properties, 30 to 100 years.
	The above assumptions are consistent with the prior year.
	Investment properties and significant components thereof are stated at the costs thereof.
	The fair values disclosed for 2011 and 2012 are based on the municipal values.

4.

Intangible assets
2012

Figures in Rand thousand

Accumulated
Cost amortisation

Carrying
value

2011
Restated
accumuRestated
lated
cost amortisation

Restated
carrying
value

2010
Restated
accumuRestated
lated
cost amortisation

Restated
carrying
value

Group
Patents, trademarks and
other rights
Computer software

–
312,121

–
(247,682)

–
64,439

–
304,346

–
(221,429)

–
82,917

10,800
280,961

(10,800)
(189,760)

–
91,201

Total

312,121

(247,682)

64,439

304,346

(221,429)

82,917

291,761

(200,560)

91,201

Company
Computer software

307,371

(244,642)

62,729

299,990

(218,930)

81,060

277,777

(187,678)

90,099
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4.

Intangible assets (continued)
Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2012
Opening
Figures in Rand thousand
balance
Additions
82,917

Computer software

Disposals

19,282

(315)

Transfers Amortisation

Carrying
value

(307)

(37,138)

64,439

Restated
opening
balance

Additions

Restated
amortisation

Restated
carrying
value

91,201

25 428

(33,712)

82,917

Restated
carrying
value

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2011

Figures in Rand thousand
Computer software
Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2010
Restated
opening
balance

Additions

Transfers

Restated
amortisation

89,777

22,478

10,534

(31,588)

91,201

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2012
Opening
Figures in Rand thousand
balance
Additions

Disposals

Transfers Amortisation

Carrying
value

Figures in Rand thousand
Computer software

81,060

Computer software

19,228

(316)

(640)

(36,603)

62,729

Restated
opening
balance

Additions

Restated
amortisation

Restated
carrying
value

90,099

24,256

(33,295)

81,060

Additions

Transfers

Restated
amortisation

Restated
carrying
value

22,144

10,534

(31,401)

90,099

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2011

Figures in Rand thousand
Computer software
Reconciliation of intangible assets – Company – 2010
Restated
opening
Figures in Rand thousand
balance
Computer software

88,822

Other information
	No intangible assets in the Group have been impaired during this period (2011 and 2010: none). Included in intangible assets is computer
software that is not considered integral to computer equipment.
	Intangible assets that are financed through project-specific funding are recorded in the asset register and included therein at R1 in
accordance with the accounting policy for Government grants. If these assets had been recorded at cost and depreciated over their
expected useful lives, their book value would be as follows:

Figures in Rand thousand
Group and company
Computer software
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2012
Accumulated
Cost amortisation
256,397

(228,182)

Carrying
value
28,215

2011
Accumulated
Cost amortisation
257,687

(193,038)

Carrying
value
64,649

2010
Accumulated
Cost amortisation
257,687

(152,720)

Carrying
values
104,967
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5.

Non-current assets held for sale – vehicles
2012
Accumulated
Cost depreciation

Figures in Rand thousand
Group
Vehicles

10,878

Carrying
value

(10,677)

2011
Accumulated
Cost depreciation

201

–

–

2010
AccumuCost/
lated
valuation depreciation

Carrying
value
–

–

Carrying
value

–

–

	A decision was taken by management to dispose of several motor vehicles in March 2012 at an auction. This auction is expected to take
place during the 2013 financial year. These vehicles were found not to be financially viable.

6.

Other financial assets
2012

Group
2011

2010

2012

Non-current assets
Available for sale

–

–

3,597

–

–

3,597

Government bonds and equity

–

–

3,597

–

–

3,597

Total available for sale

–

–

3,597

–

–

3,597

Fair value through profit or loss
Balance as at 31 March

483,142

467,044

435,798

483,142

467,044

435,798

Foreign investments
Local investments

32,278
450,864

32,785
434,259

29,652
406,146

32,278
450,864

32,785
434,259

29,652
406,146

Total fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL) financial assets

483,142

467,044

435,798

483,142

467,044

435,798

48,154

–

–

48,154

–

–

531,296

467,044

439,395

531,296

467,044

439,395

89,683

81,585

71,055

–

3,425

3,412

–

3,425

–

–

3,425

–

89,683

78,160

71,055

–

–

3,412

Figures in Rand thousand

Provident fund asset
Total
other
(Non-current)

financial

Company
2011

2010

assets

Current assets
Available for sale
Balance as at 31 March
Government bonds
Cell-captive money market instruments
and corporate bonds
Total available for sale
Fair value through profit or loss
Balance as at 31 March

89,683

81,585

71,055

–

3,425

3,412

186,088

139,751

110,610

186,088

139,751

110,610

Foreign investments
Local investments

1,752
184,336

2,278
137,473

6,512
104,098

1,752
184,336

2,278
137,473

6,512
104,098

Total FVTPL financial assets

186,088

139,751

110,610

186,088

139,751

110,610

275,771

221,336

181,665

186,088

143,176

114,022

Total
other
(current)

financial

assets

	Other financial assets are classified by the Group as available for sale (AFS) and FVTPL. Other financial assets are classified as available
for sale (AFS) where the intention with regard to the instrument and its origination and designation does not fall within the ambit of other
financial asset classifications.
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6.

Other financial assets

	Financial assets are classified as FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or designated as such upon initial recognition.
Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value with resulting gains or losses recognised in profit and loss. The net gain or loss
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
	Refer to Note 1.9 for policy on financial asset classification.
2012

Group
2011

2010

2012

Company
2011

2010

341,009
294,191
34,030
–

311,365
260,367
35,063
–

287,073
223,171
28,039
8,125

341,009
294,191
34,030
–

311,365
260,367
35,063
–

287,073
223,171
28,039
8,125

669,230

606,795

546,408

669,230

606,795

546,408

Figures in Rand thousand
Post-retirement medical
assets
Local cash and bonds
Local equity
Foreign cash and bonds
Foreign equity

aid

	The post-retirement medical aid assets of R669.230 million have been earmarked to partially fund the post-retirement medical aid liability
of R1.229.994 million of the SA Post Office (refer to note 16). The remaining liability is adequately off-set by the other assets of some
R666.005 million (refer to note 8) emanating from a contribution holiday in 2005 when the defined benefit pension scheme was converted
to a defined contribution scheme.
Gidani Management (Proprietary) Ltd
	The Group owns an equity stake of 100 ordinary shares in Gidani Management (Pty) Ltd, which represents 10% of Gidani shares. The fair
value of the shares was determined by SA Post Office management to be zero at year-end (2011: R0). The shares were allocated to the
SA Post Office by the Department of Trade and Industry.

7.

Investments in subsidiaries
Figures in Rand thousand
Various unlisted investments (refer to note 41)

2012

Company
2011

2010

40,596

42,603

42,603

	Loans to subsidiaries amounting to R228.809 million (2011: R228.410 million, 2010: R227.800 million) are subordinated in favour of
creditors and investments amounting to R4.858 million (2011: R4.609 million, 2010: R4.740 million) were impaired.

8.

Investments
Figures in Rand thousand
Term deposits between 90 days
and a year in maturity
Fixed deposits
Negotiable certificate of deposits
Jibar linked notes

2012

Group
2011

2010

2012

Company
2011

2010

2,492,005
1,373,649
250,000

818,000
1,274,653
240,000

726,000
1,907,638
499,000

2,477,005
1,373,649
250,000

803,000
1,274,653
240,000

711,000
1,907,638
499,000

4,115,654

2,332,653

3,132,638

4,100,654

2,317,653

3,117,638

	The fixed deposits and Jibar-linked notes are classified as held to maturity instruments, which are measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method, less any impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis. The fixed deposits and
Jibar-linked notes shown above are greater than 90 days and less than 12 months in time to maturity. The fixed deposits and
Jibar-linked notes that are less than 90 days in maturity are classified as cash and cash equivalents and are included under short-term
deposits in Note 12. The negotiable certificates of deposit (NCDs) are classified as available for sale financial assets, which are measured
at fair value, with fair value gains and losses recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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9.

Deferred tax
2012

   Group
2011

2010

2012

316,726
(301)

285,434
(341)

330,121
(113,117)

313,560
–

423,488
(141,208)

323,657
(112,177)

316,425

285,093

217,004

313,560

282,280

211,480

2012

Restated
2011

Restated
2010

2012

Restated
2011

Restated
2010

Recognised deferred tax and
liabilities
Asset
Leases
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Tax loss
Other

16,226
416,802
7,204
22,408
8,785
–
197

12,640
406,117
2,952
27,935
(14,336)
157
(959)

7,303
358,142
4,438
27,049
(33,950)
66
2

15,904
416,473
6,241
22,408
7,755
–
–

13,144
405,801
387
26,519
(15,788)
–
–

7,703
358,200
1,916
25,633
(36,374)
–
–

Liability
Property, plant and equipment
Trade and other payables
Intangible assets
Financial instruments

(106,337)
(1,331)
(9,547)
(37,982)

(118,687)
(253)
(8,699)
(21,774)

(120,852)
(1,808)
(10,813)
(12,573)

(106,366)
(1,332)
(9,542)
(37,981)

(113,158)
(253)
(12,822)
(21,550)

(116,055)
(1,808)
(14,936)
(12,799)

316,425

285,093

217,004

313,560

282,280

211,480

Deferred tax at the beginning of the
period
Movement for the period

285,093
31,332

217,006
68,087

143,904
73,100

282,280
31,280

211,480
70,800

138,912
72,568

Deferred tax at the end of the
period

316,425

285,093

217,004

313,560

282,280

211,480

Figures in Rand thousand
Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liability

   Company
2011

2010
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9.
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Deferred tax (continued)
Figures in Rand thousand

Opening Recognised
balance in profit/(loss)

Closing
balance

Movement in temporary differences
Group – March 2012
Property, plant and equipment
Leases
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Financial instruments
Tax loss
Intangibles
Other

(118,687)
12,640
(253)
406,117
2,952
27,935
(14,336)
(21,771)
155
(8,700)
(959)

12,350
3,586
(1,079)
10,685
4,252
(5,527)
23,122
(16,211)
(155)
(846)
1,155

(106,337)
16,226
(1,332)
416,802
7,204
22,408
8,786
(37,982)
–
(9,546)
196

Tax asset

285,093

31,332

316,425

Figures in Rand thousand

Restated
opening
balance

Restated
recognised in
profit/(loss)

Restated
closing
balance

Movement in temporary differences
Group – March 2011
Property, plant and equipment and intangibles
Leases
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Financial instruments
Tax loss
Intangibles
Other

(120,852)
7,303
(1,808)
358,142
4,438
27,049
(33,950)
(12,571)
64
(10,813)
2

2,165
5,337
1,555
47,975
(1,486)
886
19,614
(9,200)
91
2,113
(961)

(118,687)
12,640
(253)
406,117
2,952
27,935
(14,336)
(21,771)
155
(8,700)
(959)

Tax asset

217,004

68,088

285,093

Figures in Rand thousand

Restated
opening
balance

Restated
recognised
in profit/(loss)

Restated
closing
balance

Movement in temporary differences
Group – March 2010
Property, plant and equipment
Leases
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Intangible assets
Financial instruments
Other
Tax loss

(131,762)
14,868
(3,014)
339,574
2,190
26,715
(94,737)
(9,935)
(17)
2
20

10,910
(7,565)
1,206
18,568
2,248
334
60,787
(878)
(12,554)
–
44

(120,852)
7,303
(1,808)
358,142
4,438
27,049
(33,950)
(10,813)
(12,571)
2
64

143,904

73,100

217,004
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9.

Deferred tax (continued)
Figures in Rand thousand

Opening Recognised
balance in profit/(loss)

Closing
balance

Movement in temporary differences
Company – March 2012
Property, plant and equipment and intangibles
Leases
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Financial instruments
Intangible assets

(113,158)
13,143
(253)
405,801
388
26,519
(15,788)
(21,550)
(12,822)

6,792
2,760
(1,078)
10,671
5,852
(4,111)
23,543
(16,432)
3,283

(106,366)
15,903
(1,331)
416,472
6,240
22,408
7,755
(37,982)
(9,539)

Tax asset

282,280

31,280

313,560

Figures in Rand thousand

Restated
opening
balance

Restated
recognised in
profit/(loss)

Restated
closing
balance

Movement in temporary differences
Company – March 2011
Property, plant and equipment
Leases
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Financial instruments
Intangibles

(116,055)
7,703
(1,808)
358,200
1,916
25,633
(36,374)
(12,798)
(14,937)

2,897
5,440
1,555
47,601
(1,528)
886
20,586
(8,752)
2,115

(113,158)
13,143
(253)
405,801
388
26,519
(15,788)
(21,550)
(12,822)

Tax asset

211,480

70,800

282,280

Figures in Rand thousand

Restated
opening
balance

Restated
recognised
in profit/(loss)

Restated
closing
balance

Movement in temporary differences
Company – March 2010
Property, plant and equipment
Leases
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Financial instruments
Intangibles

(124,284)
15,250
(3,014)
339,711
129
25,299
(96,691)
(244)
(17,244)

8,229
(7,547)
1,206
18,489
1,787
334
60,317
(12,554)
2,307

(116,055)
7,703
(1,808)
358,200
1,916
25,633
(36,374)
(12,798)
(14,937)

Tax asset

138,912

72,568

211,480
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9.

Deferred tax (continued)
Figures in Rand thousand
Group
Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Assets
Leases
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Tax loss
Financial instruments
Liabilities
Property, plant and equipment
Trade and other payables
Intangible assets

Figures in Rand thousand

2011

2010

71,088
371
3,049
2,284
565
600
63,975
244

71,927
173
3,188
2,569
809
1,480
63,708
–

72,551
257
3,284
2,966
2,119
1,523
62,402
–

(75)
531
(79)
(527)

(1,256)
(1,010)
(2)
(244)

(5,749)
(5,465)
(54)
(230)

71,013

70,671

66,802

Opening Recognised
balance in profit/(loss)

Closing
balance

Movement in temporary differences
Group – March 2012
Property, plant and equipment and intangibles
Leases
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Financial instruments
Intangible assets
Tax loss

(1,013)
176
(2)
3,188
2,568
809
1,481
–
(244)
63,708

1,544
195
(77)
(139)
(284)
(244)
(881)
244
(283)
267

531
371
(79)
3,049
2,284
565
600
244
(527)
63,975

Tax asset

70,671

342

71,013

Opening
balance

Recognised
in profit/(loss)

Closing
balance

Movement in temporary differences
Group – March 2011
Property, plant and equipment
Leases
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Intangible assets
Tax loss

(5,465)
257
(54)
3,284
2,966
2,119
1,523
(230)
62,402

4,452
(81)
52
(96)
(398)
(1,310)
(42)
(14)
1,306

(1,013)
176
(2)
3,188
2,568
809
1,481
(244)
63,708

Tax asset

66,802

3,869

70,671

Figures in Rand thousand
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9.

Deferred tax (continued)
Opening
balance
R’000

Recognised
in profit/(loss)
R’000

Closing
balance
R’000

Movement in temporary differences
Group – 2010
Property, plant and equipment and intangibles
Leases
Trade and other payables
Employee benefits
Trade and other receivables
Provisions
Revenue
Intangible assets
Tax losses

(6,103)
7,014
(54)
3,427
4,115
2,093
1,261
(94)
68,876

638
(6,757)
–
(143)
(1,149)
26
262
(136)
(6,474)

(5,465)
257
(54)
3,284
2,966
2,119
1,523
(230)
62,402

Tax asset

80,535

(13,733)

66,802

 he tax losses expire within 12 months of the respective company not trading. The deductible temporary differences do not expire under
T
current legislation. The corporate tax rate is 28%.

10. Inventories
2012

   Group
2011

2010

2012

Merchandise
Consumables

36,079
43,010

36,590
25,666

34,078
32,589

36,079
42,819

36,590
25,482

34,078
32,345

Inventories (write-downs)

79,089
(17,796)

62,256
(14,808)

66,667
(18,341)

78,898
(17,796)

62,072
(14,808)

66,423
(18,341)

61,293

47,448

48,326

61,102

47,264

48,082

Figures in Rand thousand

   Company
2011

2010

	The figures above are reflected at cost which is determined using the weighted-average method. The cost values have been adjusted for
stock provisions.
	Included in the above write-downs is a provision of R3.7 million (2011: R3.3 million, 2010: R3.9 million) for obsolete stock relating to stock
items where there is no movement in twelve (12) months, damaged stock and stock withdrawn from operations.
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11. Trade and other receivables
2012

   Group
2011

2010

2012

Trade receivables
Domestic
Agency services
Money transfers
Bulk posting
Speed services
Retail services
Services
Other
CFG trade debtors
Insurance
Docex trade debtors

418,220
291,416
6,297
14,326
136,965
20,712
23
2,747
44,789
48,980
–
16,577

421,685
304,226
7,116
16,686
122,850
19,941
475
1,785
60,809
51,375
8,262
14,927

408,856
281,279
6,925
17,851
124,335
21,742
796
1,497
39,636
49,878
2,459
16,160

352,627
225,823
6,297
14,326
136,965
20,712
23
2,747
44,753
–
–
–

346,235
228,776
7,116
16,686
122,850
19,941
475
1,785
59,923
–
–
–

339,116
211,539
6,925
17,851
124,335
21,742
796
1,497
38,393
–
–
–

International
Other receivables
Group receivable
Interest accrued on short-term
investments
Deposits sundry (Docex)
Sundry receivables
Pre-payments
Staff receivables
Trade receivables discounted
Impairment trade and other
receivables (excluding Group)
Impairment of intercompany
receivables

126,804
109,479
–

117,459
203,970
–

127,577
160,538
–

126,804
120,578
125,782

117,459
242,977
97,883

127,577
185,195
81,703

90,516
133
60,452
11,721
4,357
(3,694)

185,061
160
36,511
17,420
5,178
(3,038)

158,153
187
24,124
8,024
4,011
–

90,516
–
46,047
11,721
4,354
(3,644)

185,061
–
36,484
17,420
5,171
(2,973)

158,153
–
24,190
8,024
4,002
–

(54,006)

(37,322)

(33,961)

(38,606)

(19,187)

(14,127)

–

–

–

(115,592)

(76,881)

(76,750)

527,699

625,655

569,394

473,205

589,213

524,311

Impairment of trade and other
receivables
Impairment of allowances per
significant trade receivable
account category:
Philately collections
Bulkmail
Speed services
CFG Courier
Docex
Agency debtors (Philately)
Agency debtors (CPS)

–
(15)
(1,919)
(10,813)
(4,587)
(343)
(21,490)

–
(44)
(3,243)
(12,145)
(5,990)
(4,629)
–

179
(3)
(3,924)
(14,042)
(5,792)
–
–

–
(15)
(1,919)
–
–
(343)
(21,490)

–
(44)
(3,243)
–
–
(4,629)
–

179
(3)
(3,924)
–
–
–
–

Total impairment of receivables:
domestic

(39,167)

(26,051)

(23,582)

(23,767)

(7,916)

(3,748)

Figures in Rand thousand

126

   Company
2011

2010
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11. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Figures in Rand thousand
Rent
Salary overpayment

Total all impairments
Reconciliation of impairment
of trade and other receivables
(excluding Group)
Opening balance
Net impairment (raised)/released in
the current year
Receivables written off during the
year as uncollectible

2012

   Group
2011

2010

(11,039)
(3,800)

(6,447)
(4,824)

(6,097)
(4,282)

(11,039)
(3,800)

(6,447)
(4,824)

(6,097)
(4,282)

(14,839)

(11,271)

(10,379)

(14,839)

(11,271)

(10,379)

(54,006)

(37,322)

(33,961)

(38,606)

(19,187)

(14,127)

(37,322)

(33,961)

(36,480)

(19,187)

(14,127)

(13,027)

(16,684)

(3,361)

11,867

(19,419)

(5,060)

1,238

–

–

(9,348)

–

–

(2,338)

(54,006)

(37,322)

(33,961)

(38,606)

(19,187)

(14,127)

(76,881)

(76,750)

(67,352)

(38,711)

(131)

(9,398)

(115,592)

(76,881)

(76,750)

Reconciliation of impairment of
intercompany receivables
Opening balance
Net impairment (raised)/released in
the current year

Ageing of past due but not
impaired
The ageing of amounts past due
but not impaired is as follows:
Domestic
31 to 60 days
90 to 120 days

2012

   Company
2011

2010

15,592
25,356

24,922
8,422

16,394
4,393

6,044
23,870

12,912
3,652

5,178
2,425

40,948

33,344

20,787

29,914

16,564

7,603

International
Past due (older than 12 months)

262

572

866

262

572

866

Sundry receivables
31 to 90 days
91 to 120 days

–
200

65
200

–
200

–
200

65
200

–
200

200

265

200

200

265

200

21,490
–
–
247
32,269

6
5
30
97
37,184

6,128
700
180
533
26,420

21,490
–
–
–
17,116

–
–
–
43
19,144

6,122
383
122
107
7,393

54,006

37,322

33,961

38,606

19,187

14,127

Ageing of Impairment of trade
and other receivables (excluding
Group)
Current
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 120 days
>120 days
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11. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Figures in Rand thousand
Ageing
of
impairment
of
intercompany trade and other
receivables
Current
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 120 days
>120 days

2012

   Company
2011

2010

3,927
3,980
2,885
609
104,191

4,911
21,568
3,096
1,306
46,000

–
–
8,092
8,452
60,206

115,592

76,881

76,750

	The company operates different credit terms. Bulkmail is seven days from date of statement and the rest of the business operates on
30 days from date of statement. The Group trade receivables domestic is R291 million (2011: R304 million, 2010: R281 million) of which
R41 million (2011: R33 million, 2010: R21 million) is older than 30 days. Group sundry receivables are R57 million (2011: R36 million,
2010: R24 million) of which R0.2 million (2011: R0.2 million, 2010: R0.2 million) is older than 30 days.
	At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that trade and other receivables should
be impaired. Individual significant financial assets are tested for impairment. Group impairment losses for trade and other receivables
amounting to R54 million (2011: R37 million, 2010: R33 million) have been raised in the income statement, where there was objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due, in accordance with the original terms agreed upon. The impairment
allowances are considered to be adequate for the Group.
	Included in the company receivables above is an amount of R115 million (2011: R76 million, 2010: R77 million) that is subordinated in
favour of the CFG Group creditors.
	Included in the trade debtors are international debtors. Debts in this category are held with individual countries and trade is governed
by rules set by the Universal Postal Union (UPU) currently situated in Switzerland. Services are divided into various product categories
and each product has a unique payment term ranging from 12 months onwards. The nature of the business allows countries to operate
trade debtors and creditors accounts. Average payment terms per country on letters and expedited mail services are about 18 months.
International trade receivables is R127 million (2011: R118 million, 2010: R128 million) of which R0.262 million (2011: R0.572 million,
2010: R0.87 million) is older than 12 months.
	The SA Post Office and its subsidiary companies fall outside of the definition of a credit provider for purposes of registration with the
National Credit Regulator. The SA Post Office and its subsidiary companies nevertheless have to comply with the National Credit Act,
where accounts are opened for juristic persons such as sole proprietors and trusts, where less than three trustees are appointed.
	Trade receivables comprise a large number of customers, dispersed across different industries and geographical areas. The Group
uses an internal/external credit scoring system to assess all potential customers’ credit worthiness. Customers are manually credit
assessed, using information derived from credit bureaus, financial accounting records, bank records and other sources, after which
they are put through an internal grading system. Where appropriate, the necessary credit guarantees or deposits will be required before
opening an account. Accounts are opened for clients who are credit worthy and who accept the terms and conditions prescribed by the
SA Post Office and its subsidiaries. Such accounts are assigned a credit limit. The account number, the terms as well as the credit limit is
confirmed in writing to the customer. Assessments of accounts are done on a regular basis as outlined in the Group procedure document.
The frequency is determined by the nature of each business within the Group.
	Security or sureties are requested to support accounts which do not meet up with about 20% of the assessment criteria.
	The terms of trade receivables have not been re-negotiated.
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12. Cash and cash equivalents
	Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and actual bank balances and investments in money market instruments. Cash and
cash equivalents comprise the following:
   Group
   Company
Figures in Rand thousand
2012
2011
2010
2012
2011
2010
Bank balances
Short-term deposits

2,247,157
1,030,000

2,668,762
2,087,452

1,649,066
1,879,514

2,207,102
1,030,000

2,637,776
2,087,452

1,617,615
1,879,515

3,277,157

4,756,214

3,528,580

3,237,102

4,725,228

3,497,130

The effective interest rate of money market instruments is 5.872%. (2011: 6.224%, 2010: R7.58%).
Included in the cash and cash equivalents is an amount of R165.715 million (2011: R221.203 million, 2010: R236.125 million) that relates
to funds collected on behalf of third parties as per note 22.

13. Share capital
2012

2011

2010

2012

2011

2010

Authorised
1
000
000
000
(2011:
1 000 000000) Ordinary shares
of R1 (2011: R1. 2010: R1) each

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

Issued
200 939 821 (2011: 200 939 821,
2010: 200 939 821) Ordinary shares
of R1 (2011: R1, 2010: R1) each

200,940

200,940

200,940

200,940

200,940

200,940

Figures in Rand thousand

The shares are held by the Department of Communication on behalf of South African Government.

14. Funds received from shareholder
 n amount of R750 million was received from National Treasury in March 2005, interest free with no fixed terms of repayment, in order to
A
recapitalise the SA Post Office. There is no expectation to repay these funds which are viewed as being equity in nature.
Group
Company
Figures in Rand thousand
2012
2011
2010
2012
2011
2010
Funds received from shareholder

750,000

750,000

750,000

750,000

2012

   Group
2011

2010

2012

(44,047)
(16,255)

(26,982)
(24,732)

(25,205)
(5,667)

(43,507)
(15,159)

(26,093)
(24,373)

(24,427)
(5,632)

(60,302)

(51,714)

(30,872)

(58,666)

(50,466)

(30,059)

15. Deferred lease liability
Figures in Rand thousand
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

750,000
   Company
2011

750,000
2010

	The Group has entered into operating leases for buildings. It straight-lined its operating leases where it is the lessee over the period of the
lease contract. Refer to note 36 for the future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases.

16. Employment benefit obligations
Assumptions
	In determining the value to be placed on these various employment and post-employment benefits, various assumptions in respect
of various economic and demographic factors have been made. In order to have consistency between the various benefits the same
assumptions for all benefits have been applied where relevant.
	In assessing the appropriateness of the assumptions used, it is important to consider the assumptions as a whole rather than in isolation.
In particular, the relationship between the assumptions for the discount rate and the rate of increase in benefits is important.
	IAS 19 (AC 116) Employee Benefits (IAS 19) requires that realistic assumptions be applied in the valuation and that this should be
determined with reference to the yields on corporate stock of similar duration to the liabilities. The standard further indicates that if the
corporate bond market is not sufficiently deep and liquid, reference should be made to the yields on Government stock. For the purpose
of this valuation, account has been taken of the yields on South African Government stock as reflected in the yield curve of the Bond
Exchange of South Africa. The basic inflation assumption has also been determined by reference to the inflation rate implied in the
market by the difference between the yield on nominal and inflation-linked Government stock. The salary inflation assumption has been
set at 0.25% above general inflation. Medical aid contribution inflation has been set at 1.0% above general inflation to reflect the general
expectation that medical aid contribution inflation exceeds general inflation.
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16. Employment benefit obligations (continued)
Assumptions (continued)
	In this valuation we have assumed a discount rate of 8.5% per annum (2011: 9.0% per annum, 2010: 8.75%.), which is a 0.5% reduction
from the prior year valuation interest rate and reflects the general reduction in market interest rate over the year. A general inflation rate
of 6.0% per annum (2011: 6.0%, 2010: 5.5%) a salary inflation rate of 6.25% per annum (2011: 6.25%, 2010: 5.75%) and a medical aid
contribution inflation of 7.0% per annum (2011: 7.0%, 2010: R6.75%). This choice of assumptions results in a 0.5% per annum reduction
in the net discount rate applied for all benefits compared to the prior year, which has increased liabilities in all cases.
	The demographic assumptions (e.g. mortality, withdrawal rates, etc.) have been based on standard actuarial tables and other assumption
rates that are generally used in the marketplace for the valuation of liabilities of this nature. Allowance has been made for AIDS-related
deaths in respect of the long service and leave encashment benefits, but not the PRMA benefits, using the Actuarial Society of South
Africa AIDS model.
	The results of the valuation are highly dependent on the choice of assumptions and the relationship between them. Therefore, in order to
assist the user in the interpretation of the valuation results we have shown the impact on the liabilities of a number of different assumptions.
Actuarial valuations are done on an annual basis for the Group.
Figures in Rand thousand
Group – March 2012
Post-retirement medical aid
contributions
Leave obligation
Long-service cash awards
Long-service leave awards
Post-retirement telephone obligation

Group – March 2011
Post-retirement medical aid
contributions
Leave obligation
Long-service cash awards
Long-service leave awards
Post-retirement telephone obligation

Group – March 2010
Post-retirement medical aid
contributions
Leave obligation
Long-service cash awards
Long-service leave awards
Post-retirement telephone obligation

Company – March 2012
Post-retirement medical aid
contributions
Leave obligation
Long-service cash awards
Long-service leave awards
Post-retirement telephone obligation
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Opening
balance

Provisions
made

1,222,317
115,179
48,507
10,076
6,494

136,471
96,054
9,695
2,377
153

1,402,573

Benefits
paid

Closing
balance

Current
portion

Total
non-current

(128,794)
(67,782)
(10,760)
(1,221)
(602)

1,229,994
143,451
47,442
11,232
6,045

121,238
83,355
7,985
1,079
570

1,108,756
60,096
39,457
10,153
5,475

244,750

(209,159)

1,438,164

214,227

1,223,937

1,032,595
138,021
49,742
9,075
7,417

310,308
59,189
10,224
2,590
(311)

(120,586)
(82,031)
(11,459)
(1,589)
(612)

1,222,317
115,179
48,507
10,076
6,494

128,794
11,408
10,760
2,116
602

1,093,523
103,771
37,747
7,960
5,892

1,236,850

382,000

(216,277)

1,402,573

153,680

1,248,893

941,466
112,392
50,747
8,486
8,352

196,401
90,378
8,206
1,944
(231)

(105,272)
(64,749)
(9,211)
(1,355)
(704)

1,032,595
138,021
49,742
9,075
7,417

124,644
82,031
9,764
1,355
651

907,951
55,990
39,978
7,720
6,766

1,121,443

296,698

(181,291)

1,236,850

218,445

1,018,405

1,221,593
106,931
48,095
9,181
6,494

136,519
90,680
9,595
2,388
153

(128,753)
(62,650)
(10,702)
(1,221)
(602)

1,229,359
134,961
46,988
10,348
6,045

121,197
78,018
7,846
1,079
570

1,108,162
56,943
39,142
9,269
5,475

1,392,294

239,335

(203,928)

1,427,701

208,710

1,218,991
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16. Employment benefit obligations (continued)
Figures in Rand thousand

Company – March 2011
Post-retirement medical aid
contributions
Leave obligation
Long-service cash awards
Long-service leave awards
Post-retirement telephone obligation

Company – March 2010
Post-retirement medical aid
contributions
Leave obligation
Long-service cash awards
Long-service leave awards
Post-retirement telephone obligation

Post-retirement medical aid
contributions
Leave obligation
Long-service cash awards
Long-service leave awards
Post-retirement telephone obligation

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Opening
balance

Provisions
made

Benefits
paid

Closing
balance

Current
portion

Total
non-current

1,031,838
129,498
49,236
7,946
7,417

310,307
54,218
9,996
2,590
(311)

(120,552)
(76,785)
(11,137)
(1,355)
(612)

1,221,593
106,931
48,095
9,181
6,494

128,753
6,276
10,702
1,221
602

1,092,840
100,655
37,393
7,960
5,892

1,225,935

376,800

(210,441)

1,392,294

147,554

1,244,740

939,326
104,795
50,237
8,486
8,352

197,737
84,763
8,119
815
(231)

(105,225)
(60,060)
(9,120)
(1,355)
(704)

1,031,838
129,498
49,236
7,946
7,417

124,596
76,785
9,560
1,355
–

907,242
52,713
39,676
6,591
7,417

1,111,196

291,203

(176,464)

1,225,935

212,296

1,013,639

1,229,994
143,451
47,442
11,232
6,045

1,222,317
115,179
48,507
10,076
6,494

1,032,595
138,021
49,742
9,075
7,417

1,229,359
134,961
46,988
10,348
6,045

1,221,593
106,931
48,095
9,181
6,497

1,031,838
129,498
49,236
7,946
7,417

1,438,164

1,402,573

1,236,850

1,427,701

1,392,294

1,225,935

(1,223,937)
(214,227)

(1,248,893)
(153,680)

(1,018,405)
(218,445)

(1,218,991)
(208,710)

(1,244,740)
(147,554)

(1,013,639)
(212,296)

(1,438,164)

(1,402,573)

(1,236,850)

(1,427,701)

(1,392,294)

(1,225,935)

Post-retirement medical aid contributions
	During the 2008/9 financial period R456,800 million’s worth of assets were transferred to the SA Post Office as a result of the Registrar
for Medical Schemes decision on 12 November 2008. The relevant assets are specifically and exclusively utilised for the future funding of
the Post Office’s PRMA liability and have consequently been ring-fenced and invested according to a specific unique investment mandate.
The current value of the PRMA asset is R669,230 million (2011: R606,795 million, 2010: R546,408 million).
	The company has negotiated with bargaining unit employees that no employees retiring after 30 June 2005 will receive post-retirement
medical aid benefits. This curtailment of benefits was accounted for during the 2005 period. In addition, spouses and dependants
of employees who die whilst in the service of the Post Office after 2005 will also receive medical aid benefits as part of the defined
benefit plan.
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16. Employment benefit obligations (continued)
Post-retirement medical aid contributions (continued)
The amount recognised in the statements of comprehensive income is determined as follows:
Figures in Rand thousand
Interest charge
Actuarial loss

2012

   Group
2011

2010

2012

116,997
19,474

114,010
196,298

94,201
102,630

116,948
19,571

113,956
196,351

94,141
103,596

136,471

310,308

196,831

136,519

310,307

197,737

Liability

Plan assets

Net assets/
(liability)

(1,379,641)
(116,997)
128,794
74,682

–
–
–
–

(1,379,641)
(116,997)
128,794
74,682

(1,293,162)

–

(1,293,162)

(1,379,071)
(116,948)
128,753
74,683

–
–
–
–

(1,379,071)
(116,948)
128,753
74,683

(1,292,583)

–

(1,292,583)

(1,365,294)
(114,010)
120,586
(20,923)

–
–
–
–

(1,365,294)
(114,010)
120,586
(20,923)

(1,379,641)

–

(1,379,641)

(1,364,654)
(113,956)
120,552
(21,013)

–
–
–
–

(1,364,654)
(113,956)
120,552
(21,013)

(1,379,071)

–

(1,379,071)

(1,159,478)
(94,201)
105,272
(216,887)

–
–
–
–

(1,159,478)
(94,201)
105,272
(216,887)

(1,365,294)

–

(1,365,294)

(1,158,802)
(94,141)
105,225
(216,936)

–
–
–
–

(1,158,802)
(94,141)
105,225
(216,936)

(1,364,654)

–

(1,364,654)

The movement in the past service liability for the Group is as follows:
2012
Past service liability at the beginning of the period
Interest charge on plan assets
Contributions paid
Actuarial gain

The movement in the past service liability for the company is as follows:
2012
Past service liability at the beginning of the period
Interest charge on plan assets
Contributions paid
Actuarial gain

The movement in the past service liability for the Group is as follows:
2011
Past service liability at the beginning of the year
Interest charge on plan assets
Contributions paid
Actuarial gain

The movement in the past service liability for the Group is as follows:
2011
Past service liability at the beginning of the period
Interest charge on plan assets
Contributions paid
Actuarial gain

The movement in the past service liability for the Group is as follows:
2010
Past service liability at the beginning of the year
Interest charge on plan assets
Contributions paid
Actuarial gain

The movement in the past service liability for the company is as follows:
2010
Past service liability at the beginning of the year
Interest charge on plan assets
Contributions paid
Actuarial gain
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   Company
2011

2010
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16. Employment benefit obligations (continued)
Figures in Rand thousand

Provision at end of period
Add: Unrecognised portion of
actuarial losses

2012

   Group
2011

2010

2012

   Company
2011

1,229,994

1,222,317

1,032,595

1,229,359

1,221,593

1,031,838

63,168

157,324

332,699

63,224

157,478

332,816

1,293,162

1,379,641

1,365,294

1,292,583

1,379,071

1,364,654

2010

Sensitivity analysis
2012
Liability

2011
Change
in liability

2010

Liability

Change
in liability

Liability

Change
in liability

Benefit inflation analysis
+ 1%
Central
– 1%

1,415,101
1,292,583
1,187,581

9.40%
–%
(8.20%)

1,509,496
1,379,071
1,266,101

9.50%
–%
(8.20%)

1,494,974
1,364,654
1,251,836

11.30%
–%
(6.80%)

Sensitivity analysis
Discount rate analysis
+ 1%
Central
– 1%

1,186,052
1,292,583
1,417,725

(8.20%)
–%
9.70%

1,265,526
1,379,071
1,512,310

(8.20%)
–%
9.70%

1,251,308
1,364,654
1,497,742

(8.30%)
–%
9.80%

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

1,065,896
(533,158)

1,159,478
–

1,365,294
–

1,379,641
–

1,293,162
–

532,738

1,159,478

1,365,294

1,379,641

1,293,162

(449)

(218,442)

(332,699)

(157,324)

(63,168)

532,289

941,036

1,032,595

1,222,317

1,229,994

Projected benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Net obligation/(asset)
Unrecognised actuarial gains/
(losses)

Leave obligation
	Employees are entitled to 22 days leave per annum. Provided that a staff member has taken at least 15 days in a period the remaining
leave may be carried over into future years. Any leave balance remaining when an employee leaves the service of SA Post Office for
whatever reason (e.g. resignation, death, retirement) is encashed at that time.
Capped leave
	In addition to their “normal” current accrued leave, some staff members also have an amount of “capped” leave. During 2001 and 2002,
the SA Post Office negotiated with staff in different categories that leave accrued up until that date would in future only be encashed at the
salary as at that time. This leave can be taken as leave or encashed, but only after all other accrued leave has been taken. Any remaining
balance will be paid out as cash when the employee leaves the service of SA Post Office.
	Given these rules the SA Post Office recognises that the balances in both the “capped” leave and “normal” accrued leave will not
be settled in the 12 months following the date of calculation and therefore some form of calculation is required. In performing these
calculations, we have applied an assumption that 50% of the balance standing in the “normal” accrued leave will be taken as leave in the
next 12 months. The remainder of the “normal” leave and the balance in the “capped” leave will be paid out in cash when the employee
leaves the service of the SA Post Office by death, resignation or retirement. In the case of the “normal” accrued leave, this will be based
on the salary applicable at that date and in the case of the “capped” leave based on the current fixed rate.
	A restricted number of employees are members of the leave provident fund. This provident fund provides for leave in excess of 60 days
at a specific point in time. No additional employees may become members of this fund. Leave in this fund can only be encashed when
the employee retires or resigns and cannot be utilised as leave. As provident fund assets are sufficient, this leave is not accrued by
the company.
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16. Employment benefit obligations (continued)
2012

   Group
2011

2010

2012

Leave encashment
Funded status
The funded status of the leave
obligation was as follows:
Present value of funded obligations

143,451

115,179

138,021

134,961

106,931

129,498

Net liability in statements of
financial position

143,451

115,179

138,021

134,961

106,931

129,498

The amount recognised in the
statements of comprehensive
income is determined as
follows:
Interest costs
Actuarial losses recognised

4,553
91,501

5,210
53,979

4,328
86,050

4,251
86,429

4,903
49,315

4,062
80,701

Actuarial loss recognised in the
period

96,054

59,189

90,378

90,680

54,218

84,763

Change
in liability

Change
in liability

3,555
3,753
3,912

(4.60%)
–%
5.00%

Figures in Rand thousand

2012
Figures in Rand thousand
Discount rate analysis
Sensitivity analysis
+ 1%
Central
– 1%

   Company
2011

2011

2010

2010

Liability

Change
in liability

Liability

Change
in liability

6,143
6,431
6,747

(4.50%)
–%
4.90%

4,826
5,052
5,298

(4.47%)
–%
4.87%

Long-service awards
	The Group has a policy of increasing leave days due to employees reaching 10 years within SA Post Office employment. The increase in
leave days is from 22 to 24 days in the employee’s 10th period only. Any unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past service costs are
recognised immediately.
Long-service cash awards
Funded status
The funded status of the long-service award obligation was as follows:
2012

Group
2011

2010

2012

Company
2011

2010

Present value of funded obligations

47,442

48,507

49,742

46,988

48,095

49,236

Net liability in statement of
financial position

47,442

48,507

49,742

46,988

48,095

49,236

2,757
3,881

2,973
3,925

3,191
3,922

2,724
3,847

2,917
3,890

3,146
3,883

3,057

3,326

1,093

3,024

3,189

1,090

9,695

10,224

8,206

9,595

9,996

8,119

Figures in Rand thousand

The amount recognised in the
statements of comprehensive
income is determined as
follows:
Current service costs
Interest charge
Actuarial (gain)/losses recognised in
the period
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16. Employment benefit obligations (continued)
2012
Figures in Rand thousand

Sensitivity analysis
Changes to discount
+ 1%
Central
– 1%

2011

Liability

Change
in liability

45,108
46,988
49,028

(4.00%)
–%
4.70%

2010

Liability

Change
in liability

Liability

Change
in liability

46,236
48,095
50,112

(3.90%)
–%
4.20%

46,924
49,236
50,978

(4.00%)
–%
4.30%

Long-service leave award
	The Group has different policies in respect of long-service leave awards. The Group has valued this benefit in the current period and shall
be valuing the benefit annually. Any unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past service costs are recognised immediately. The funded
status of the long-service leave award obligation was as follows:
Figures in Rand thousand

2012

   Group
2011

2010

2012

   Company
2011

2010

Present value of funded obligations

11,232

9,181

7,946

10,348

9,181

7,946

Net liability in statements of
financial position

11,232

9,181

7,946

10,348

9,181

7,946

556
771
1,061

498
698
1,394

505
664
(354)

556
771
1,061

498
698
1,394

505
664
(354)

2,388

2,590

815

2,388

2,590

815

The amount recognised in the
statements of comprehensive
income is determined as
follows:
Current service cost
Interest costs
Actuarial loss/(gain) recognised

2012
Figures in Rand thousand
Change to discount
+ 1%
Central
– 1%

2011

Liability

Change
in liability

9,841
10,348
10,905

(4.90%)
–%
5.40%

2010

Liability

Change
in liability

Liability

Change
in liability

8,724
9,181
9,683

5.00%
–%
5.47%

8,159
7,946
9,052

(5.00%)
–%
5.50%

Post-retirement telephone obligation
	The Group has undertaken to pay telephone accounts for certain retired employees until either the time of their death, that of their spouse
or they change their addresses. The Group’s net obligation in this regard is the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in
return for their service in the prior periods. Any unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past service costs are recognised immediately.
There are no plan assets for this liability and the employer funds this as it needs to be settled.
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16. Employment benefit obligations (continued)
Funded status
The funded status of the post-retirement telephone obligation was as follows:
Figures in Rand thousand

2012

Present value of funded obligations

6,045

Net liability in statements of
financial position
The amount recognised in the
statements of comprehensive
income is determined as
follows:
Interest charge
Actuarial gain recognised in the year

   Group
2011

   Company
2011

2010

2012

6,494

7,417

6,045

6,494

7,417

6,045

6,494

7,417

6,045

6,494

7,417

557
(404)

621
(932)

680
(911)

557
(404)

621
(932)

680
(911)

153

(311)

(231)

153

(311)

(231)

2012

2011

Liability

Change
in liability

5,602
6,045
6,551

2010

2010

Liability

Change
in liabiltiy

Liability

Change
in liability

(7.30%)
–%
8.40%

6,019
6,494
7,033

(7.30%)
–%
8.30%

6,853
7,417
8,061

(7.60%)
–%
8.70%

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

Benefit obligation at year-end:
Projected benefit obligation

8,228

8,352

7,417

6,494

6,045

Net obligation

8,228

8,352

7,417

6,494

6,045

8,228

8,352

7,417

6,494

6,045

Figures in Rand thousand
Change to discount
+ 1%
Central
–1%

Post Office Retirement Fund
	In terms of section 10A of the Post Office Act (Act No 44 of 1958, as amended), the financial obligations of the Post Office Retirement
Fund in respect of its defined benefit members and pensioners are guaranteed by the Post Office while the Government of the Republic
of South Africa in turn guarantees the obligations of the Post Office in this regard.
	In terms of a recent actuarial valuation, the fund was fully funded and the actuary concluded that it was in a sound financial condition.
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17. Provisions
Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2012

Decommissioning

Opening
balance

Utilised
during the
period

Total

8,652

(323)

8,329

Opening
balance

Utilised
during the
period

Total

11,259

(2,607)

8,652

Opening
balance

Utilised
during the
period

Total

10,513

746

11,259

Opening
balance

Utilised
during the
period

Total

6,571

(259)

6,312

Opening
balance

Total

6,571

6,571

Opening
balance

Utilised
during the
period

Total

6,033

538

6,571

Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2011

Decommissioning
Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2010

Decommissioning
Reconciliation of provisions – Company – 2012

Decommissioning
Reconciliation of provisions – Company – 2011

Decommissioning
Reconciliation of provisions – Company – 2010

Decommissioning

	The provision relates to the decommissioning costs that are expected to be incurred upon the termination or conclusion of lease
agreements. These costs have been capitalised in terms of the relevant lease agreements. It is uncertain whether these leases will be
extended or terminated earlier and this creates uncertainties regarding the amount and timing of the cash flows. There are no expected
reimbursements for the costs that will be incurred.
	The main assumptions used in the calculation of this provision are as follows:
	The Universal Service Obligations (USO) obliges SA Post Office to expand its presence in South Africa (SA), especially in rural SA. This
means that the SA Post Office would most probably not reduce the number of leasehold premises, but instead expand its presence to
more buildings. The type of leasehold premises has been taken into account in arriving at a conclusion regarding possible restoration. A
vacant stand with a Mail Collection Point (MCP) would probably not require restoration should they ever wish to relocate. The SA Post
Office may not wish to relocate from shopping centres and malls. In the event that it does relocate, the terms of the lease and the nature
of its business are such that restoration of the premises would not be required. The date that the SA Post Office originally occupied the
leasehold premises is also an indication of the chances of ever moving out of the premises, thus negating the liability to restore such
leasehold premises. During the 2012 financial period, the SA Post Office relocated from 14 (2011: nine) leasehold premises of which none
(2011: one) of the lessors required restoration, thus further supporting the expectation that relocation and thus restoration would not
occur in most instances.
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18. Onerous lease liability
Figures in Rand thousand

2012

Group
2011

2010

The Courier and Freight Group (Pty) Ltd

7,325

7,325

–

	The subsidiary entered into a property operating lease agreement for a period of three years commencing on 1 October 2010 and
terminating on 30 September 2013.
	Included in 2011 prior year number of R8,419 was prior year error of R1,094. This was adjusted in the current year, thereby re-instating
this figure of R7,325.
	The onerous lease is accounted for in Note 19 Trade and other payables, in the “other payables”.

19. Trade and other payables
2012

Figures in Rand thousand

   Group
2011

2010

2012

   Company
2011

2010

639,089
68,273
171,440
124,882
28,994

703,108
66,006
147,350
80,024
33,329

753,805
64,036
126,346
88,876
18,722

681,350
67,516
96,698
47,954
28,500

690,525
65,408
110,901
53,181
32,197

674,032
63,553
123,588
86,766
20,401

1,032,678

1,029,817

1,051,785

922,029

952,212

968,340

Trade payables
Deposits received
Employee benefit payments
Other payables
VAT

	Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. Other trade payables are subsequently
designated as fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) with any resulting gains and losses recognised in the profit and loss.
	The average credit period on all purchases is 60 days. The Group has a policy in place with its payables not to pay interest on late
payments. All invoices were paid within the 60 days timeframe in the financial year 2012. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

20. Amount owing to shareholder
Figures in Rand thousand
Amount owing to shareholder

2012
248,327

   Group
2011
226,975

2010

2012

206,395

248,327

   Company
2011
226,975

2010
206,395

	The amount owing to the shareholder is the liability that arose as a result of the incorporation of the former TBVC States i.e. Transkei,
Bophuthatswana, Venda and Ciskei post offices. The incorporation was done in accordance with the Post and Telecommunications
Reorganisation Act, which provided for the integration of the departments of Post and Telecommunications of the TBVC States with
Telkom and the SA Post Office. The liability is classified as a financial liability at cost and bears interest at the prime rate of 9% per annum
(2011: 9%, 2010: 10%) in terms of Section 80 of the Public Finance Management Act. There are no fixed repayment terms on this liability.

21. Outstanding insurance claims
Figures in Rand thousand

2012

Group
2011

2010

2012

Company
2011

2010

Outstanding insurance claims

2,433

4,799

4,383

–

–

–

	Insurance for the Group’s assets is arranged through a cell-captive insurance company with a layer for catastrophic cover above
that. Provisions for insurance claims payable from cell-captive are calculated at the 75th percentile based on the actuarial valuation of
claims trends.
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22. Funds collected on behalf of third parties
2012

Figures in Rand thousand
Agency services and collections
Money and postal orders

   Group
2011

2010

2012

   Company
2011

2010

118,760
46,955

169,506
51,697

171,409
64,716

118,760
46,955

169,506
51,697

171,409
64,716

165,715

221,203

236,125

165,715

221,203

236,125

	Funds collected from the customers of the Group third-party clients are paid into their bank accounts within 24 hours following the
collection at Post Office outlets. In terms of service level agreements with the clients, no interest will be paid to clients for the 24-hour
period before the money collected is paid into the clients’ respective accounts. Money and postal orders are unclaimed obligations that
are payable on demand.

23. Deposits from the public
2012

Figures in Rand thousand
Transactional and savings accounts

   Group
2011

2010

2012

   Company
2011

2010

4,072,839

3,788,011

3,415,350

4,072,839

3,788,011

3,415,350

185,025

196,011

236,637

185,025

196,011

236,637

4,257,864

3,984,022

3,651,987

4,257,864

3,984,022

3,651,987

Term deposits

	Deposit products include transactional savings accounts and term deposits. Transactional and savings accounts are all overnight deposits
which are payable on demand. Term deposits vary from one month to five years. All amounts owed to the depositors are classified as
financial liabilities at cost. Interest payable on both transactional and deposit accounts are capitalised monthly. All account holders are
individuals within the Republic of South Africa.
	Interest paid on overnight deposit accounts is fixed and varies from 0% to 3.5% per annum (2011: 0% to 3.5%, 2010: 0% to 3.1%)
depending on the account balance. Term deposits attract interest that varies from 3.92% to 5.70% per annum (2011: 3.92% to 5.70% ,
2010: 3.9% to 6.4% per annum) and all rates are linked to prime rate.
	Deposits from the public are fully covered by cash and cash equivalents as well as investments, and these amounts are included in the
total balances reflected in note 8 and 12.

24. Unearned revenue
Figures in Rand thousand
Current liabilities

2012

   Group
2011

2010

2012

   Company
2011

2010

345,718

346,726

320,848

335,606

329,180

309,859

345,718

346,726

320,848

335,606

329,180

309,859

Bulk mail, parcels and registered letters revenue
	The deferred revenue calculation is based on the mail delivery performance statistics. Assumptions were used that 25% of all mail posted
was delivered within the same region and 75% delivery between regions.
Franking mail revenue
	The deferred revenue calculation is based on the assumption that eight working days revenue is unearned. This period is formulated on
a combination of the mail delivery standard and the holding time of customers after purchase.
Box revenue
	The renewal cycle for the rental of boxes is a calendar period from 1 January to 31 December; however, the financial period for the Post
Office is 1 April to 31 March. This means that only the revenue for three months of the renewal cycle is earned for that financial period and
the remaining nine months of the renewal cycle is regarded as deferred revenue.
Stamp and envelope revenue
	The deferred revenue is based on the assumption that 10 working days revenue is unearned. This period is formulated on a combination
of the mail delivery standards and the holding time of customers after purchase.
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24. Unearned revenue (continued)
International revenue
	As revenue has to be recognised when services are rendered and in terms of terminal dues, it will be recognised when items are delivered
to their destinations. The mail delivery standards are applied for the different categories on a weighted average basis. The last seven days’
sales were extracted and the mail delivery performance statistics were used to calculate the revenue to be deferred for those days.
Courier (logistical) services
Domestic items
	The assumption is that all items accepted on 31 March will only be delivered the next day and therefore this revenue is deferred.
International items
The assumption is that 80% of the revenue generated on 31 March is deferred to the new financial period.
Key deposit fees
	According to the current delivery policy, key deposits are payable in all cases when a client applies for a postbox service. The collected
deposit fees for all box keys are not recognised as revenue.

25. Taxation
2012

Figures in Rand thousand
Opening balance
Current tax for the year in the
statements of comprehensive
income
Prior year (under)/over-provision
Opening balance restated
Tax paid

Current tax payable
Current tax receivable

   Group
2011

   Company
2011

2010

2012
27,843

47,670

8,262

2010

28,089

47,670

8,021

123,281
–
–
(142,936)

136,578
–
–434
(155,725)

166,387
(24,088)
–
(102,650)

119,148
–
–
(139,044)

133,789
999
–
(154,615)

166,387
(24,088)
–
(102,891)

8,434

28,089

47,670

7,947

27,843

47,670

(8,937)
503

(28,521)
432

(47,670)
–

–
7,947

(27,843)
–

(47,670)
–

8,434

(28,089)

(47,670)

7,947

(27,843)

(47,670)

26. Revenue
	Revenue comprises income from services provided and the sale of retail products, excluding value added tax, rebates and discounts.
These services include work performed as an agent of certain Government departments, other authorities and businesses.
Figures in Rand thousand
Analysis of revenue by main business activity:
Postal services
Courier services
Agency and money transfer services
Retail products
Postbank

   Group
2012
2011

   Company
2012
2011

3,975,603
670,972
434,818
19,569
332,052

3,889,898
638,512
415,098
20,630
335,007

3,924,854
343,540
434,818
19,569
332,052

3,834,975
328,630
415,098
20,630
335,007

5,433,014

5,299,145

5,054,833

4,934,340

27. Other operating income
Figures in Rand thousand
Includes:
Rental income
Insurance premium revenue
Management fees
Rental facilities income
Sundry income
Provident fund surplus (actuarial gain)
PRMA assets fair value adjustment
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   Group
2012
2011
23,951
14,531
–
28,130
24,172
48,154
62,436

25,518
14,347
–
26,567
22,006
–
60,386

   Company
2012
2011
23,160
–
47,920
28,130
21,817
48,154
62,436

25,075
–
32,685
26,567
20,807
–
60,386
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28. Operating profit before finance costs
   Group
2012
2011

Figures in Rand thousand
Operating profit for the period is stated after accounting for the
following:
Staff expenditure
Salaries and other staff expenditure
Pension fund contributions
Medical aid contributions

3,228,309
2,738,166
247,821
242,322

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (notes 2, 3
and 4)
Freehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Data processing equipment – owned assets
Motor vehicles – owned assets
Furniture and fittings
Depreciation on investment property
Amortisation on intangible assets
(Profit)/Loss on sale of fixed assets
Audit fees
Auditors’ remuneration

3,095,374
2,625,225
235,774
234,375

   Company
2012
2011

3,100,968
2,625,509
237,084
238,375

2,970,422
2,514,506
225,439
230,477

194,096
30,096
39,374
32,111
47,678
2,501
4,682
516
37,138
(12)

187,511
30,130
40,931
30,192
44,150
4,559
3,437
400
33,712
(10,714)

186,969
29,892
39,286
30,048
45,734
290
4,600
516
36,603
(12)

177,591
29,935
40,913
27,178
42,324
289
3,257
400
33,295
(9,004)

13,229

11,761

11,041

9,914

2,251
2,355
5,740
5,341
199
383
2,901
14,313
1,266
–

15,834
2,753
4,588
15,753
135
460
1,844
1,736
545
43

2,251
2,355
5,740
4,346
199
383
2,901
14,313
1,266
–

15,554
2,753
4,588
15,753
135
460
1,844
1,736
545
43

34,749

43,691

33,754

43,411

4,408
19,546
536,553
143,719

5,936
19,102
494,452
142,852

4,407
19,546
536,553
143,719

5,931
19,102
494,452
142,852

704,226

662,342

704,225

662,337

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies.
Consultancy fees
Technology
Communication
Forensic audit
Business restructuring
Properties
Revenue protection
Insurance
Postbank corporatisation
Delivery standard measurement
Other

Net foreign currency (gain)/loss
Licence fees
Lease rentals on operating leases
Service and agency fees

Delivery standard measurement
	The universal service aims to ensure that basic postal services and financial transactions which are essential to social and economical
inclusion are available to everybody in an appropriate way at an affordable cost. This is intended to ensure that people living in rural areas
obtain the advantage of postal and financial services, irrespective of whether the income generated is less than the cost of providing the
service.
Licence agreement
	In terms of Section 16(3) of the Postal Services Act, 1998 (Act No 124 of 1998) the Minister of Communications granted and issued a
licence to the Post Office with a period of validity of 25 years, effective 1 April 2000.
	In terms of the licence conditions, the Post Office must pay the National Reserve Fund (or SA Government) annual licence fees equal to
0.55% of the Post Office’s annual regulated turnover.
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28. Operating profit before finance costs (continued)
Insurance activities
	The Post Office Group offers insurance contracts to its customers by providing protection against specified risks associated with the
transport of their mail, parcels and freight. These insurance contracts are offered through a cell-captive facility maintained with Centriq
Insurance Company Ltd, a South African registered short-term insurance company.
	The cell-captive facility is further used to underwrite the first-party risk of the SA Post Office Group to provide cover against a variety of
insurable risks including assets’ own risk, commercial crime, money etc. Inter-company transactions are eliminated on consolidation of
the cell captive.
	In terms of the shareholders’ agreement, the Group carries all the risks and rewards related to the business underwritten in the cell-captive
facility. The risks are closely monitored by the Group through the ongoing review of the performance of the underlying insurance products.
Premium rate adjustments are used to mitigate the associated insurance risks. Provided below is a summarised underwriting account
giving details of the R10.501 million (2011: R11.582 million) underwriting profit included in profit from operations:
   Group
2012
2011
Net earned premiums
Gross claims incurred
Net operating expenses

39,959
(24,900)
(4,558)

38,528
(22,557)
(4,389)

Underwriting profit

10,501

11,582

2012

2011

2010

180,442
237,458

306,077
249,040

383,092
301,233

417,900

555,117

684,325

14,404
242,567
44,167
22,160

15,442
250,235
14,394
37,588

124,489
122,470
141,280
47,046

94,602

237,458

249,040

28.1

Subsidy unutilised
Group and company
Subsidy received in current period
Roll over from prior period
Expenditure acknowledged:
Infrastructure
Universal Service Obligation
System Improvements
VAT
Roll over to next period

	The Government provided the company with a subsidy to cover a portion of its operating expenditure and to fund specific
projects. The balances and transactions are summarised as above.

29. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure
	Other expenditures in the statements of comprehensive income includes fruitless and wasteful expenditures that were incurred during
the period under review. These expenditures are made up of fines and penalties of suppliers and third-party customers, as well as rental
incurred on leased property before taking up occupation.
Figures in Rand thousand
Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Opening balance
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – current year
Less: Condoned

Analysis of current fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Sapos Properties (interest paid)
Sapos Properties (East Rand) (Pty) Ltd
The Document Exchange (Pty) Ltd (penalties: late submission
of workmans compensation)
SA Post Office Ltd
The Courier and Freight Group (Pty) Ltd
Rent paid without occupation
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   Group
2012
2011

   Company
2012
2011

38,105
233
–

4,428
33,677
–

30,559
102
–

4,282
26,277
–

38,338

38,105

30,661

30,559

130
–

–
48

—
–

–
–

1
–
–
102

27
26,277
7,325
–

–
–
–
102

–
26,277
–
–

233

33,677

102

26,277
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30. Material losses due to criminal conduct

   Group
2012
2011

Figures in Rand thousand
Fraudulent incident relating to Postbank

   Company
2012
2011

31,160

–

31,160

–

31,160

–

31,160

–

577,315
–
–

577,315
–
–

577,315
–
–

557,315
–
–

577,315

577,315

577,315

577,315

31. Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure as a result of non-compliance with PFMA in
respect of certain procurement processes are as follows:
Opening balance
Current year
Less: Amounts condoned

During the year under review, management initiated a detailed review of all procurement and property contracts. It appears from the initial
review that there may be non-compliance with certain policies and procedures of the SA Post Office Group. Management has initiated
a further review to determine the nature, extent and root cause of possible transgressions. The approximate value for the Group under
further review amounts to R831 million (company R638 million).

32. Finance income

Banking division revenue
Postbank finance income

267,783

276,917

267,783

276,917

Interest and dividend income
Investments and current accounts
Dividend income
Trade payables discounted

155,291
3,333
7,783

180,950
3,000
9,095

147,364
3,333
7,508

173,275
3,000
8,745

Total interest income

166,407

193,045

158,205

185,020

Total finance income

434,190

469,962

425,988

461,937

Postbank finance costs
Postbank finance costs

18,609

47,700

18,609

47,700

Banking finance costs
Former TBVC States loan
Interest paid
Citizen Post Office interest
Trade and other receivables discounting

21,352
1,895
752
8,400

21,071
1,099
773
9,743

21,352
63
752
8,126

21,071
1
773
9,743

32,399

32,686

30,293

31,588

51,008

80,386

48,902

79,288

123,281
–

135,577
1,001

119,147
–

133,798
999

123,281

136,578

119,147

134,797

(31,331)
321

(68,089)
515

(31,279)
321

(70,800)
–

(31,010)

(67,574)

(30,958)

(70,800)

33. Finance costs

34. Taxation expense

Major components of the tax expense
Current tax
Normal South African income tax at 28%
Prior year (over)/under-provision of taxation
Deferred tax
Deferred tax asset relating to the origination and reversal of temporary
differences
Arising from prior period adjustments

92,271

69,004

88,189

63,997

Calculated tax loss

228,111

205,031

–

–

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate.
Effective tax rate
Restatement of opening deferred tax balance
Non-taxable income
Disallowed expenditure
Current tax – prior year
Net deferred tax asset not raised
Capital gains tax
Recognised in equity

35.70%
(0.10%)
1.50%
(16.10%)
–%
4.00%
2.70%
0.30%

34.81%
–%
0.36%
(6.73%)
–%
–%
–%
(0.44%)

36.55%
(0.16%)
0.46%
(15.95%)
(0.44%)
4.27%
2.93%
0.34%

31.90%
–%
1.27%
(4.19%)
(0.44%)
–%
(0.54%)
–%

28.00%

28.00%

28.00%

28.00%

Standard tax rate
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35. Cash generated from operations
Figures in Rand thousand
Operating profit before finance costs
Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Profit on assets sold
Depreciation on investment properties
Amortisation of intangible assets
Increase/(decrease) in impairment of trade and other receivables
Decrease in available for sale reserve
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Increase/(decrease) in outstanding insurance claim
Provision for employment benefit obligations
Amount owing to the shareholder
Decrease in funds collected on behalf of third parties
Fair value adjustment of financial assets
Deferred tax opening balance restatement
Current tax payable opening balance adjustment
Reversal of deferred tax on available for sale reserve adjustment
Increase of company receivables
Investment property subsidy utilised
Increase in impairment of company receivables
Increase/(decrease) in unearned revenue
Increase in deferred lease liability
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries
Bad debts
Changes in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in inventory
Trade and other receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayment
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

   Group
2012
2011

   Company
2012
2011

116,970

28,974

109,123

37,063

156,442
(12)
516
37,138
16,684
(852)
(323)
(2,366)
244,750
–
(55,488)
(69,231)
(322)
–
–
–
–
–
(1,008)
8,588
–
–

153,399
(10,713)
400
33,712
3,361
(2,573)
(2,607)
416
382,000
(1,264)
(14,922)
(71,388)
(506)
(434)
(9)
–
505
–
25,878
20,841
–
2,304

149,850
(12)
516
36,603
19,419
(852)
(259)
–
239,335
–
(55,488)
(69,231)
(322)
–
–
–
–
38,711
6,426
8,200
2,007
–

143,896
(9,003)
400
33,295
5,060
(2,573)
–
–
376,800
(1,264)
(14,922)
(71,388)
–
–
(8)
131
505
–
19,321
20,407
–
–

(13,845)
75,573
5,699
1,495

878
(52,530)
(9,396)
(22,615)

(13,838)
52,178
5,699
(31,549)

818
(60,696)
(9,396)
(17,124)

520,408

463,711

496,516

451,322

36. Commitments
Capital commitments
	Capital expenditure authorised by the Board of Directors at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements is as follows:
   Group
   Company
Figures in Rand thousand
2012
2011
2012
2011
Contracted for and authorised by directors
Not yet contracted for but authorised by directors

114,301
299,437

174,377
449,525

114,207
297,804

174,172
446,481

413,738

623,902

412,011

620,653

	The capital expenditure will be financed from funds generated by own operations and from external sources.
Operating lease commitments lessee
The future minimum payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Figures in Rand thousand
Buildings
Not later than one period
Later than 1 period and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
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   Group
2012
2011

   Company
2012
2011

175,411
468,956
185,382

194,846
457,087
226,118

165,941
447,588
185,382

188,324
446,216
226,103

829,749

878,051

798,911

860,643

145

Notes to the Group financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2012 (continued)

36. Commitments (continued)
Operating lease commitments lessee (continued)
	None of the lease agreements contain any contingent rent clauses and it is assumed that there are no contingent rent payments. It is also
assumed that there are no restrictions that would impose additional debts that are not covered in the minimum contract terms. Rental
payments are based on a rate per square metre relating to the prevalent market rate at the inception of the contract. Escalation clauses
vary from contract to contract averaging at 8% (2011: 8%, 2010: 8%). Contract renewal options are assumed to be exercised by the
company, unless decided otherwise by management.

Figures in Rand thousand
Vehicles
Not later than one period
Later than 1 period and not later than 5 years

   Group
2012
2011

   Company
2012
2011

65,828
36,657

54,216
38,935

63,272
36,224

52,247
37,675

102,485

93,151

99,496

89,922

 he Group leases vehicles from Avis Fleet Services and Fleet Africa under Full Maintenance Lease (FML) agreements. The lease period
T
ranges from two to five years at an interest rate of prime less 2% to prime plus 2.25%, (2011: interest rates of prime less 2 – 2.25%).
The vehicles are being utilised for the delivery of parcels and mail.
Total

947,350

971,202

913,523

950,565

Operating lease receivables lessor
The future minimum payments receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Figures in Rand thousand
Buildings
Not later than one period
Later than 1 period and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

   Group
2012
2011

   Company
2012
2011

12,952
18,580
318

15,135
30,959
154

12,952
18,580
318

15,179
30,982
154

31,850

46,248

31,850

46,315

	Rental income has been based on a rate per square metre relating to the prevalent market rate at the inception of each contract.
Escalation clauses vary from contract to contract with an average of 7% (2011: 7%, 2010: 7%). Lease agreements are entered into for
a minimum of two years to a maximum of a three-year period. The contract renewal option period is assumed to be exercised by the
company, unless decided otherwise by management. None of the lease agreements contain any contingent rent clauses.

37. Contingencies
Figures in Rand thousand
Contingent liabilities
Guarantees in respect of employee housing loans
Bank guarantees
Service providers
The service providers
Employees

   Group
2012
2011

   Company
2012
2011

1,510
6,537
39,039

2,311
8,582
45,237

1,510
6,537
37,720

2,311
8,582
42,967

4,237

1,500

4,237

1,500

51,323

57,630

50,004

55,360

	The Post Office is in receipt of a summons in which NASASA Cellular (Pty) Ltd has claimed R1.3 billion in damages arising out of an alleged
breach of an agreement, purportedly concluded between the parties during 2004. The SA Post office is defending the damages action.
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38. Risk management
Financial risk management overview
	A comprehensive treasury policy has been compiled and approved by the Board to ensure that all market risks to which the Group is
exposed are understood and managed. The treasury policy covers all key areas of risk management namely identification, measurement,
management and reporting of risk.
Governance structures are in place to achieve effective independent monitoring and management of market risks through:
•	The Group’s Asset and Liability Management (ALM) function that is responsible for the day-to-day monitoring, evaluation and reporting
of all market risks.
•	The Group’s Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) which is responsible for ensuring that the impact of market risks is being effectively
managed and reported throughout the Post Office Group and that all policies, risk limits and relevant market risk issues are reported
to the Group’s Risk Committee.
•	The Board’s Group Risk Committee, which is responsible for ensuring that from a strategic perspective, risk is handled as an area of
competitive advantage and a key source of innovation.
•	The Group ALCO reports on a quarterly basis to the Board’s Group Risk Committee.
Financial risk management objectives
	The Group’s ALM function monitors and manages market risks relating to the treasury operations of the Group through internal risk
reports which analyse the degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include fair value interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The Group seeks to minimise the effects of the negative impact of these risks by ensuring compliance
with the treasury policy limits and benchmarks with regard to the following:
•	Proposed money market investment strategies do not result in the breach of asset/liability mismatch gap limit.
•	Ensuring that the net interest income volatility is within the approved benchmark.
•	Adequate overnight liquidity limit is complied with by having sufficient call balances.
•	SA Post Office’s credit exposure is diversified across a range of acceptable counterparties and the maximum investment with a
particular counterparty will be limited to 25% of the total investments. Where the amount to be invested per entity is less than or
equal to R50 million, the minimum investment with any one counterparty should be limited to 50% +1 of the total investment and not
exceeding R25 million.
• Instrument limits are set to avoid excess concentration in any given financial investment instrument.
	Overall the Group’s main financial risk management objective is to ensure an enhanced return within the risk profiles or parameters
approved by the Board.
Fair value assumptions of financial instruments
	The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:
•	The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets is
determined with reference to quoted market prices.
•	The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) is determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions
and dealer quotes for similar instruments.
	The fair value of foreign currency forward contracts is measured using quoted forward exchange rates and an interest rate differential
between local and foreign rates derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities of contracts.
Valuation of unlisted shares in Gidani Management (Pty) Ltd
	The Group had previously owned an equity stake of 1 125 shares in Uthingo Management (Pty) Ltd. The liquidation of Uthingo Management
(Pty) Ltd was finalised in the financial year ending 31 March 2010. The Group received a final termination dividend of R3.3 million in the
current financial year. (Refer to note 32).
	Subsequent to the liquidation of Uthingo Management (Pty) Ltd, the Group had been allocated 100 ordinary shares in Gidani Management
(Pty) Ltd, which represent 10% of Gidani shares. The shares were allocated to the SA Post Office by the Department of Trade and Industry
on 28 July 2010.
	The fair value of the SA Post Office stake in Gidani was determined by management to be zero. The discounted cash flow model was
used in the determination of the fair value of the SA Post Office shareholding in Gidani.
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38. Risk management (continued)
Impairment losses on financial assets
	Refer to note 1.9 for the Group’s accounting policy in assessing impairment losses on financial assets.
	Refer to note 11 for trade and other receivables impairment allowances.
	Refer to note 41 schedule 1: Unlisted investments for impairment losses on investment in subsidiaries.
Finance income recognised in profit or loss
   Group
2012
2011

Figures in Rand thousand

   Company
2012
2011

Income earned analysed by class of financial asset:
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments
Dividend income
Trade and other payables discounted

136,902
18,389
3,333
7,783

168,939
12,011
3,000
9,095

135,277
12,087
3,333
7,508

167,406
5,869
3,000
8,745

Total recognised in profit or loss

166,407

193,045

158,205

185,020

Recognised directly in other comprehensive income
Revaluation of available for sale financial assets:
Current investments
Other financial assets

(760)
(91)

(2,321)
(252)

(760)
(91)

(2,321)
(252)

Total revaluation loss recognised in other comprehensive income

(851)

(2,573)

(851)

(2,573)

Finance costs recognised in profit or loss
Expense incurred on financial liabilities, analysed by class of
financial liability:
Trade and other payables discounted
Interest on amount owing to the shareholder
Interest bearing borrowings
Citizen Post Office Interest

8,400
(21,352)
(1,895)
(752)

(9,743)
(21,071)
(1,099)
(773)

8,126
(21,352)
(63)
(752)

(9,743)
(21,071)
(1)
(773)

Total finance costs recognised in profit

(32,399)

(32,686)

(30,293)

(31,588)

Method and assumptions: Sensitivity analyses of financial assets and liabilities
(i) Fair value interest sensitivity
		On Government and corporate bonds classified as available for sale assets, the Group determines fair value interest sensitivity using
quoted yield to maturity rates for specific Government and corporate bonds held by the Group. The Group calculates the fair value
interest sensitivity for a one day horizon and is measured for a 1% parallel shift in the rates. For fair value sensitivity the Group treasury
policy stipulates that a 1% adverse change in the rates should not result in a 0.75% capital loss in the portfolio over a one day period.
(ii) Cash flow interest sensitivity
		The Group calculates the cash flow interest sensitivity to determine interest at risk on held to maturity financial assets and financial
liabilities at amortised cost. (Note that none of the loans and receivables are interest bearing). The cash flow interest sensitivity includes
all variable interest bearing financial assets and liabilities included in these categories. The sensitivity is calculated by interpolating
along the Jibar and FRA quoted rates. The interpolation is performed to coincide with the maturities and re-investments of the principal
cash flows. The calculation of the cash flow interest sensitivity analysis is in line with the Group’s investment strategy. The cash flow
sensitivity is measured for a 1% parallel shift in the rates.
(iii) Foreign currency sensitivity
		The Group calculates foreign currency risk sensitivity on both the hedged and uncovered foreign currency exposures. The sensitivity is
calculated by using the quoted exchange rates against the local currency i.e. Rand. The foreign exchange rate sensitivity is calculated
for a one-day holding period on uncovered foreign exposures. The exchange rate sensitivity is measured for a 1% change in the rates.
(iv) Equity risk sensitivity
		At year-end, the Group had unlisted shares in Gidani Management (Pty) Ltd. The directors had used the discounted cash flow model in
determining the fair value of the shares. The equity risk in the shares was considered to be minimal as the equity holding wasn’t exposed
to the volatility of the stock market. On listed shares, the equity price risk is measured for a 1% change in the share prices.
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38. Risk management (continued)
Method and assumptions: Sensitivity analyses of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(v) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
		The directors consider the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost and having a duration
that is less or equal to 12 months as approximating their fair value. At year-end there were no financial assets and financial liabilities
having a duration greater than 12 months that were carried at amortised cost.
(vi) Fair value measurements recognised in the statements of financial position
		The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.
•	Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
•	Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
•	Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Group 2012
Financial assets at FVTPL
Equities and bonds
Customer foreign currency (CFC)
Available for sale financial assets
Negotiable certificates of deposits
Promissory notes
Cell-captive assets

Company 2012
Financial assets at FVTPL
Equities and bonds
Customer foreign currency (CFC)
Available for sale financial assets
Negotiable certificates of deposits
Promissory notes

Group 2011
Financial assets at FVTPL
Equities and bonds
Custom foreign currency (CFC)
Available for sale financial assets
Bonds
Negotiable certificates of deposits
Promissory notes
Cell-captive assets

Company 2011
Financial assets at FVTPL
Equities and bonds
Custom foreign currency (CFC)
Available for sale financial assets
Bonds
Negotiable certificates of deposits
Promissory notes

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

523,554
–

145,676
10,423

–
–

669,230
10,423

–
–
–

444,912
928,737
89,683

–
–
–

444,912
928,737
89,683

523,554

1,619,431

–

2,142,985

523,554
–

145,676
10,423

–
–

669,230
10,423

–
–

444,912
928,737

–
–

444,912
928,737

523,554

1,529,748

–

2,053,302

475,505
–

131,289
15,868

–
–

606,794
15,868

3,425
–
–
–

–
1,196,936
77,718
78,160

–
–
–
–

3,425
1,196,936
77,718
78,160

478,930

1,499,971

–

1,978,901

475,505
–

131,289
15,868

–
–

606,794
15,868

3,425
–
–

–
1,196,936
77,718

–
–
–

3,425
1,196,936
77,718

478,930

1,421,811

–

1,900,741

	There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 in the period.
	For period-end 2012, there were no outstanding foreign exchange contracts taken by the Group (2011: nil).
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38. Risk management (continued)
Market risk
	Market risk is the potential negative impact on earnings resulting from unfavourable changes in exchange rates, interest rates, prices and
other market volatilities i.e. the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate.
	The Group’s exposure to market risk arises primarily from its activities in three main areas:
•	Interest rate risk in the Group’s portfolio as a result of the financial assets and financial liabilities re-pricing mismatch in line with Group
ALCO’s view of the interest rates. Repricing risk is the risk of adverse impact on the Group’s interest return from mismatched financial
assets and liabilities Investment risk arising from the Group’s surplus cash flow. The investment risk is the risk of falling interest rates
at the time of the investment or re-investment of the Group’s surplus cash or the risk of the cash reserves maturing being re-invested
at lower rates than expected.
•	Foreign exchange risk arising from the Group’s exposure to international postal services and products as well as the import of capital
goods sourced offshore.
•	Systemic risk is the risk that events either globally or locally threaten the ongoing financial soundness of financial markets.
	The Group manages the market risk it is exposed to in its banking division’s money market portfolio by restricting the money market
re‑pricing mismatch or gap between interest rate sensitive financial assets and financial liabilities to a percentage gap or difference agreed
at Group ALCO meetings and documented in the Group treasury policy.
	The Group manages the foreign exchange risk by hedging exposures that are above a certain limit as per the requirements of the Group
treasury policy.
	Market risk is quantified by performing sensitivity analyses on both interest and exchange rates. For interest rate risk, the policy stipulates
that a 1%-point adverse shift in the yield curve should not result in a 10% reduction in the projected income in the money market portfolio
return over a 12 month horizon. This is done for both the held to maturity portfolio where cash flow interest sensitivity is measured and
the available for sale portfolio in respect of fair value sensitivity analysis.
	The Group’s exposure to currency risk is also evaluated by the exchange rate sensitivity analysis. The Group only enters into a foreign
exchange forward cover where the foreign exposure is greater than R1 million and a one percentage point adverse move in the exchange
rate result in a loss of R500 000 over a one day horizon.
	It is the responsibility of the Group ALM function to monitor compliance with risk limits and all breaches are discussed at monthly Group
ALCO meetings.
	All measures actioned in managing market risk at Group ALCO meetings are reported to the Group Risk Committee of the Board on a
quarterly basis.
Fair value interest sensitivity
	The table below reflects the impact on the available for sale equity reserve for a given 1% up and downward shift in interest rates at yearend:

Figures in Rand thousand
1% increase in interest rates
1% decrease in interest rates

   Increase/(decrease)
   Group
   Company
2012
2011
2012
2011
(6,312)
6,398

(6,207)
6,697

(6,312)
6,398

(6,207)
6,697

	The R47.27 million (2011: R40.37 million) reduction in the Group’s net interest income for a 1% fall in the interest rates represents a 10.6%
(2011: 11.19%) decline in net interest income for the period. On the available for sale revaluation reserve, the R6.4 million (2011: R6.7
million) increase in the equity reserve represents 0.51% (2011: 0.51%) of the market value of the available for sale portfolio at year-end.
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38. Risk management (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity
	The table below reflects the impact on net income for a given 1% up and downward shift in exchange rates at year-end.

Figures in Rand thousand

   Increase/(decrease)
   Group
   Company
2012
2011
2012
2011

1% appreciation in exchange rates
1% depreciation in exchange rates

(191)
191

(81)
81

(191)
191

(81)
81

	At year-end, the Group had total market risk both to net income and equity of R40.68 million (2011: R33.6 million) for a 1% decline in the
rates.
Cash flow interest sensitivity
	The table below reflects the impact on the held to maturity portfolio for a given 1% up and down shift in interest rates at year-end:

Figures in Rand thousand
1% increase in interest rates
1% decrease in interest rates

   Increase/(decrease)
   Group
   Company
2012
2011
2012
2011
25,531
(45,403)

25,172
(40,379)

25,060
(44,932)

24,779
(40,004)

Credit risk
	Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group.
	The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from credit sales to its clients and money market investment activities. Credit risk is
managed in terms of the Board approved Group treasury risk policy, which in turn encompasses comprehensive credit procedures, limits
and governance structure. Formal credit ratings are utilised in the credit evaluation process of the counterparties.
	The minimum credit ratings for counterparties are the Fitch National Long-term Rating A and Fitch National Short-term Rating F1.
The credit quality of counterparties is monitored by the Group ALM function. The Group credit exposure is diversified across a range of
acceptable counterparties and the maximum investment with any counterparty is limited to 25% of total investments. All counterparty
limits are reviewed in line with balance sheet growth and at least on an annual basis.
	It is the responsibility of the Group ALM function to monitor compliance with the approved counterparty credit limits and any breach is
reported to the monthly Group ALCO meeting.
	Activities in managing credit risk at Group ALCO meetings are reported to the Group Risk Committee of the Board on a quarterly basis.
Exposure to credit risk
	The carrying amounts of financial assets recorded in the financial statements represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
The Group is further exposed to the credit risk as a result of the housing guarantees that it issues on behalf of a certain category of its
employees. At year-end the maximum amount the Group could have to pay if the guarantees were called on amounted to R1.510 million
(2011: R2.311 million).
	All financial assets except for those that are measured at fair value through profit or loss are assessed to determine any evidence of
impairment. Any deterioration in any counterparty credit rating is regarded as evidence of impairment. During the course of the period
2012, there was no evidence of impairment observed in held to maturity financial assets and available for sale assets held by the Group.
	The Group credit risk is considered to be limited because all its counterparties are major banks with high credit ratings and other
investments are in Government and liquid corporate paper. The credit risk profile and quality of the Group’s counterparties is considered
to be sound, well managed and commensurate with the risk appetite of the Board.
Capital risk
	Capital risk refers to the risk that the Group will become unable to absorb losses, maintain public confidence and support the competitive
growth of the business. The management of capital risk will ensure that opportunities can be acted on timeously while solvency is never
threatened.
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Credit risk (continued)
	The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
	Capital is defined as “equity and reserves”, “amount owing to shareholder” and “subsidy received in advance” as shown on the
balance sheet.
	The Group’s exposure to capital risk arises primarily from the following:
•	Funds which are being received from the shareholder may cease before completion of the projects out of which they are being
financed.
•	Funds received from the shareholder are specifically for certain identified projects.
	The capital risk is managed in terms of certain guidelines agreed to between the Group and shareholder.
	The Group has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements.
	There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the period.
Interest rate risk
	Interest rate risk is the risk that the Group’s earnings or economic value of the financial assets will decline as a result of changes in the
interest rates.
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from the following:
•	Re-pricing risk (mismatch risk) – timing differences in the maturity and re-pricing of financial assets and financial liabilities;
•	Investment risk on the Group surplus operational cash reserves arising from adverse movements in the interest rates.
	The interest rate risk is managed in terms of the Board approved treasury policy. The policy specifies a percentage gap or re-pricing
mismatch between interest rate sensitive financial assets and financial liabilities, which in turn is monitored and measured by the Group
ALM function. Interest rate limit breaches are reported at the Group ALCO meetings.
	Activities in managing interest rate risk at Group ALCO meetings are reported to the Group’s Risk Committee of the Board on a
quarterly basis.
	Appropriate interest rate risk dashboard indicators have been compiled to provide Group ALCO members with the necessary interest rate
risk information on a weekly basis, including a measure of compliance with approved limits and benchmarks.
Cash flow interest sensitivity
The table below reflects net interest income sensitivity for a given 1% up and downward shift in interest rates at year-end:
   Increase/(decrease)
   Group
Figures in Rand thousand

2012

   Company
2011

2012

2011

1% increase in interest rates

25,531

25,172

25,060

24,779

1% decrease in interest rates

(45,403)

(40,379)

(44,932)

(40,004)

Fair value interest sensitivity
	The table below reflects the impact on the available for sale equity reserve for a given 1% up and downward shift in interest rate at
year end:
   Increase/(decrease)
   Group

   Company

2012

2011

2012

2011

1% increase in interest rates

(6,312)

(6,207)

(6,312)

(6,207)

1% decrease in interest rates

6,398

6,697

6,398

6,697

Figures in Rand thousand
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38. Risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Price risk sensitivity
	The table below reflects the impact on the Group’s income for a given 1% up and downward shift in market rates at period-end:

Figures in Rand thousand
1% increase in interest rates
1% decrease in interest rates

   Increase/(decrease)
   Group
   Company
2012
2011
2012
2011
(4,659)
5,334

(4,574)
5,645

(4,659)
5,334

(4,574)
5,645

	At year-end, the Group had a total price risk of R4.7 million on the post-retirement medical assets (PRMA) to income. (2011: R4.6 million)
for a 1% increase in the rates and share prices as well as 1% appreciation in the exchange rate.
Foreign exchange risk
	Foreign exchange risk is the risk of the decline in the earnings or realisable value in the net financial asset position of the Group arising
from adverse movements in foreign exchange rates.
	The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of exposures that arise from rendering of international postal services and
products as well as capital imports that are sourced offshore.
	The Group manages the foreign currency exposures relating to international postal services through the utilisation of Universal Postal
Union (UPU) approved netting agreements between South Africa and debtor and creditor countries. In the event where the exposure after
netting exceeds the limit specified below, a forward foreign exchange contract is taken to hedge the foreign exchange risk.
	The Group manages foreign exchange risk arising from capital imports sourced offshore by utilisation of forward foreign exchange
contracts as documented in the Board-approved treasury policy. The treasury policy stipulates the following in respect of utilisation of
forward cover:
	No forward cover is required where the currency exposure is less than R1 million in value and a 1% adverse exchange rate move does
not result in a R500 000 currency loss.
	Forward cover is taken where the exposure in respect of a specific foreign currency commitment is more than R1 million and a 1%
adverse move in the exchange rate results in the Group experiencing a loss of more than R500 000. Actions taken in managing foreign
exchange risk at Group ALCO meetings are reported to the Group Risk Committee of the Board on a quarterly basis
Uncovered foreign exchange exposure
	At year-end, the Group was exposed to the following foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities for which no
forward cover had been taken out:
Foreign currency exposure at balance sheet date – (figures in foreign currency)
Figures in Rand thousand

152

   Group
2012
2011

   Company
2012
2011

Financial assets
Great Britain Pounds
United States Dollars
Botswana Pula
Special Drawing Rights
Euro

39
1,309
9
10,514
21

6
2,398
40
10,707
–

39
1,309
9
10,514
21

6
2,398
40
10,707
–

Financial liabilities
Great Britain Pounds
United States Dollars
Botswana Pula
Special Drawing Rights
Zambia Kwacha
Kenyan Shilling
Euro
New Zealand Dollar

–
44
386
9,241
9,994
236
377
337

3
–
377
10,992
13,576
267
483
28

–
44
386
9,241
9,994
236
377
336

3
–
377
10,992
13,576
267
483
28
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Foreign currency sensitivity:
	The table below reflects the impact on net income for a given 1% up and downward shift in exchange rates at year-end:
   Increase/(decrease)
   Group

   Company

Figures in Rand thousand

2012

2011

2012

2011

1% appreciation in exchange rate

(191)

(81)

(191)

(81)

1% depreciation in exchange rate

191

81

191

81

	At year-end, the Group’s net income at risk from foreign exposure arose from the net asset currency position. A depreciation of 1% in the
exchange rate would result in a R0.191 million foreign currency gain for the Group (2011: R0.0811 million currency gain).
Liquidity risk
	Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet both expected and unexpected current and future cash flow needs without
negatively affecting either the daily operations or the financial conditions of the Group.
	The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises mainly as a result of the following:
•	Unexpected withdrawal of cash by Postbank clients.
•	Daily working capital requirements.
•	The Group has signed contracts with third parties where its Retail network is used as a collection agent for municipalities and other
institutions. All contracts stipulate that funds collected from third parties are paid over to them after 24 hours.
	Liquidity risk is managed in terms of the Board approved treasury policy with appropriate dashboard liquidity risk profiles which are
monitored by the Group ALM function. The management of liquidity risk and particularly, the Group’s cash flows is strongly focused on the
short- to medium-term to ensure that the Group ALM function and the Treasury are quick to respond to immediate cash flow requirements
under different stress scenarios.
	On a quarterly basis, the Group ALM function performs behavioural and stress analyses to identify business as usual as well as potential
stress cash flow requirements. Medium- and long-term liquidity strategies are approved by the Group ALCO and implemented by the
Group Treasury.
	The Group manages its daily liquidity by having cash reserves on overnight call balances of at least R250 million and maintaining overdraft
credit facilities with all the major banks. The Group ALM function monitors the forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity
profiles of financial assets and liabilities of the banking division.
	At year-end, the Group had overnight call balances of R834 million (2011: R1.312 billion) and R80 million (2011: R80 million) in overdraft/
credit facilities with the major banks. Of the R80 million overdraft facilities, no overdraft facility was utilised at year-end (2011: R0 million).
	Actions in managing liquidity risk at Group ALCO meetings are reported to the Group’s Risk Committee of the Board on a quarterly basis.
Liquidity risk tables
	The tables below detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and financial assets. The figures have been
compiled based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and financial assets based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to recognise financial assets and settle financial liabilities.
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38. Risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
Contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities and financial assets:
	The liquidity risk table below shows the contractual maturity gap at period-end. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
Between Between
3 and 6 months
6 months and 1 year

Between
1 and
5 years

Over
5 years

Equity

Total

Figures in Rand thousand

Overnight

Less than
3 months

Group – 2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments
Other financial assets

2,157,749
–
135,509

1,101,226
510,523
22,473

–
1,068,369
15,000

–
2,724,405
31,633

–
–
87,115

–
–
99,729

–
–
294,191

3,258,975
4,303,297
685,650

Total financial assets

2,293,258

1,634,222

1,083,369

2,756,038

87,115

99,729

294,191

8,247,922

Figures in Rand thousand

Overnight

Less than
3 months

Between
3 and
6 months

Between
6 months
and 1 year

Between
1 and
5 years

Over
5 years

Equity

Total

Group – 2011
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments
Other financial assets

2,587,232
–
134,660

2,223,776
114,098
19,647

–
966,141
12,140

–
1,385,048
7,620

–
–
92,123

–
–
93,474

–
–
260,367

4,811,008
2,465,287
620,031

Total financial assets

2,721,892

2,357,521

978,281

1,392,668

92,123

93,474

260,367

7,896,326

The overnight future cash flows for other financial assets (PRMA) relating to 2011 financial year was restated in current financial year
from R nil to R134,66 million.
Between Between
3 and 6 months
6 months and 1 year

Between
1 and 5
years

Over
5 years

Equity

Total

Figures in Rand thousand

Overnight

Less than
3 months

Company – 2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments
Other financial assets

2,116,377
–
135,509

1,085,782
510,523
22,473

–
1,068,369
15,000

–
2,724,405
31,633

–
–
87,115

–
–
99,729

–
–
294,191

3,202,159
4,303,297
685,650

Total financial assets

2,251,886

1,618,778

1,083,369

2,756,038

87,115

99,729

294,191

8,191,106

Figures in Rand thousand

Overnight

Less than
3 months

Between
3 and
6 months

Between
6 months
and 1 year

Between
1 and 5
years

Over
5 years

Equity

Total

Company – 2011
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments
Other financial assets

2,556,426
–
134,660

2,223,776
114,098
19,647

–
950,657
12,140

–
1,385,048
7,620

–
–
92,123

–
–
93,474

–
–
260,367

4,780,202
2,449,803
620,031

Total financial assets

2,691,086

2,357,521

962,797

1,392,668

92,123

93,474

260,367

7,850,036

The overnight future cash flows for other financial assets (PRMA) relating to 2011 financial year was restated in current financial year
from R nil to R134,66 million.

Figures in Rand thousand

Less than
3 months

Between
3 and
6 months

Between
6 months
and
1 period

Between
1 and
5 years

Over
5 years

Equity

Total

(504,007)
(355,551)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(639,089)
(393,589)

(248,327)
(2,433)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(248,327)
(2,433)

–
(51,805)

–
(63,051)

–
(52,506)

–
(22,936)

–
–

–
(165,715)
– (4,297,239)

(4,445,776) (1,162,123)

(63,051)

(52,506)

(22,936)

–

– (5,746,392)

Overnight

Group – at 31 March 2012
Trade payables
(135,082)
Other payables
(38,038)
Amounts owing to
shareholders
–
Outstanding insurance claims
–
Funds collected on behalf of
third parties
(165,715)
Deposits from the public
(4,106,941)
Total financial liabilities
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Figures in Rand thousand

Overnight

Less than
3 months

Between
3 and
6 months

Between
6 months
and
1 year

Between
1 and
5 years

Over
5 years

Equity

Total

Group – at 31 March 2011
Trade payables

(173,460)

(529,648)

–

–

–

–

–

(703,108)

Other payables

(47,195)

(279,514)

–

–

–

–

–

(326,709)

Amounts owing to
shareholders

–

(226,975)

–

–

–

–

–

(226,975)

Oustanding insurance claims

–

(4,799)

–

–

–

–

–

(4,799)
(221,203)

Funds collected on behalf of
third parties

(221,203)

–

–

–

–

–

–

Deposits from the public

(3,823,979)

(90,340)

(73,058)

(30,619)

(3,855)

–

– (4,021,851)

Total financial liabilities

(4,265,837) (1,131,276)

(73,058)

(30,619)

(3,855)

–

– (5,504 645)

Overnight

Less than
3 months

Between
3 and
6 months

Between
6 months
and
1 period

Between
1 and
5 years

Over
5 years

Equity

Total

Trade payables

(124,946)

(556,404)

–

–

–

–

–

(681,350)

Other payables

(29,385)

(211,295)

–

–

–

–

–

(240,680)

–

(248,327)

–

–

–

–

–

(248,327)
(165,715)

Figures in Rand thousand
Company – at 31 March
2012

Amounts owing to
shareholders
Funds collected on behalf of
third parties
Deposits from the public
Outstanding insurance claims
Total liabilities

Figures in Rand thousand

(165,715)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(4,106,941)

(51,805)

(63,051)

(52,506)

(22,936)

–

– (4,297,239)

(2,191)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(4,426,987) (1,070,022)

(63,051)

(52,506)

(22,936)

–

– (5,635,502)

Less than
3 months

Between
3 and
6 months

Between
6 months
and
1 period

Between
1 and 5
years

Over
5 years

Overnight

Equity

(2,191)

Total

Company – at 31 March
2011
Trade payables

(134,242)

(556,286)

–

–

–

–

–

(690,528)

Other payables

(41,652)

(220,034)

–

–

–

–

–

(261,686)

–

(226,975)

–

–

–

–

–

(226,975)
(221,203)

Amounts owing to
shareholders
Funds collected on behalf of
third parties

(221,203)

–

–

–

–

–

–

Deposits from the public

(3,823,979)

(90,340)

(73,058)

(30,619)

(3,855)

–

– (4,021,851)

Total liabilities

(4,221,076) (1,093,635)

(73,058)

(30,619)

(3,855)

–

– (5,422,243)
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38. Risk management (continued)
Figures in Rand thousand

Financial assets by category
Group – 2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments
Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables

Figures in Rand thousand
Group – 2011
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments
Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables

Loans and
receivables

Instruments
at FVTPL

Held to
maturity

Available
for sale

Total

–
–
–
515,978

10,423
–
669,230
–

3,266,734
2,742,005
–
–

–
1,373,649
89,683
–

3,277,157
4,115,654
758,913
515,978

515,978

679,653

6,008,739

1,463,332

8,667,702

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through profit
or loss – held
for trading

Held to
maturity

Available
for sale

Total

–
–
–
608,235

15,868
–
606,795
–

4,740,346
1,058,000
–
–

–
1,274,653
81,585
–

4,756,214
2,332,653
688,380
608,235

608,235

622,663

5,798,346

1,356,238

8,385,482

* The trade and other receivables numbers in the above tables exclude prepayments and interest receivables which do not represent financial instruments.

Figures in Rand thousand
Company – 2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments
Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables

Figures in Rand thousand
Company – 2011
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments
Other financial assets
Trade and other receivables

Loans and
receivables

Instruments
at FVTPL

Held to
maturity

Available
for sale

Total

–
–
–
461,483

10,423
–
669,230
–

3,226,679
2,727,005
–
–

–
1,373,649
–
–

3,237,102
4,100,654
669,230
461,483

461,483

679,653

5,953,684

1,373,649

8,468,459

Loans and
receivables

Fair value
through profit
or loss – held
for trading

Held to
maturity

Available
for sale

Total

–
–
–
554,439

15,868
–
606,795
–

4,709,360
1,043,000
–
–

–
1,274,653
3,425
–

4,725,228
2,317,653
610,220
554,439

554,439

622,663

5,752,360

1,278,078

8,207,540

* The trade and other receivables numbers in the above tables exclude prepayments and interest receivables, which do not represent financial instruments.
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38. Risk management (continued)

Group
Current Non-current

Figures in Rand thousand

Company
Current Non-current

Held-to-maturity financial assets carried at amortised cost
2012
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments

3,266,734
2,742,005

–
–

3,226,679
2,727,005

–
–

Total held-to-maturity financial assets

6,008,739

–

5,953,684

–

Fair value through profit and loss financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

10,423

–

10,423

–

Fair value through profit and loss financial assets

10,423

–

10,423

–

Available for sale financial assets at fair value
Current investments
Other financial assets

1,373,649
89,683

–
–

1,373,649
–

–
–

Total available for sale financial assets

1,463,332

–

1,373,649

–

Financial assets held trading carried at fiar value
Other financial assets

186,089

483,141

186,089

483,141

Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables:
Trade receivables
Group receivables
Sundry receivables
Staff receivables
Trade receivables discounting
Impairment of trade and other receivables

250,468
–
147,841
4,357
(3,694)
(21,490)

40,948
–
200
–
–
(32,516)

195,908
–
136,363
4,354
(3,644)
(21,490)

29,914
125,781
200
–
–
(17,116)

Total loans and receivables

377,482

8,632

311,491

138,779

Held-to-maturity financial assets carried at amortised cost
2011
Cash and cash equivalents
Current investments

4,740,346
1,058,000

–
–

4,709,360
1,043,000

–
–

Total held-to-maturity financial assets

5,798,346

–

5,752,360

–

Fair value through profit and loss financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

15,868

–

15,868

–

Fair value through profit and loss financial assets

15,868

–

15,868

–

Available for sale financial assets at fair value
Current investments
Other financial assets

1,274,653
81,585

–
–

1,274,653
3,425

–
–

Total held-to-maturity financial assets

1,356,238

–

1,278,078

–

Financial assets held for trading carried at fair value
Other financial assets

139,750

467,044

139,750

467,044

Total financial assets held for trading

139,750

467,044

139,750

467,044

Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables:
Trade receivables
Group receivables
Sundry receivables
Staff receivables
Trade receivables discounting
Impairment of trade and other receivables

273,734
–
229,547
7,734
(3,038)
(7)

33,344
–
265
–
–
(37,315)

212,213
–
221,407
5,171
(2,973)
–

16,564
94,782
265
–
–
(19,187)

Total loans and receivables

507,970

(3,706)

435,818

92,424

Financial assets held for trading
At year-end, financial assets held for trading amounted to R669 million (2011: R607 million).
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38. Risk management (continued)

Figures in Rand thousand
Financial liabilities by category
Group – 2012
Trade payables
Other payables
Amounts owing to the shareholder
Outstanding insurance claims
Funds collected on behalf of third parties
Deposits from the public

Total

(135,082)
(38,038)
(248,327)
(2,433)
(165,715)
(4,257,864)

–
–
–
–
–
–

(504,007)
(355,552)
–
–
–
–

(639,089)
(393,590)
(248,327)
(2,433)
(165,715)
(4,257,864)

(4,847,459)

–

(859,559)

(5,707,018)

Figures in Rand thousand

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Fair value
through profit
or loss – held
for trading

Fair value
through profit
or loss –
designated

Total

Group – 2011
Trade payables
Other payables
Amounts owing to the shareholder
Outstanding insurance claims
Funds collected on behalf of third parties
Deposits from the public

(179,585)
(47,195)
(226,975)
(4,799)
(221,203)
(3,984,022)

–
–
–
–
–
–

(528,874)
(279,514)
–
–
–
–

(708,459)
(326,709)
(226,975)
(4,799)
(221,203)
(3,984,022)

(4,663,779)

–

(808,388)

(5,472,167)

Fair value
Fair value
Financial
liabilities at through profit through profit
or loss –
amortised or loss – held
designated
for trading
cost

Total

Figures in Rand thousand
Company – 2012
Trade payables
Other payables
Amounts owing to the shareholder
Funds collected on behalf of third parties
Deposits from the public

158

Fair value
Financial Instruments
at fair value through profit
liabilities at
or loss –
amortised through profit
designated
or loss
cost

(124,946)
(29,385)
(248,327)
(165,715)
(4,257,864)

–
–
–
–
–

(556,404)
(211,295)
–
–
–

(681,350)
(240,680)
(248,327)
(165,715)
(4,257,864)

(4,826,237)

–

(767,699)

(5,593,936)

Figures in Rand thousand

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

Fair value
through profit
or loss – held
for trading

Fair value
through profit
or loss –
designated

Total

Company – 2011
Trade payables
Other payables
Amounts owing to the shareholder
Funds collected on behalf of third parties
Deposits from the public

(180,372)
(40,065)
(226,975)
(221,203)
(3,984,022)

–
–
–
–
–

(510,156)
(221,621)
–
–
–

(690,528)
(261,686)
(226,975)
(221,203)
(3,984,022)

(4,652,637)

–

(731,777)

(5,384,414)
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38. Risk management (continued)
Group
Current Non-current

Figures in Rand thousand

Company
Current Non-current

2012
Financial liabilities by category
Trade payables
Other payables
Amount owing to the shareholder
Outstanding insurance claims
Funds collected on behalf of third parties
Deposits from the public

(639,089)
(393,590)
(248,327)
(2,433)
(165,715)
(4,235,138)

–
–
–
–
–
(22,726)

(681,350)
(240,680)
(248,327)
(2,191)
(165,715)
(4,235,138)

–
–
–
–
–
(22,726)

Total financial liabilities

(5,684,292)

(22,726)

(5,573,401)

(22,726)

Current

Non-current

Current

Non-current

2011
Financial liabilities by category
Trade payables
Other payables
Amount owing to the shareholder
Outstanding insurance claims
Funds collected on behalf of third parties
Deposits from the public

(708,459)
(326,709)
(226,975)
(4,799)
(221,203)
(3,980,203)

–
–
–
–
–
(3,819)

(690,528)
(261,686)
(226,975)
–
(221,203)
(3,980,203)

–
–
–
–
–
(3,819)

Total financial liabilities

(5,468,348)

(3,819)

(5,380,595)

(3,819)

At year-end, there were no financial liabilities held for trading.

At year-end, there were no financial liabilities held for trading.

39. Related parties
Related party transactions
	Related party relationships exist between the company and subsidiaries within the SA Post Office Group, as well as entities within the
same sphere of Government. These transactions are concluded at arm’s length in the normal course of business.
Name of related Government:
Relationship:

39.1

South African Government
100% owned by Government

Current payable Group and company
Group and company
Amount owing to the shareholder

2012

2011

248,327

226,975

13,317
751

12,543
774

14,068

13,317

 his loan bears interest at 9.0% (2011: 9.0%) in terms of the Public Finance Management Act.
T
The amount is unsecured and there are no fixed repayments terms.
39.2

Public Information Terminals and Citizen Post Office subsidy
Group and company
Subsidy balance – beginning of period
Interest accrued

	For the last two financial years, no subsidy has been received specifically for Public Information Terminals and Citizen Post Offices.
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39. Related parties (continued)
2012
Purchases

Purchases

Balance
outstanding

Purchases from related parties
Group
Constitutional institutions
The Independent Communications Authority of
South Africa (ICASA)

18,034

67

8,598

56

Subsidiaries
Centriq Insurance Innovation (Pty) Ltd
The Courier and Freight Group (Pty) Ltd
SA Post Office
Sapos Properties

48,836
15,383
22,300
911

8,649
1,304
116,516
14,587

41,052
5,832
(6,001)
1,050

1,594
–
64,299
–

105,464

141,123

50,531

65,949

Company
Constitutional institutions
The Independent Communications Authority of
South Africa (ICASA)

18,034

67

8,598

56

Subsidiaries
Centriq Insurance Innovation (Pty) Ltd
The Courier and Freight Group (Pty) Ltd

45,831
(3)

8,343
(31)

40,680
–

1,539
–

63,862

8,379

49,278

1,595

Figures in Rand thousand
39.3

2011

Balance
outstanding

2012
Sales

Sales

Balance
outstanding

Sales to related parties
Group
National Department
Department of Communications
Department of Finance (National Treasury)
The Presidency
Auditor-General
National Treasury
The Courier and Freight Group (Pty) Ltd
Centriq Insurance Innovation (Pty) Ltd
The Document Exchange (Pty) Ltd

1,948
403
(156)
47
543
22,434
8,257
12,941

(1)
14
17
2
(670)
116,498
6,185
2,037

507
19
3
19
368
(8,208)
(2,435)
3,768

(100)
–
96
5
(678)
94,234
7
184

Balance carried forward

46,729

124,082

(5,959)

93,748

Sales to related parties
Company
National Department
Department of Communications
Department of Finance (National Treasury)
The Presidency

161
386
61

–
–
–

2
19
–

2
–
93

Other national public entities
Auditor-General
National Treasury

47
512

2
(678)

19
365

5
(678)

Subsidiaries
The Courier and Freight Group (Pty) Ltd
Centriq Insurance Innovation (Pty) Ltd
The Document Exchange (Pty) Ltd
Sapos Properties

24,109
6,839
5,891
360

114,824
6,185
1,048
8,092

8,208
4,015
3,768
–

159,759
8,774
5,773
–

Balance carried forward

38,366

129,473

16,396

173,728

Figures in Rand thousand
39.4

39.4

160

2011

Balance
outstanding

39.5

2,933

2011

2

1

– Retired 29 February 2012
– Appointment date 1 March 2012
3
– Retired 25 January 2012
4
– Retired 13 October 2010
5
– Retired 31 December 2010
6
– Contract ended 31 March 2010
7
– Retired 30 September 2010
8
– Performed adhoc tasks for the Organisation
9
– Members of subsidiaries and sub-committees
* – Bonus payment only to GE: Business Support 15 November to 31 March 2011
†
– Bonus payments to executive directors

7,611

7,699

3,367

Executive Director
Executive Director
Executive Director
Executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director
Non-executive Director

155

286

4
1
–
30
28
–
30
–
8
15
13
2
123
–
–
–
–
–
–
5
14
5
8
–
–

Expense
Salary allowance

2012

Fees
275
25
1,131
2,162
2,778
–
1,328
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Chairperson
Chairperson

Position
226
8
–
–
–
–
–
393
288
296
414
282
489
8
8
8
8
–
–
68
478
225
168
–
–

2012
Ms VF Mahlati
G Mothema
Mr S Adam
Mr NJD Buick
Ms MM Lefoka
Ms TBJ Memela-Khambule
Mr JP Wentzel
Mr NCS Bebeza
Mr SEO Dietrich
Adv LP Nobanda
Mr TC Ngcobo
Ms K Moloto
Mr MS Patel
MS N Mthethwa
Ms N Kela
Mr R Sishuba
Ms G Simelane
Dr MN Pheko
Ms M Letlape
Mr H Daniels
Mr SMA Malebo
Adv V Mhlongo
Ms PE Pokane
Ms N Msimang
Fees paid to past directors

Figures in Rand thousand

Board compensation

39. Related parties (continued)

569

15

–
–
–
15
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Bonus*

39

444

–
–
106
202
–
–
136
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Pension

58

2,550

–
–
6
23
384
–
122
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
2,015

Other
benefits

14,361

505
34
1,243
2,432
3,190
–
1,616
393
296
311
427
284
612
8
8
8
8
–
–
73
492
230
176
–
–

Total
2012

11,365

499
–
–
2,190
2,904
842
2,131
290
284
210
290
241
301
–
–
–
–
194
192
–
287
248
253
5
–

Total
2011

†

6

1&9

1

1&8

5

5

2

2&9

2

2&9

8&9

8

8&9

4

7

3

2

1
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–

1,643

1,627

1,627

Salary

–

2011

1,381
1,380
–
1,299
1,232
1,277
1,107
832
1,111
974
652
562
445
102
307
1,238
11,998

GE: Human Resources
GE: Mail Operations
MD: Courier Freight Group
GE: Corporate Affairs
GE: Strategy
GE: Consumer Services
Chief Information Officer
Acting GE: Supply Chain
Chief Audit Executive
Group Company Secretary
Acting GE: Business Support
Chairperson of Procapex
Executive: Legal Services
Executive: Legal Services
GE: Supply Chain Management
Acting MD: Postbank

Salary

2012

Key management
personnel
compensation
2012
MS Diaz
JS Kotsi
M Mathibe
L Lose
M Lancaster
NA Mnisi
JJ White
L Govender
CA Phillips
BS Bulunga
MC Sebusi
M Faasen
MN Mbekeni
NF Dikgale
JMS Sekhasimbe
S Adam

Position

NC Dube (Acting MD: CFG and Docex) (Appointed 1 June 2012).

–

259

30
30
–
30
30
–
20
23
30
30
15
15
13
3
8
–

Expense

MJ Mathibe; (MD CFG and Docex) (Appointed Group acting CEO 1 June 2012).

Director of companies controlled by the SA Post Office.

–

–

2011

MD: Courier and Freight Group

Fees

2012

2012
M Mathibe

Position

Key management personnel compensation

–

392

41
44
44
44
44
44
–
58
37
41
39
53
–
–
–
–

Bonus

–

183

23
23
–
9
23
23
16
6
23
23
4
–
4
1
6
6

Other
compensation

36

36

36

Expense
allowance

1,046

126
126
–
118
112
113
106
81
104
89
–
–
42
–
29
–

Pension

–

44

44

Bonus

–

97

–
–
–
–
–
–
25
–
–
–
–
–
72
–
–
–

Leave/
Notice
pay

18

23

23

Other
benefits

–

13,975

1,601
1,603
44
1,500
1,441
1,457
1,274
1,001
1,305
1,157
710
630
576
106
350
1,244

Total
2012

–

125

125

Pension

12,476

–

1,427
1,423
–
1,326
1,271
1,287
–
–
1,157
1,011
–
–
1,125
1,126
1,323
–

Total
2011

1,855

1,855

Total
2012

	The above emoluments were paid to executives reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer and other key management personnel during the period.
1
– Temporary Exco Member 1 October 2011
2
– Retired 4 September 2011
3
– Appointed 1 March 2012
4
– Appointed 1 July 2011 and retired 29 February 2012
5
– Retired 30 June 2011
6
– Appointed acting GE: SCM 1 July 2011
7
– Appointed 1 July 2011

39.7

39.6

39. Related parties (continued)

7

4

3

2

1

1

5

3

Notes

1,697

1,697

Total
2011
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40. New International Financial Reporting Standards Accounting pronouncements
New Accounting Standards effective after 1 January2012
IFRS 1: First-time adoption on fixed dates and hyperinflation.
	These amendments include two changes to IFRS 1, “First-time adoption of IFRS”. The first replaces references to a fixed date of
1 January 2004 with “the date of transition to IFRSs”, thus eliminating the need for entities adopting IFRSs for the first time to restate
derecognition transactions that occurred before the date of transition to IFRSs.
	The second amendment provides guidance on how an entity should resume presenting financial statements in accordance with IFRSs
after a period when the entity was unable to comply with IFRSs because its functional currency was subject to severe hyperinflation.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
	IAS 1: Financial statement presentation: other comprehensive income
	The main change resulting from these amendments is a requirement for entities to group items presented in Other comprehensive
income (OCI) on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments).
The amendments do not address which items are presented in OCI.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.
	IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures on derecognition
	The amendments to IFRS 7 increase the disclosure requirements for transactions involving transfers of financial assets. These amendments
are intended to provide greater transparency around risk exposures of transactions where a financial asset is transferred but the transferor
retains some level of continuing exposure in the asset. The amendments also require disclosures where transfers of financial assets are
not evenly distributed throughout the period.
	These amendments arise from the IASB’s review of off-balance sheet activities. The amendments will promote transparency in the
reporting of transfer transactions and improve users’ understanding of the risk exposures relating to transfers of financial assets and the
effect of those risks on an entity’s financial position, particularly those involving securitisation of financial assets.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
	IFRS 9: Financial instruments classification and measurement
	IFRS 9 (as originally issued in 2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets.
	Under IFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are currently within the scope of IAS 39 will be subsequently measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. A debt instrument that (i) is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows and (ii) has contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost.
	All other debt instruments must be measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). A fair value option is available (provided that
certain specified conditions are met) as an alternative to amortised cost measurement. All equity investments within the scope of IFRS 9
are to be measured in the statement of financial position at fair value, with the gains and losses recognised in profit or loss. Only if an
equity investment is not held for trading, an irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition to measure the investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.
	In 2010, a revised version of IFRS 9 was issued. The revised version of IFRS 9 mainly adds the requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial liabilities and derecognition requirements. One major change from IAS 39 relates to the presentation of changes
in the fair value of a financial liability (designated as at fair value through profit or loss) attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability. Specifically, under IFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the
presentation of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in the fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit
or loss. Previously, under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair value through
profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
	IFRS 10: Consolidated financial statements
	This standard builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity should be
included within the consolidated financial statements. The standard provides additional guidance to assist in determining control where
this is difficult to assess. This new standard might impact the entities that a group consolidates as its subsidiaries.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
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40. New International Financial Reporting Standards Accounting pronouncements (continued)
	IFRS 11: Joint arrangements
	This standard provides for a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements by focusing on the rights and obligations of the arrangement
rather than its legal form. There are two types of joint arrangement: joint operations and joint ventures. Joint operations arise where a
joint operator has rights to the assets and obligations relating to the arrangement and hence accounts for its interest in assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses. Joint ventures arise where the joint operator has rights to the net assets of the arrangement and hence equity
accounts for its interest. Proportional consolidation of joint ventures is no longer allowed.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
	IFRS 12: Disclosures of interests in other entities
	IFRS 12 establishes disclosure objectives and specifies minimum disclosures that entities must provide to meet those objectives.
The objective of IFRS 12 is that entities should disclose information that helps users of financial statements evaluate the nature of, and
risks associated with, its interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on their financial statements. This standard includes
the disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including joint arrangements, associates, structured entities and
other off-balance sheet vehicles.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
	IAS 12: Income taxes: deferred tax
	“Income taxes” currently requires an entity to measure the deferred tax relating to an asset depending on whether the entity expects to
recover the carrying amount of the asset through use or sale. It can be difficult and subjective to assess whether recovery will be through
use or through sale when the asset is measured using the fair value model in IAS 40, “Investment property”.
	This amendment therefore introduces an exception to the existing principle for the measurement of deferred tax assets or liabilities arising
on investment property measured at fair value. As a result of the amendments, SIC 21, “Income taxes recovery of revalued no depreciable
assets”, will no longer apply to investment properties carried at fair value. The amendments also incorporate into IAS 12 the remaining
guidance previously contained in SIC 21, which is withdrawn.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
	IFRS 13: Fair value measurement
	IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements. IFRS 13
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. The scope of
IFRS 13 is broad; it applies to both financial instrument items and non-financial instrument items for which other IFRSs require or permit
fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value measurements, except in specified circumstances.
	In general, the disclosure requirements in IFRS 13 are more extensive than those required by the current standards. For example,
quantitative and qualitative disclosures based on the three-level fair value hierarchy currently required for financial instruments only under
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures will be extended by IFRS 13 to cover all assets and liabilities within its scope.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
	IAS 19: Employee benefits
	These amendments eliminate the corridor approach and calculate finance costs on a net funding basis.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.
	IAS 27: (revised 2011) Separate financial statements
	This standard includes the provisions on separate financial statements that are left after the control provisions of IAS 27 have been
included in the new IFRS 10.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
	IAS 28: (revised 2011) Associates and joint ventures
	This standard includes the requirements for joint ventures, as well as associates, to be equity accounted following the issue of IFRS 11.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
	IFRICs
	IFRIC 20: Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine
	This interpretation sets out the accounting for overburden waste removal (stripping) costs in the production phase of a mine.
The interpretation may require mining entities reporting under IFRS to write off existing stripping assets to opening retained earnings if the
assets cannot be attributed to an identifiable component of an ore body.
	Effective date: Annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
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41. Schedule 1 – Unlisted company investments at 31 March 2012
	The following unlisted investments incorporated in South Africa are included in investments (refer to note 8):
Issued
capital
Figures in Rand thousand
Subsidiariy Companies
Directly held
The Document Exchange (Pty) Ltd Letter and parcel delivery
Pensecure (Pty) Ltd
Pension payments
Sapos Properties (PE) (Pty) Ltd
Property letting

–
–
–

Effective holding
2012
2011

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

Investment
Impairment of investment
Loan
Impairment of loan
Sapos Properties (Rossburgh)
(Pty) Ltd

Property letting

–

100%

100%

Investment
Impairment of investment
Loan
Impairment of loan
Sapos Properties (Erf 145018
Cape Town) (Pty) Ltd

Property letting

–

100%

100%

Investment
Impairment of investment
Loan
Impairment of loan
Sapos Properties (East Rand)
(Pty) Ltd

Property letting

–

100%

100%

Investment
Impairment of investment
Loan
Sapos Properties (Bloemfontein)
(Pty) Ltd

Property letting

–

100%

100%

Pensecure
Investment
Impairment of investment

–
–
1,360

–
–
2,635

1,670
(310)
1,152
(1,152)

1,670
(75)
1,040
–

2,398

4,910

3,800
(1,402)
2,732
(2,732)

3,800
(1,430)
2,540
–

2,742

3,899

4,085
(1,343)
1,138
(1,138)

4,085
(1,302)
1,116
–

14,046

13,996

11,195
–
2,851

11,195
–
2,801

–

235

750
(750)
258
(258)

Investment
Impairment of investment
Loan
Impairment of loan
Sapos Properties (Pty) Ltd
Truebill (Pty) Ltd
The Courier and Freight Group
(Pty) Ltd

Investment
2012
2011

750
(750)
235
–

Dormant
Dormant

–
–

100%
100%

100%
100%

–
–

–
–

Parcel Delivery

–

100%

100%

–

–

1,053
(1,053)

1,053
(1,053)

20,546

25,675

South African Post Office SOC Ltd (Registration number 1991/005477/06)
Integrated Annual Report 2012

South African Post Office SOC Ltd (Registration number 1991/005477/06)
Integrated Annual Report 2012

Notes to the Group financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2012 (continued)

41. Schedule 1 – Unlisted company investments at 31 March 2012 (continued)
Issued
capital
Figures in Rand thousand
Indirectly held
ACE Express Group (Pty) Ltd
ACE Express Group (Pty) Ltd
Fancon (Pty) Ltd
XPS Trucking (Pty) Ltd
SA Bunker Services (Pty) Ltd
The Courier and Freight Botswana
(Pty) Ltd
The Courier and Freight Namibia
(Pty) Ltd
The Courier and Freight Swaziland
(Pty) Ltd
CFG Zimbabwe (Private) Ltd
Centriq Insurance Company Ltd

Effective holding
2012
2011

Investment
2012
2011

Express Freight
International Freight
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant

–
–
–
–
–

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

International freight

–

100%

100%

–

–

International freight

–

100%

100%

–

–

International freight
International freight

–
–
–

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
20,050

–
–
20,050

–
–

20,050

20,050

–

–

Loan accounts – at cost less impairment
The Courier and Freight Group (Pty) Ltd

–

100%

100%

219,322
(219,322)

Loan
Impairment of loan
The Document Exchange (Pty) Ltd

–

100%

100%

Impairment of loan
Pensecure (Pty) Ltd

–

100%

100%

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,356
(1,356)

Loan
Impairment of loan

219,322
(219,322)

1,356
(1,356)

–

–

Total investment and indebtedness

40,596

45,725

Directors valuation of unlisted investments

40,596

42,603

Figures in Rand thousand

Group
2012

2011

Company
2012

2011

42. Available-for-sale financial assets adjustment
Components of other comprehensive income
Revaluation loss on Uthingo shares
Revaluation gain on current investments
Revaluation gain on bonds
Reversal of revaluation gain on current investments
Reversal of revaluation gain on bonds
Unrealised gains on revaluation of PRMA
Reclassification of fair value gains from AFS to FVTPL
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–
11
–
(772)
(91)
–
–

–
1,093
91
(3,414)
(343)
–
–

–
11
–
(772)
(91)
–
–

–
1,093
91
(3,414)
(343)
–
–

(852)

(2,573)

(852)

(2,573)
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43. Group – three period review for the years ended 31 March 2012
Income statement (R’000)
Profit before taxation
Finance income
Finance cost
Statement of financial position (R’000)
Capital and reserves
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Funds supplied
Non-current assets
Current assets
Funds required
Cash flow (R’000)
Net cash from operating activities
Net cash (to)/from investing activities
Net cash from financing activities
Solvency and liquidity
Debt-equity ratio
Current ratio
Acid test ratio

2012

2011

2010

250,978
166,407
(32,399)

189,333
193,045
(32,686)

378,700
219,503
(30,144)

2,712,197
1,276,614
6,386,756

2,554,342
1,284,868
6,257,933

2,409,177
1,167,986
5,992,345

10,375,567

10,097,143

9,569,508

2,117,289
8,258,278

2,113,405
7,983,738

2,108,905
7,460,604

10,375,567

10,097,143

9,569,509

229,623
(1,839,666)
(142,856)

157,074
750,107
(11,582)

295,912
(854,859)
128,267

2:79:1
1:30:1
1:29:1

3.14:1
1.27:1
1.27:1

3.17:1
1.25:1
1.24:1

44. Prior-year adjustment
During the prior periods, the annual reassessments of useful lives as required by IAS16 – Property, plant and equipment, IAS40 –
Investment property and IAS38 – Intangible assets was not performed properly. The useful life assessment was performed for the abovementioned categories. This error has resulted in the restatement. The effects are as follows:
Revenue on sale of E-vouchers was incorrectly recognised on a gross basis instead of nett basis.

Statement of financial position – Group 2010
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Deferred tax
Retained income

Statement of comprehensive income – Group 2010
Other expenses – depreciation and amortisation
Taxation
Profit for the year

Balance as
previously
stated
2010

Prior-year
adjustment
2010

Restated
amount
2010

1,071,033
19,482
62,213
250,441
(1,301,579)

185,063
19
28,988
(33,437)
(180,633)

1,256,096
19,501
91,201
217,004
(1,482,211)

101,590

–

101,591

1,284,496
82,107
296,593

21,255
(6,199)
(15,056)

1,305,751
75,908
281,537

1,663,196

–

1,663,196
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44. Prior-year adjustment (continued)

Statement of financial position – Group 2011
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Deferred tax
Retained income

Statement of comprehensive income – Group 2011
Other expenses – depreciation and amortisation
Taxation
Profit for the year
Revenue
Consumables and inventory utilised (cost of sale)

Statement of financial position – Company 2010
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Deferred tax
Retained income

Statement of comprehensive income – Company 2010
Other expenses – depreciation and amortisation
Taxation
Profit for the year

Statement of financial position – Company 2011
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Deferred tax
Retained income
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Balance as
previously
stated
2011

Accumulative
restatement
impact
2011

Restated
amount
2011

1,111,339
18,576
63,008
307,457
(1,456,901)

148,075
20
19,909
(22,364)
(145,640)

1,259,414
18,596
82,917
285,093
(1,602,540)

43,479

–

43,480

Balance as
previously
stated
2011

Prior-year
adjustment
2011

Restated
amount
2011

1,286,737
80,077
155,322
(5,410,228)
234,138

46,066
(11,073)
(34,993)
111,083
(111,083)

1,332,803
69,004
120,329
(5,299,145)
123,055

(3,653,954)

–

(3,653,954)

Balance as
previously
stated
2010

Prior-year
adjustment
2010

Restated
amount
2010

1,036,401
19,482
61,111
244,918
(1,258,737)

180,285
19
28,988
(33,438)
(175,854)

1,216,686
19,501
90,099
211,480
(1,434,591)

103,175

–

103,175

1,186,529
75,930
278,047

20,030
(6,199)
(13,831)

1,206,559
69,731
264,216

1,540,506

–

1,540,506

Balance as
previously
stated
2011

Accumulated
restatement
impact
2011

Restated
amount
2011

1,082,447
18,576
61,151
304,644
(1,418,972)

144,551
20
19,909
(22,364)
(142,116)

1,226,998
18,596
81,060
282,280
(1,561,089)

47,846

–

47,845
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44. Prior-year adjustment (continued)

Statement of comprehensive income – Company 2011
Other expenses – depreciation and amortisation
Taxation
Profit for the year
Revenue
Consumables and inventory utilised (cost of sales)

Balance as
previously
stated
2011

Prior-year
adjustment
2011

Restated
amount
2011

1,183,860
75,070
160,235
(5,045,423)
234,138

44,810
(11,073)
(33,737)
111,083
(111,083)

1,228,670
63,997
126,498
(4,934,340)
123,055

(3,392,120)

–

(3,392,120)
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Glossary

Abbreviation
ABC
ACL
AFS
ALCO
ALM
AML
APM
ASGISA
ATM
BBBEE
BCM
BU
Capex
CEO
CFG
CFO
CFST
CIO
COD
CPIX
CRM
CSI
CSS
CWU
DLA
DOA
Docex
DR
DRC
DRP
DTI
ECT
EE
ERM
ERP
ESS
EXCO
FPL
FPP
FSB
FVTPL
GAAP
GE
GIS
GM
GRV
HIV
HR
IASB
IBC
ICASA
ICSS
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Explanation
Activity based costing
Access control lists
Available for sale
Asset and liability committee
Asset and liability management
Anti-money laundering
Automated postal machine
Accelerated shared growth initiative for South Africa
Automatic teller machine
Broad-based black economic empowerment
Business continuity management
Business Unit
Capital investment
Chief Executive Officer
Courier Freight Group
Chief Financial Officer
Cross functional sourcing team
Chief Information Officer
Cash on delivery
Consumer price index
Customer Relationship Management
Corporate social investment
Customer Satisfaction Survey
Communications Workers Union
Department of Land Affairs
Delegation of authority
Document Exchange
Disaster recovery
Democratic Republic of Congo
Disaster recovery plan
Department of Trade and Industry
Electronic Communications Act
Employee equity
Enterprise Resource Management
Enterprise Resource Plan
Employee Satisfaction Survey
Executive Committee
Full party logistics
Fraud prevention plan
Financial Service Board
Fair value through profit or loss
Generally accepted accounting practices
Group executive
Geographical Information System
General Manager
Goods received from vendors
Human Immunodeficiency Virus
Human resources
International Accounting Standards Board
Internet business counters
The Independent Communications Authority of
South Africa
Internal customer satisfaction survey

Abbreviation
ICT
IFRS
IP
ISO
ISQM
ISQM
IT
IVR
JIBAR
JIMC
KZN
MDG
MIS
NAV
NCD
OHS/OHSA
PE
PFMA
PIT
PMP
POS
PR
PRMA
RFP
RFQ
ROA
RPA
RTA
RUBI
SAAS
SAP
SAPO
SAPS
SARS
SASSA
SCM
SLA
SMME
SOE
SSC
TBL
TCTC
TDS
TVBC
UPS
UPU
USO
VCT
VMS
VOIP
WASP
WRE

Explanation
Information and communications technologies
International Financial Reporting Standards
Internet protocol
International Standard Organisation
Independent Service Quality Measurement
Independent Standard Quality Monitor
Information technology
Voice recognition
Johannesburg Inter Bank Acceptance Rate
Johannesburg International mail centre
KwaZulu-Natal
Millennium Development Goals
Management Information System
Net asset value
Negotiable Certificate of Deposits
Occupational Health and Safety Act
Port Elizabeth
Public Finance Management Act
Public Information Terminal
Project management portfolio
Point of sale
Public relations
Post-retirement medical assets
Request for proposal
Request for quotation
Return on assets
Retail Postal Agencies
Road Transport Act
Risk universe business intelligence
South African Auditing Standards
My SAP ERP financial system (System, applications
and processes)
SA Post Office
South African Police Services
South African Revenue Services
Social Security Agency
Supply chain management
Service level agreement
Small, medium and micro enterprises
State owned enterprise
Speed Service Couriers
Triple bottom line
Total cost to company
Telkom Directory Service
Transkei, Venda, Bophuthatswana and Ciskei
Universal Power Supply
Universal Postal Union
Universal service obligation
Voluntary counselling and testing
Voucher management system
Voice over IP
Wireless application service provider
Web riposte system
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